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Poniard Pharmaceuticals, Inc. is a bic!)pharmaceutical company focused
on the discovery, development and commercialization of innovative
oncology products to impact the lives of people with cancer.
Picoplatin, the Company's lead product candidate. is a new generation
platinum-based cancer therapy. It 1s dgsigned to overcome platinum resistance

associated with chemotherapy in the triratment of solid tumors, prolong time

to relapse and nave an improved safety profile compared with existing platinum-

Laseq cancer herapies. Picoplatin is t)rbmg evaluated in clinical trials for the
treatrent of simall cell lung. colorectal $nd hormone refractory prostate cancers.

Poniard is commitied to the discovery and development of diverse oncology

products through in-house research, research collaboration, in-licensing
and acquisition.
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May 1, 2007
Dear Shareholders,

We believe that 2006 was a pivotal year in advancing our goa! of building a biopharmaceutical
company focused on the discovery, development and commercialization of innovative oncology
products to impact the lives of people with cancer.

Expanded Picoplatin Clinical Development Program to Multiple Indications

During 2006, we continued to focus our efforts on expanding and accelerating the clinical
development of picoplatin, our lead product candidate. Picoplatin is a new generation platinum-
based cancer therapy designed to overcome platinum resistance in the treatment of solid
tumors, to prolong time to relapse and to have an improved safety profile relative to existing
platinum-based cancer therapies. We believe that picoplatin represents an important product
development opportunity based on preclinical and clinical data to date, the widespread use of
approved platinum-based drugs currently on the market, and the relatively well-defined clinical
endpoints and regulatory approval pathway for this class of drug. We believe that picoplatin has
the potential to replace currently marketed platinum-based treatment in existing regimes, such
as those used for first-line treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer, and to be utilized in new
treatment settings, such as second-line treatment of small cell lung cancer and first-line
hormone refractory prostate cancer.

Announced Interim Phase 2 Resuits in Small Cell Lung Cancer (SCLC)

In November 2006, we announced positive interim median overall survival data from our Phase
2 open-label, multi-center clinical trial of picoplatin in SCLC. The trial was designed to confirm
the clinical activity of picoplatin as second-line therapy in patients with platinum-refractory
disease or disease that had progressed within six months following first-line treatment with a
platinum-based chemotherapy, such as cisplatin or carboplatin. The interim analysis showed a
median overall survival of 26.7 weeks in the 72 evaluable patients treated with picoplatin,
compared to median survival of approximately 16 to 20 weeks for patients who receive second-
line chemotherapy, as reported in the 2006 National Comprehensive Care Network practice
guidelines. :

Initiated Pivotal Phase 3 Trial in SCLC Under SPA Agreement

Based on encouraging overall survival data from our Phase 2 trial, we initiated our single pivotal
Phase 3 SPEAR (Study of Picoplatin Efficacy After Relapse) trial of picoplatin for the second-
line treatment of SCLC. In April 2007, we treated the first patient in this Phase 3 international,
multi-center, open label, controlled study. Our Phase 3 trial is designed to compare the efficacy
and safety of picoplatin plus supportive care to best supportive care alone. The trial is expected
to enroll approximately 400 patients with SCLC whose disease is refractory, resistant or
sensitive (progressing within 180 days) after completion of first-line platinum-containing
chemotherapy. The patients will be randomized on a 2:1 ratio to receive picoplatin plus best
supportive care or best supportive care alone. The primary endpoint of the study is improved
overall survival. Secondary endpoints include overall response rates, disease control and
progression-free survival. We are conducting the SPEAR trial under a Special Protocol
Assessment (SPA) agreement with the U.S. Food and Drug Administration.

Other recent milestones in our picoplatin clinical development program include:
« Treatment in April 2007 of the first patient in our Phase 1 clinical study of oral picoplatin
e Formation in December 2006 of a Clinical Advisory Board, currently comprised of four
internationally recognized experts in lung, colorectal, breast and prostate cancers, to -

help guide our clinical development strategy for picoplatin

¢ Initiation in May 2006 of our ongoing Phase 1 studies of picoplatin in the first-line
treatment metastatic colorectal cancer and hormone refractory prostate cancer




Broadened Scope and Improved Financial Terms of Our Picoplatin License

During 2006, we expanded our picoplatin license agreement with Genzyme Corporation
(successor to AnorMED, Inc,) to provide us with exclusive worldwide rights and improved
financial terms, including eliminating all development milestone payments to Genzyme and
reducing the royalties payable to Genzyme on potential sales of picoplatin.

Strengthened Qur Pipeline, Management and Board of Directors

As part of our strategic goal of building a diverse oncology pipeline, we expanded our existing
research agreement with The Scripps Research Institute, to include the discovery of focal
adhesion kinase (FAK) inhibitors to treat cancer. We also plan to build and utilize our internal
research capabilities to identify small molecule oncology drugs that may be used in combination
with picoplatin.

During 2006, we strengthened our management team with the additions of Caroline M. Loewy
as chief financial officer and Cheni Kwok, Ph.D., as vice president of business development.
We were also pleased to welcome Ronald A. Martell, the former senior vice president of
commercial operations at ImClone Systems Incorporated, and Nicholas J. Simon lll, a
representative of MPM Capital, to our board of directors during 2006.

Improved Our Financials

In 2006, we completed a $65 million private placement of common stock and warrants in a
financing led by MPM Capital that included Bay City Capital, Deerfield Management Company,
Abingworth and funds managed by T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc. This funding has enabled us
to continue our business operations and provided funding to support and expand the clinical
development of picoplatin. We also.secured in 2006 a $15 million term loan from SVB Silicon
Valley Bank and Merrill Lynch Capital to fund amounts payable in connection with the
broadening of our picoplatin license agreement and to provide additional working capital. In
September 2006, we implemented a one-for-six reverse split of our common stock and
relocated of our corporate headquarters to South San Francisco.

On April 30, 2007, we completed a public offering of 11,848,341 shares of our common stock at
a public offering price of $6.33 per share, yielding net proceeds of approximately $70 million.
This financing provides us with significant resources to continue the clinical and preclinical
development of picoplatin, including funding our ongoing clinical trials in SCLC, metastatic
colorectal cancer and hormone refractory prostate cancer, for discovery research for new
product candidates and for general corporate purposes, including working capital.

We are pleased with the progress we made in 2006 and in the early months of 2007. During
2007, we plan to complete our ongoing Phase 2 trial of picoplatin in SCLC, initiate enroliment.of
our Phase 2 trials in colorectal and prostate cancers, and complete our Phase- 1 trial of oral
picoplatin. We expect to present the full data set from our SCLC Phase 2 trial and interim safety
data from our colorectal and prostate cancer trials at the American Society of Clinical Oncology
Annual Meeting in June 2007, We also plan to pursue the continued expansion of our oncology
product pipeline.

We appreciate your sopport and look forward to updating you on our progress.

Sincerely,

&

Jerry McMahon, Ph.D.
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
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PART [
IMPORTANT INFORMATION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS -

This Form 10-K contains forward-looking statemenis within the meaning of the Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
and in reliance upon the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.
Forward-looking statements are those that predict or describe future events or trends and that do not
relate solely to historical matters. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by
terminology such’as “may,” “will,” “could,” “should,” “expect,” “plan,” “intend,” “anticipate,” “belicve,”
“estimate,” “predict,” “potential,” “propose,” “continue,” “assume” or other similar expressions, or the
negatives of those expressions. These statements reflect our current views with respect to future events and
are based on assumptions and are subject to risks and uncertainties that are difficult to predict. We have
identified some of the factors that could cause future events to differ from our current expectations under
the headings “Risk Factors” in Item 1A below and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations™ in Item 7 below, Given these risks and uncertainties, you should not
place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this report.

b3 T bE AN

You should rcad this Form 10-K and the documents that we incorporate by reference completely and
with the understanding that our actual results, performance and achievements may be materially different
from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by our forward-looking
statements. We undertake no obligation to update publicly any forward-looking statements to reflect new
information, events or circumstances after the date of this report, or to reflect the occurrence of
unanticipaled events.

Unless otherwise indicated, all common stock-related amounts in this report have been adjusted to
reflect our one-for-six reverse stock split effective September 22, 2006.

Item 1. BUSINESS
The Company

Poniard is a biotechnology company focused on the discovery, development and commercialization of
cancer therapy products. Qur lead product candidate is picoplatin, a next generation platinum-based
cancer therapy with an improved safety profile. An intravenous chemotherapeutic agent, picoplatin is
designed to overcome platinum resistance in the treatment of solid tumors. [n August 2006, we completed
patient cnrollment in a Phasc 11 clinical study of picoplatin in small cell lung cancer. Based on positive
interim median overall survival data from that ongoing Phase 11 study, we plan to initiate a pivotal Phase
111 SPEAR (Study of Picoplatin Efficacy After Relapse) trial of picoplatin in small celi lung cancer in the
first half of 2007. We also are conducting separate Phase I/11 studies of picoplatin in patients with
metastatic colorectal cancer and hormone-refractory prostate cancer. Both of these Phase 1/11 trials are
continuing to enroll patients. Additionally, we plan to initiate a Phase I study of an oral formulation of

" picoplatin during 2007. '

Until May 2003, our lead research and development program had been skeletal targeted radiotherapy,
or STR, a bone-targeting radiotherapeutic. In May 2005, we announced the immediate implementation of
a strategic restructuring program to refocus our limited resources on the development of picoplatin. The
restructuring plan, which was completed in June 2005, inctuded the discontinuation of our STR
development program, including halting patient enrollment in our Phase II1 trial of STR in multiple
myeloma, ceasing operations at our Denton, Texas facility, where STR was manufactured, and reducing
our workforce by approximately 50%. We recorded restructuring charges against operations totaling $1.7
million during the year ended December 31, 2005. We evaluated our STR assets in light of the
restructuring and determined that a likely impairment existed on those asscts. We recognized an




impairment loss of $3.3 million in June 2005 and an additional impairment loss of $0.4 million in
December 2006. Future adjustments to the charge may be taken as assets involved are sold or otherwise
disposed of. We are actively secking a buyer for the Denton facility and our STR related assets. .

We have financed our operations primarily through the sale of equity securities, technology licensing,
collaborative agreements and debt instruments. We completed a $65.0 million equity financing in
April 2006. As a result of that financing, entities affiliated with MPM Capital Management, or MPM,
acquired beneficial ownership of an aggregate of 31.5% of our commeon stock outstanding immediately
following the financing. Entities affiliated with Bay City Capital Management IV LLC, or BCC, acquired
beneficial ownership of 19.5% of our common stock immediately outstanding following the financing,
Nicholas J. Simon, a representative of MPM, and Fred B. Craves and Carl 8. Goldfischer, managing
directors of BCC, serve on our board of directors. We invest excess cash in investment securities that will
be used to fund future operating costs. Cash used to fund operating activities for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2006 totaled $17.3 million. Revenues and other income sources for 2006 were not sufficient
to cover operating expenses. Cash, cash equivalents and investment securities, net of restricted cash of $0.1
million, totaled $53.7 million at December 31, 2006. We believe that our current cash, cash equivalent and
investment securities balances will provide adequate resources to fund operations at least until the end of
the first quarter of 2008.

Since our inception in 1984, we have dedicated substantially all of our resources to research and
development. We have not generated any significant revenue from product sales to date and have operated
at a loss in each vear of our existence. We had a net loss of $23.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2006, a net loss of $21.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, and a net loss of $19.4 million for
the year ended December 31, 2004. We do not anticipate that our picoplatin product candidate, or any
other proposed products, will be commercially available for severali years, if at all. We expect 1o incur
additional operating losses in the future as we expand our clinical trials, increase our research and .
development activities and seek to commercialize picoplatin or other proposed products. Clinical studics
are inherently uncertain, and our ongoing and planned trials of picoplatin or any future product candidates
may not confirm the results achieved in earlier clinical and preclinical studies. If picoplatin or any futurc
proposed products are not shown to be safe and effective, we will not receive the required regulatory
approvals for commercial sale of such products. To the extent that we are successful in obtaining approvals
for the commercial sale of picoplatin or any other product, we will necd to secure one or more corporate
partners for the manufacture, marketing and/or sale of such product. We may not be able to enter into
such partnering arrangements in a timely manner or on terms acceptable to us.

Our Picoplatin Development Program
Overview of Cancer and its Treatment

Cancer is a disease characterized by the uncontrolled growth and spread of abnormal cells. Cancer
cells often originate from one tissue site and invade, spread and damage other tissue beds and organs,
leading to death. The National Cancer Institutes estimates that approximately 10.5 million Americans with
a history of cancer in the United States were alive in January 2003 (American Cancer Society: Cancer
Facts & Figures 2007).

In recent years, the diagnosis and treatment of human cancers have greatly improved, However, there
is still a substantial need to improve the early diagnosis of cancer, the staging of cancer and the treatment
of cancer and its metastatic spread. It is anticipated that the use of chemotherapeutics and targeted anti-
cancer agents will be used both as single-agents and in combination to provide benefit to cancer patients.
Often paticnts are treated with multiple agents in combination and with different sequence depending on
the particular cancer type and severity of disease. The oncologlst will often assess clinical benefit for a
particular therapeutic combination by determining the impact of treatment on tumor size or spread




compared to tolerability features. In this regard, chemotherapeutics have continued to have significant
impact on cancer treatment, especially when combined with agents that show different anti-cancer
properties and different tolerability features. We believe that new treatment combinations that incorporate
recently approved targeted agents with chemotherapeutics exhibiting improved safety features will be
supported by physicians and their patients.

There is considerable need for new cancer treatments, as well as treatments that provide an-
improvement to existing therapics. In recent years, many new classes of agents that provide modest
increases in patient survival have been approved for use. We anticipate that the use of multiple agents,
either in combination or in sequence, will continue to provide benefit to cancer-paticnts who have been
diagnosed with discase. In addition, we believe that individualized therapies will become more prominent
as tumor diagnosis and agents with different mechanisms of anti-cancer effect are approved and become
available to the practicing oncologist. We also expect that early diagnosis and cancer prevention will
provide for interventions that will allow paticnts to live longer and have a better quality of life. Current
treatments for cancer include surgery, external-beam radiation and chemotherapy, including targeted
pharmaceuticals, hormone therapy, cytokines, interferons, antibodies, and antibody-based
radiotherapeutics. There has been substantial recent success in the combined use of both traditional
chemotherapeutics, which generally destroy cells, and targeted agents, which are generally combined with
more conventional chemotherapeutics for maximum effect. Occasionally, chemotherapeutics or targeted
agents are used as stand-alone agents in the treatment of human cancers.

Picoplatin and Platinum-Based Chemotherapeutics

In April 2004, we acquired the rights to develop, manufacture and commercialize picoplatin, a next- |
generation platinum-based cancer therapeutic. In'September 2006, we renegotiated the financial terms of
our April 2004 license agreement and obtained-exclusive worldwide rights to picopiatin. Over the past two
decades, platinum-based drugs have become-a critical part of modern chemotherapy treatment. Platinum-
based ‘agents such as cisplatin, carboplatin and oxaliplatin arc currently used to treat a variety of tumors,
including testicular, ovarian, colorectal and lung cancers. In this regard, platinum-based
chemotherapeutics are administered primarily in combination with other agents, including with recently
approved targeted cancer agents. The mechanism that underlies the use of platinum-based agents relics
upon the targeting of tumor DNA where the platinum compound binds. Cells that undergo active cell
division are prevented from completing the ceil cycle by the presence of the platinum drug that is
chemically bound to the DNA. The inability to proceed through normal cell division ultimately causes cell
death. [n some cases, treatment of cancer patients with platinum compounds leads to reduction in tumor
mass due to a higher rate of tumor cell death compared with tumor cell replication.

Current platinum-based chemotherapeutics have specific limitations, including chemo-resistance and
safety side effects. All platinum-based agents exhibit toxicity to the blood forming cells in the bone marrow
(myelosuppression) as a dose-limiting side effect. The degree and characteristics of myelosuppression vary
by platinum compound, dose and regimen. In addition, some current platinum agents show different
degrees of additional safety side effects that include kidney toxicity, hearing loss, nausea, vomiting and
peripheral nerve damage. As in the case of myelosuppression, these side cffects vary with dose, agent,
combination therapy and regimen.

_ For most cancers that are treated with platinum-containing regimes, paticnts who initially respond to
platinum- contammg chemotherapy but subsequently progress six monthis or more after chemotherapy are
described as having “platinum-sensitive” disease. Patients with who initially respond to platinum-
containing chemotherapy and then relapse and progress within six months after completing chemotherapy
are said to have ¢ ‘platinum-resistant” disease. Patients with who fail to have a response or whose diseasc
progresses during platinum-containing chemothprapy are said to have “platinum-refractory” cancer. As
described below, in the case of small cell fung cancer, the distinction between platinum-sensitive and




platinum-resistant discase is gencrally drawn based on whether progression occurs before or after 90 days
of completing first-line platinum-containing chemotherapy. We believe that patients would benefit from a
platinum-based agent that can be used initially to prevent or delay the development of the platinum-
refractory or -resistant discase and that is cffective in the treatment of discase that becomes refractory or
resistant to currently used platinum-based therapies. '

New platinum-based chemotherapcutics that overcome both chemo-resistance and safety limitations
are needed. In this regard, picoplatin has shown efficacy in preclincial and clinical studies of platinum-
sensitive, -resistant and -refractory disease. Clinical evidence of activity has been observed for picoplatin in
lung, ovarian and prostate cancers. In addition, cvaluation of several hundred cancer paticnts has
suggested that picoplatin treatment may result in less scvere and less frequent side effects than observed
with some currently marketed platinum-based agents.

Our Picoplatin Clinical Studies

We currently are evaluating picoplatin in an ongoing Phase II clinical trial in small cell lung cancer
and in separate Phase I/11 clinical trials in advanced colorectal and hormone-refractory prostate cancers.
We plan to initiate a pivotal Phase IIT SPEAR (Study of Picoplatin Efficacy After Relapse) trial of
picoplatin for the treatment of small cell lung cancer in the first half of 2007. In addition, we plan to
initiate a Phase I clinical trial of an oral formulation of picoplatin during 2007. These programs arc
described below and in the scction of this report entitled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Major Rescarch and Development Programs.” It is
important to keep in mind that clinical studies arc inherently uncertain, and later trials may not confirm
the results achieved in carlier clinical and preclinical studies and may not be supported by the results
obtaincd in subscquent trials. You should refer to the section of this report entitled “Risk Factors” for a
discussion of some of the factors that could materially affect our picoplatin clinical development program,

Small Cell Lung Cancer

Phase IT and Planned Phase I Clinical Trials.  In October 2004, we filed an investigational new drug,
application, or IND, with the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, to conduct a Phase Il clinical
trial of intravenous picoplatin versus intravenous topotecan in patients with small cell lung cancer.
Intravenous topotecan is an anti-tumor drug currently approved by the FDA as a treatment for patients
who initially responded to a platinum-containing chemotherapy regime but subscquently progressed at
least 60 or 90 days after completion of therapy (platinum-sensitive disease). Our Phase 11 trial was initiated
in June 2005 in the United States and Canada, and the first patient was treated in July 2005. The objective
for patient enrollment was approximately 75 patients with platinum-resistant or -refractory small cell lung
cancer, defined as subjects who either (1) initially responded to first-line platinum-containing
chemotherapy and then relapsed or progressed within 90 days after completion of first-line chemotherapy
(resistant discase); or (2) failed to respond to or progressed during first-line platinum-containing
chemotherapy (refractory discase). The clinical endpoints of the study include safety, objective tumor
response rate (tumor shrinkage), time to tumor progression and overall survival.

We amended our Phasc 11 clinical trial protocol in January 2006 from a two-arm study of picoplatin
versus topotecan 1o a single-arm study of picoplatin. We discontinued the topotecan arm of the study
because patients and investigators often were unwilling to accept this study arm. The rationale for the
amendment was that the dose and schedule of topotecan approved by the FDA for use in patients with
platinum-sensitive small cell lung cancer have minimal, if any, cfficacy in patients with platinum-resistant
or -refractory smail cell lung cancer and unacceptable toxicity, thus presenting a situation in which an
ineffective but toxic treatment regimen was to be used as one arm of the randomized Phase 11 trial. We
also amended the protocol because we no longer intended to use topotecan as the comparator trcatment



for our planned Phase I1I trizl and wanted data in more patients treated with picoplatin to help us make a
decision on whether to embark upon a large Phase I1 trial.

We discussed the design of a Phase 111 trial with the FDA in April 2006 and modified our ongoing
Phase I1 trial to support our plans for a subsequent Phase 111 trial. We expanded our small cell lung cancer
study to include additional clinical sites in Eastern Europe, where the greater availability of patients
enabled us to more rapidly increase patient enrollment. In May 2006, we amended our Phase II protocol to
provide for enrollment of a subset of patients with platinum-sensitive disease who relapsed within 91-180
days of completing first-line platinum-containing chemotherapy. We completed enrollment of our Phase I1
small cell lung cancer trial in August 2006. In November 2006, we announced positive interim overall
survival resuits from the study, indicating a median overall survival of 26.7 weeks in 72 evaluable patients.

We plan 10 initiate a pivotal Phase 111 SPEAR (Study of Picoplatin Efficacy After Relapse) trial in the
first half of 2007. The Phase 111 SPEAR trial wili be undertaken pursuant to a Special Protocol
Assessment, or SPA, with the FDA. The SPA is a written agreement between us and the FDA on the
abjectives, design and endpoints to be used as a basis of filing for accelerated approval of picoplatin and
the data analysis plan necessary to support full regulatory approval of picoplatin. The Phase 111 trial will be
an international, multi-center, open-label, controlled study to compare the efficacy and safety of picoplatin
plus best supportive care with best supportive care alone as a second-line therapy. The study is expected to
enroll approximately 400 patients with small ceil lung cancer whose disease is refractory (non-responsive)
to first-line platinum-containing (cisplatin or carboplatin) chematherapy or whose disease responded
initially to first-line platinum-containing therapy but then progressed within six months after treatment was
completed. Patients will be randomized on a 2:1 ratio to receive picoplatin plus best supportive care or best
supportive care alone. Best supportive care will include all medical, radiation and surgical interventions
that small cell lung cancer patients should receive to palliate the symptoms and treat the complications
caused by smail cell lung cancer, but excludes treatment with systemic therapies intended to kill cancer
cells. The primary endpoint of the planned study will be improved overall survival as measured in time
from randomization to death. Secondary endpoints will inciude overall response rates, disease control and
progression-free survival. We currently estimate that the study will take approximately 20 months to
complete; however, the actual timing for completion of the study will depend on the rate of patient
enrollment, survival times of all patients in the trial, as well as other factors such as patient performance
status, extent of disease and the risks and uncertainties described in this report.

The FDA has designated picoplatin as an orphan drug for the treatment of smalil cell lung cancer
under the provisions of the Orphan Drug Act, as amended. To qualify for orphan drug status, a proposed
drug must be intended for use in the treatment of a condition that affects fewer than 200,000 people in the
United States. Orphan drug status entitles us to exclusive marketing rights for picoplatin in the United
States for seven years following market approval, if any, and qualifies us for research grants to support
clinical studies, tax credits for certain research expenses and an exemption from certain application user
fees. As discussed below in the section entitled “Government Regulation and Product Testing,” the
manufacture and marketing of picoplatin are subject to regulation for safety, efficacy and quality by the
FDA and comparable authorities in foreign countries.

Small Cell Lung Cancer and its Treatnent.  Approximately 15% of all lung cancer diagnoses in the
United States are small cell lung cancer. In about 98% of patients, their small cell iung cancer is thought to
be caused by cigarette smoking, According to a 2004 report on cancer statistics, there were approximately
34,700 new small cell lung cancer patients in the United Stales annually. At the time of small cell lung -
cancer diagnosis, approximately two-thirds of patients have metastases outside the chest and approximately
one-third have limited disease confined to the chest. Small cell lung cancer-consists of two stages:

(1} limited, which is defined as cancer confined to the one side of the chest that can be treated with a single
area of radiation therapy and (2) extensive, which is defined as disease involving both sides of the chest
and/or obvious spread of the cancer beyond the chest. Surgery is only used for the very few patients with




limited-stage disease. Radiation therapy plus chemotherapy is the standard of care for limited-stage small
cell lung cancer. Treatment with radiation therapy plus chemotherapy can cure a small percentage of
limited-stage patients. Chemotherapy is the standard of care for extensive disease. Although small cell lung
cancer is highly sensitive to chemotherapy and radiation therapy, most patients develop recurrent cancer.

Many chemotherapeutic agents are used to treat small cell lung cancer patients. Initial (first-line)
chemotherapy regimens include cisplatin, carboplatin, etoposide, irinotecan (CPT-11), ifosfamide,
cyclophosphamide, vincristine and doxerubicin. The most commonly used first-line chemotherapy regimen
is combination carboplatin or cisplatin plus etoposide. Eighty percent to 100% of patients with limited
disease, and 60% to 80% of paticents with extensive disease, have a significant response to radiation plus
chemotherapy or combination chemotherapy, respectively. The median duration of response is
approximately 6 to 8 months. Median survival from the time of diagnosis for limited-stage and extensive-
stage disease is approximately 14 to 20 months and 8 to 13 months, respectively.

Agents used for second-line chemotherapy include ifosfamide, paclitaxel, docetaxel, gemeitabine,
topotecan, irinotecan, CAV (cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin and vincristine) and vinorelbine. Only
intravenous topotecan is approved by the FDA for use as a second-line chemotherapeutic, and it is only
approved for those patients with platinum-sensitive small cell lung cancer. When small cell lung cancer
recurs following first-line chemotherapy, the median survival for patients treated with second-line
chemotherapy is approximately 4 to 5 months.

Based an clinical and preclinical data to date, we believe that second-line picoplatin has potential
activity in small cell lung cancer patients who have failed first-line platinum-containing therapy. A Phase 11
study was conducted by a prior licensee during 2001 and 2002 to assess the activity and tolerability of
picoplatin when given intravenously as a second-line therapy to patients with small cell lung cancer. Two of
13 patients (15.4%) with platinum-resistant small cell lung cancer achieved a partial response (a decrease
in the size of the tumor or in the extent of cancer in the body) with picoplatin treatment, and two
additional patients (15.4%) achieved stable disease (no increase or decrease in extent or severity of the
cancer). Overall, 4 of 13 patients (30.8%) with platinum-resistant small cell lung cancer achieved a partial
response or stable disease with picoplatin treatment. The median survival of all 13 treated patients was
approximately 6.3 months, significantly longer than that which would be expected with topotecan, the only
approved chemotherapy in this population.

Metastatic Colorectal Cancer

Phase Ifll Clinical Trial. 1In May 2006, we treated our first patient in an approximately 30-patient
Phase I/11 study of picoplatin in the first-line treatment of patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. The
trial is being conducted in Eastern Europe and is continuing to enroll patients. The Phase I component of
the trial is designed to evaluate increasing doses of picoplatin in combination with the chemotherapy
agents 5-fluorouracil and leucovorin to establish an appropriate dose of picoplatin for further testing in the
Phase 11 efficacy component of the trial. Endpoints of the study will include safety, objective tumor
response rate (tumor shrinkage), time to tumor progression, progression-free survival and overall survival.

Colorectal Cancer and its Treatment.  According to the American Cancer Society, colon cancer is the
third most common cancer among American men and women and the second and third leading cause of
cancer death in the United States for men and women, respectively. An estimated 148,000 new cases of
colon cancer were diagnosed in 2006, with an estimated 55,000 deaths in 2006 (American Cancer Society,
Cancer Facts and Figures 2006). Fluorouracil and leucovorin plus oxaliplatin (Eloxatin®), known as the
FOLFOX regime, or FOLFOX plus bevacizumab (Avastin®}, is the current standard of care for treatment
of metastatic colorectal cancer in the United States. Approximately 90,000 patients received oxaliplatin-
containing treatment regimes in 2005, generating approximately $1.4 billion in revenue from the treatment
of early and late-stage colorectal cancers. However, approximately 82% of the patients who receive this




treatment develop peripheral neuropathy, and approximately 19% of all patients develop severe peripheral
neuropathy. Neuropathy, a peripheral nerve function problem that can result in numbness, tingling and
pricking sensations, sensitivity to touch, pain, and muscic weakness or wasting, causes an estimated 30% to
50% of patients to withdraw from oxaliplatin treatment. Picoplatin has been tested in more than 500
patients in Phase I and Phase [I safety and efficacy studics. In contrast, approximately 11.5% of picoplatin
treated patients in these studies developed mild or moderate peripheral hcuropathy and none developed
severe neuropathy. ’

Hormone Refractory Prostate Cancer

Phase 1/l Clinical Trial.  We are also conducting a Phase I/I] study of picoplatin in the first-line
treatment of patients with prostate cancer that is not responding to hormone treatments and has not
previously been treated with chemotherapy. We treated our first patient in the approximately 12-patient
trial in May 2006. The trial is being conducted in Eastern Europe and is continuing to enroll patients. The
Phase | component of the trial is designed to evaluate increasing doses of picoplatin in combination with
the chemotherapy agent docetaxel (Taxotere®) to establish an appropriate dose of picoplatin for further
testing in the Phase 11 efficacy component of the trial. Endpoints of the study will include safety, reduction
in prostate specific antigen (PSA), objective tumor response rate (tumor shrinkage), time to tumor
progression, progression-free survival and overall survival.

Hormone-Refractory Prostate Cancer and its Treatment.  Prostate cancer is the most common type of
cancer among men in the United States, apart from skin cancer, and the third leading cause of death in
American men. Approximately 234,000 men in the United Stated will be diagnosed with the discase in
2007, and over 27,000 will die from this disease according to the American Cancer Society. In the Europe
Union, therc are approximately 225,000 prostate cancer cases and 83,000 deaths annually, according to the
International Agency for Rescarch on Cancer’s GLOBOCAN 2002 database. Since the incidence of '
prostate cancer increases with age, the aging of the overall population is expected to further increase the
number of prostate cancer patients, '

Many paticnts diagnosed with prostate cancer initially receive surgery or radiation therapy, and some
of these patients are cured. For many, however, the discase recurs. At this point the recurrent disease is
trcated with hormone therapy, and most paticnts initially respond wetl. The duration of response averages
only 10 to 12 months, however, and the tumor cells eventually become resistant to the hormones
(hormone-refractory), and the tumor again progresses. Increasingly, chemotherapy is being used as a first-
line treatment for hormone-refractory prostate cancer, but few cffective drugs have been identified.
Docetaxel in combination with prednisone was approved by the FDA in 2004 for the trcatment of patients
with metastatic (stage I'V) hormone-refractory prostate cancer. The majority (more than 80%) of newly-
diagnoscd stage IV patients who fail hormone therapy currently are treated with docetaxel! either alone or
in combination with other drugs. Other options include mixozantrone, estramustine or prednisone
monotherapy as second-line trcatment. We believe that the combination of picoplatin and docetaxel has
the potential to be more effective than either docetaxel or picoplatin alone and could reduce the likelihood
of chemo-resistance which occurs with platinum agents currently used to treat this patient population.

Oral Picoplatin

Planned Phase I Clinical Trial. 1n February 2007, we filed an IND with the FDA for an oral
formulation of picoplatin. Following FDA review, we intend to initiate a Phase I clinical trial of oral
picoplatin. We believe that oral picoplatin has significant potential for use in combination with other oral
chemotherapies and targeted therapies, including in a refractory setting following relapse from first-line
therapies, In preclinical studies, picoplatin has been shown to have up to 40% oral bioavailability and a
higher therapeutic index and efficacy against platinum-sensitive and -resistant tumor variants than
currently marketed platinum-based therapeutics. '




Picoplatin Source of Supply

We have a limited supply of picoplatin drug product that was manufactured By a prior licensee and
supplier. The drug product has been demonstrated to be stable for up to 30 months from the date of-
manufacture, which time period is not sufficient to complete our current and planned clinical trials. We
have entered into separate agreements with third parties for the manufacture of picoplatin active
pharmaceutical ingredient, or API, and the bulk production and distribution of finished picoplatin drug
product. We currently have one supplier each of API and finished drug product. Manufacturing services
under these agreements are provided on-a purchase order, fixed-fee basis. Unless earlier terminated, each
agreement continues for an initial term ending December 31, 2009 and may be extended beyond the initial
term upon agreement of the parties. The agreements gencrally provide that they may be terminated by
either party if there is a material breach by thie other party that remains uncured or in the event of solvency
or bankruptcy of the other party. We may terminate the finished drug product supply agreement at any
time with one year’s advance notice. We may terminate the API manufacturing agreement if there is a
change in control of the manufacturer. We have no assurance that our current suppliers will be able to
manufacture sufficient picoplatin API and/or finished drug product on a timely or cost-effective basis at all
times in the future. We believe that there are other contract manufacturers with the capacity to
manufacture picoplatin API and finished drug product. If we are required to seek out alternatlve
manufacturers, we may incur significant additional costs and suffcr delays in, or be prevented from,
complctmg or initiating our ongoing or planned clinical trials.

Patents and Propnetary Rights

Our pohcy is to aggressively protect our propnetary technologies, We have flled applxcauons for
United States and foreign patents on many aspects of our technologies. : "

We hold an exclusive worldwide license granted from Genzyme Corporation {successor 1o
AnorMED, Inc.} for the development and commercial saie of picoplatin. Under the license agreement, as
amended, Genzyme retains the right to prosecute its patent applications and maintain all licensed patents,
with us reimbursing such expenses. We have the right to sue any third party infringers of the picoplatin
patents. If we do not file suit, Genzyme, in its sole discretion, has the right to sue the infringer at its
expense. ~ . , -

The parties executed the license agreement in April 2004, at which time we paid a oné-time upfront
milestone payment of $1.0 million in common stock and $1.0 million in cash. The original license
agreement exciuded Japan from the licensed territory and provided for $13.0 million in development and
commercialization milestones, payable in cash or a combination of cash and comman stock, and a royalty
rate of up to 15% of product net sales after regulatory approval. The parties amended the license
agreement on September 18, 2006, modifying several key financial terms and expanding the licensed
territory to include Japan, thereby providing us worldwide rights. In consideration of the amendment, we
paid Genzyme $5.0 million in cash on October 12, 2006 and will pay Genzyme an additional $5.0 million in
cash by March 31, 2007. The amendment eliminates all development milestone payments to Genzyme, We
remain obligated to pay a total of $5.0 million in commercialization milestones upon the attainment of
certain levels of annual net sales of picoplatin after regulatory approval. The amendment also reduces the.
royalty payable to Genzyme to a maximum of 9% of anriual net product sales. In addition, the amendment
reduces the sharing of sublicense revenue with Genzyme for any sublicenses entered into during the first
year following the amendment and eliminates the sharing of sublicense revenues on and after
September 18, 2007. The license agreement may be terminated by either party for breach, or if the other
party files a petition in bankruptcy or insolvency or for reorgamzanon or is dissolved, liquidated or makes
assignment for the benefit of creditors. We can terminate the license at any time upon prior written notice
to Genzyme. If not earlier terminated, the license agreement will continue in effect, in each country in the
territory in which the licensed product is sold or manufdctured, until the carlier of (i) expiration of the last




valid claim of a pending or issued patent covering the licensed product in that country or (ii) a specified
number of years after first commercial sale of the licensed product in that country.

Our picoplatin portfolio includes United States and foreign patents and applications licensed from
Genzyme, which cover the picoplatin product. With respect to picoplatin, we expect to rely primarily on
US patent nomber 5,665,771 {expiring February 7, 2016), which is licensed to us by Genzyme, and
additional licensed patents expiring in 2016 covering picoplatin in the European Union. The FDA also has
designated picoplatin as an orphan drug for the treatment of small cell lung cancer under the provisions of
the Orphan Drug Act, which entitles us to exclusive marketing rights for picoplatin in the United States for
seven years following market approval.

. A number of additional potential avenues exist which may further extend our picoplatin patent
protection and exclusivity. In the United States, these include The Drug Price and Competition and Patent
Term Restoration Act of 1984, commonly referred to as the Hatch-Waxman Act, which, among other
things, generally provides for patent term cxtension for up to five years for an issued patent covering a
drug product which has undergone regulatory review before marketing. In addition, since picoplatin has
not been previously approved for marketing in the United States, picoplatin may qualify for new chemical
entity data exclusivity, under which the FDA bans for a period of time submissions of applications from
competitors based on published data or Abbreviated New Drug Applications (ANDA) for a drug
containing the same active agent. Certain patent term restoration procedures and marketing exclusivity
rights also may be available for qualifying drug products in the European Union or individual foreign
countries. We intend to evaluate the availability of these mechanisms for extending the patent term and
marketing exclusivity for picoplatin on an individual regional or country basis. We cannot be certain that
we will-be successful in any efforts to extend the term of any patent relating to picoplatin or that picoplatin
will be granted additional marketing exclusivity rights in the United States or abroad.

Risks associated with the protection of our patents and other proprictary technologies are described
under the heading “Risk Factors” in Ttem 1A below. Pending or future patent applications by us or our
collaborators will not necessarily result in issued patents. Moreover, the current patents that we own or
license may not provide substantial protection or commercial benefit. in addition to patent protection, we
rely upon trade secrets, unpatented proprietary know-how and continuing technological innovation to
develop and maintain our competitive position. Third parties could acquire or independently develop the
same or similar technology, or our issued patents or those licensed by us could be circumvented,
invalidated or rendered obsolete by new technology. Third parties also could gain access to or disclose our
proprietary technology, and we may be unable to meaningfully protect our rights in such unpatented
proprietary technology.

Under United States law, although a patent has a statutory presumption of validity, the issuance of a
patent is not conclusive as to its'validity or as to the enforceable scope of its claims. Accordingly, the
patents owned or licensed by us could be invalidated, infringed or designed around by third partics. Also,
third parties could obtain patents that we would need to license or design around.

Competition

The competition for development of cancer therapies is substantial. There is intense competition from
biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies, as well as academic research institutions, clinical reference
laboratories and government agencies that are pursuing research and development activities similar to ours
in the United States and abroad. Qur initial focus for picoplatin is small cell lung cancer, the most
aggressive and deadly form of lung cancer, Although platinum therapies are the preferred treatment, no
FDA-approved therapies are available for patients with platinum-refractory or -resistant disease. If
approved, picoplatin will be competing with existing treatment regimens, as well as emerging therapies for
small cell lung cancer, and other platinum-based therapeutics. Large pharmaceutical/biotechnology
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companies, including Bristol-Myer Squibb Company, Bayer Schering Pharma AG, Dainippon Sumitomo
Pharma Co. Ltd., Eli Lilly and Company, GlaxoSmithKline PLC, Novartis AG, Pfizer Inc.,

Genentech, Inc., Shionogi & Co. Ltd., SK Pharma and Sanofi-Aventis Group, are marketing and/or
developing therapeutics in late-stage clinical trials for the treatmentof small cell lung cancer or platinum
agents for the trecatment of cancer. Multiple biotechnology companics are engaged in clinical trials for the
treatment of small cell lung cancer and other platinum-based therapeutics, including Acterna Zentaris
Inc., Access Pharmaceuticals Inc., GPC Biotech AG, Onyx Pharmaceuticals Inc., Pharmion Corporation,
Suncsis Pharmaceuticals Inc., Keryx Biopharmaceuticals Inc., Transave Inc., Vion Pharmaccuticals Inc.,
PharmaMar (Zettia Group), ImmunoGen, Inc., Meabco A/S, Antigenics, Inc., [psen Group and Menarini
Group. As we expand the utility of picoplatin into other oncology indications such as hormone-refractory
prostate cancer and colorectal cancer, we will be facing additional competition from major pharmaceutical
companies, biotechnology companies, research institutions and government agencies. We cannot assurc
you that we will be able to effectively compete with these or future third-party product devclopment
programs. Many of our existing or potential competitors have, or have access to, substantially greater
financial, research and development, marketing and production resources than we do and may be better
equipped than we are to develop, manufacture and market competing products. Further, our competitors
may have, or may develop and introduce, new products that would render our picoplatin or any other
proposed product candidates less competitive, uneconomical or obsolete.

Timing of market introduction and health care reform, both uncertainties, will affect the competitive
position of our potential products. We believe that competition among products approved for sale will be
bascd, among other things, on product safety, efficacy, reliability, availability, thnrd party reimbursement,
price and patent protection.

Government Regulation and Product Testing

The FDA and comparable regulatory agencies in state and local jurisdictions and in foreign countries
impose substantial requirements upon the clinical development, manufacture, marketing and distribution
of drugs. These agencies and other federal, state and local entities regulate research and development
activities and the testing, manufacture, quality control, safety, storage, record-keeping, approval,
advertising and promotion of picoplatin and any other future drug candidates. Product development and
approval within these regulatory frameworks take a number of years to accomplish, if at all, and involve the
cxpenditure of substantial resources.

U.S. Government Regulation

In the United States, drugs and biologics are subject to rigorous regulation by the FDA under the
Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act of 1976, as amended, and implementing regulations, The process
required by the FDA before picoplatin and any future drug candidates may be marketed in the United
States generally involves the following;

» completion of extensive preclinical laboratory tests, in vive preclinical studies and formulation
studies;

+ submission to the FDA of an Investigational New Drug Application ([ND) which must become
effective before clinical trials can commence;

¢ performance of adequate and well-controlled clinical trials to establish the safety and efficacy of the
product candidate for each proposed indication;

* submission of a Biologic License Application (BLA) or New Drug Application (NDA) to the FDA;
and

¢ FDA review and approval of the BLA or NDA prior to any commercial sale or shipment of the
drug.
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In addition to obtaining FDA approval for each product, each domestic drug manufacturing
establishment must be registered with and inspected by the FDA. Domestic manufacturing establishments
are subject to biennial inspections by the FDA and must comply with current Good Manufacturing
Practice {¢GMP) regulations, which are enforced by the FDA through its facilities inspection program for,
biotogics, drugs and devices. To supply products for use in the United States, foreign manufacturing
establishments must comply with cGMP regulations and are subject to periodic inspection by the FDA or
by corresponding regulatory agencies in such countries under reciprocal agrecments with the FDA.

Preclinical studies include laboratory evaluation of product chemistry and formulation, as well as
animal studies, to assess the potential safety and efficacy of the proposed product. Laboratories that
comply with the FDA regulations regarding Good Laboratory Practice must conduct preclinical safety
tests. The results of the preclinical studies are submitted to the FDA as part of an IND and are reviewed by
the FDA priof to commencement of clinical trials. Unless the FDA provides comments to an IND, the
IND will become effective 30 days foliowing its receipt by the FDA. Subml';snon of an ]ND does not assure
FDA authorization to commcnce clinical trials.

Chmcal trials involve the administration of the investigational new drug to healthy volunteers or to
patients under the supervision of a qualified principal investigator. Clinical trials are conducted in
accordance with the FDA’s Pratection of Human Subjects regulations and Good Clinical Practices under
protocols that detail the objectives of the study, the parameters to be used to monitor safety, and the
efficacy criteria to be evaluated. Each protocol must be submitted to the FDA as part of the IND. Further,
each clinical study must be conducted under the auspices of an independent Institutional Review Board
(IRB) at the institution where the study will be conducted. The IRB will consider, among dther things,
ethical factors, the safety of human subjects and the possible liability of the institution.

Clinical trials are typically conducted in three sequential phases, but the phases may overlap. In
Phase 1, the drug is tested for: .

o safety (adverse effects);
s dosage tolerance;
+ metabolism;

distribution,;

» excretion; and

e pharmaco-dynamics (clinical pharmacology).

In Phase 11, a limited patient population is studied to:

* determine .the efﬁcacy. of the drug for épeciﬁc, targeted indications;
» determine dosage tolerance and optimal dosage; and

» identify possible adverse effects and safety risks.

If a compound is found to have potential activity in a disease or condmon and to have an acceptable
safety profile in Phase 11 clinical trials, Phase 111 clinical trials are undertaken to further evaluate clinical
activity and to further test for safety within an expanded patient population at geographically dispersed
clinical study sites. Often, Phase IV (post-marketing) studies are required by the FDA in order to gain
more data on safety and efficacy of a drug after it has transitioned into general medical practice. With |
respect to picoplatin or any proposed products subject to clinical trials, there can be no assurance that
Phase I, Phase IT or Phase II1 studies will be completed successfully within any specific time period, if at
all. Clinical studies are inherently uncertain, and our current picoplatin and any future clinical trials may
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not confirm the results achieved in carlier clinical or preclinical trials. If picoplatin is not shown to be safe
and effective, we will not be able to obtain the required regulatory approvals for commercial sale of that
product. Furthermore, we or the FDA may suspend clinical trials at any time if it is determined that the
subjects or patients are being exposed to an unacceptable health risk.

The results of the pharmaccutical development, preclinical studies and clinical trials are submitted to
the FDA in the form of an NDA for approval of the marketing and commercial shipment of the drug. The
testing and approval processes are likely to require substantial cost, time and cffort, and there can be no
assurance that any approval will be granted on a timely basis, if at all. The FDA may deny an NDA if
applicable regulatory criteria are not satisfied, may require additional testing or information, or may
require post-market testing and surveillance to monitor the safety of the product. If regulatory approval is
granted, such approval may entail limitations on the indicated uses for which the product may be
marketed. The FDA may withdraw product approvals if compliance with regulatory standards is not
maintained or if problems occur following initial marketing. Among the conditions for NDA approval is
the requirement that the prospective manufacturers’ quality control and manufacturing procedurcs
conform to cGMP rcgulations. In complying with standards sct forth in these regulations, manufacturers
must continue to expend time, money and effort in the arcas of production and quality control to ensure
full technical compliance.

Foreign Regulation

In addition to regulation in the United States, we will be subject to a variety of forcign regulations
governing clinical trials and commercial sales and distribution of our proposed future products. Whether
or not we obtain FDA approval for a product, we must obtain approval of & product by comparable
regulatory authoritics of foreign countries before we can commence clinical trials or marketing of the
product in those countics. The approval process varies from country to country, and the time may be
longer or shorter than that required for FDA approval. The requirements governing the conduct of clinical
trials, product licensing, pricing and reimbursement also vary greatly from country io country.

Under the European Union regulatory systems, marketing authorizations may be submitted either
under a centralized or mutual recognition procedure. The centralized procedure provides for the grant of a
singic marketing authorization that is valid for all European Union member states. The mutual recognition
procedure provides for mutual recognition of national approval decisions. Under this procedure, the
holder of a national marketing authorization may submit an application to the remaining member states.
Within 90 days of receiving the application and assessment report, cach member state must decide whether
to recognize approval. '

In addition to regulations in Europe and the United States, we will be subject to a varicty of forcign
regulations governing clinical trials and commercial distribution of our current and future product
candidates.

Employees ’

As of March 8, 2007, we had 32 full-time employees and 6 part-time cmployees. Of these full-time
employees, 8 hold PhD degrees, 2 hold M.D. degrees, and one holds a JD degree. Of the total full-time
cmployees, 17 employees were engaged in research and development activities and 15 were employed in
general administration. Alan Glassberg, M.D. resigned as our chicf medical officer effective March 15,
2007 and will provide us consulting services as a member of our clinical advisory board. We consider our
rclations with cmployees to be good. None of our employcees is covered by a collective bargaining )
agreement.




Corporate Background

We are a Washington corporation that was originally incorporated as NeoRx Corporation in 1984. We
changed our name to Poniard Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and relocated our corporate headquarters from
Seattle, Washington to South San Francisco in September 2006. Our principal executive office and mailing
address is 7000 Shoreline Court, Suite 270, South San Francisco, California 94080, and our telephonc
number is (650} 583-3774.

Item 14. ‘RISK FACTORS.

Investing in our common stock or other securities involves a high degree of risk. You should carefuily
read the risks and uncertainties described below and all information contained in this report before you
decide to purchase our common stock. If any of the possible adverse events described below actually
oceurs, we may be unable to conduct our business as currently planned and our financial and operating’
results could be harmed. In addition the trading price of our common stock could decline due to the
occurrence of any of these risks, and you may lose all or part of your investment. Please see “Special Note
Regarding Forward- -Looking Statements.”

Risks Related to Our Business

We have a history of operating losses, we expect to continue to incur losses, and we may never become
profitable.

We have not been profitable since our formation in 1984, As of December 31, 2006, we had an
accumulated deficit of $279.6 million. Our net loss for the year ended December 31, 2006 was $23.3
million. We had net losses of $21.0 million for.the year ended December 31, 2005 and $19.4 million for the
year ended December 31, 2004. These losses resulted principally from costs incurred in our research and
development programs and from our general and administrative activities. To date, we have been engaged
only in research and development activities and have not generated any significant revenue from product
sales. In May 2005, we announced the discontinuation of our skeletal targeted radiotherapy (STR)
development program as part of a strategic plan to refocus our limited resources on the development of
picoplatin, a platinum-based cancer therapy. We do not anticipate that our picoplatin product candidate,
or any other proposed products, witl be commercially available for several years, if at all. We expect to
incur additional operating losses in the future. These losses may increase significantly as we expand our
clinical trials and increase our résearch and development activities and seek to commercialize picoplatin or
any future product candidatcs.

Qur abihty to achieve long-term profitability is dependent upon obtaining regulatory approvals for our
picoplatin product candidate and any other proposed products and successfully commcrc1ahzmg our
products alone or with third parties.

We will need to raise additional capital to develop and commercialize our product candidates and
fund operations, and our future access to capital is uncertain.

It is expensive to develop cancer therapy products and conduct clinical trials for these products. We
have not generated revenue from the commercialization of any product, and we expect to continue to incur
substantizl net operating losscs and negative cash flows from operations for the foreseeable future. On
April 26, 2006, we completed a $65.0 million equity financing; however, we will require substantial
additional funding to develop and commercialize picoplatin and any other proposed products and to fund
our future operations, :
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Management is continuously exploring financing alternatives, including:

» raising additional capital through the public or private sale of equity or debt securities or through
the establishment of credit or other funding facilities; and

* entering into strategic collaboratlons which may include joint ventures or partnerships for product
development and commercialization, merger, sale of assets or other similar transactions.

We may not be able to obtain the required additional capital or enter into reiationships with corporate
partners on a timely basis, on favorable terms, or at all. Conditions in the capital markets in general, and in
the life science capital market Specnﬁcally, may affect our potential financing sources and opportunities for
strategic partnering. If we raise additional funds by issuing common stock or securities convertible into or
exercisable for common stock, our shareholders may experience substantial dilution, and new investors
could have rights superior to current security holders. If we are unable to gbtain sufficient additional cash
when needed, we may be forced to reduce expenses though the delay, reduction or curtailment of our
picoplatin and other development and commercialization activities.

The amount of additional financing we will require in the future will depend on a number of factors,
including: ' .

s the scope and timing of our ;')'icoplatin clinical program and other research and development efforts,
including the progress and costs of our ongomg Phase II and planned Phase III trials of plcoplann
in small cell lung cancer;

+ our ability to obtain clinical supplies of picoplatin active pharmaceutical ingredient and finished
drug product in a timely and cost effective manner;

e actions taken by the FDA and other regulatory authorities;
e the ummg of and amount of proceeds from any sale of the Denton facility and assets;

» the timing and amount of any milestone or other payments we might receive from or pay to
potential strategic partners; \

.

» our degree of success in commercializing picoplatin or any other product candidates;
o the emergence of competing technologics and products, and other adverse market developments;
o the acquisition or in-licensing of other products or intellectual property;

s the costs, including lease and operating costs, incurred in connection with the relocation of our
corporate headquarters to South San Francisco and the planned expansion of our workforce;

s the costs of any research collaborations or strategic partnerships established;

« the costs of preparing, filing, prosecuting, maintalniﬁg and enforcing patent claims and other
intellectual property rights; and

¢ the costs of performing our obligations under our loan with Silicon Valley Bank and Merrill Lynch
Capital, including the cost of interest and other payment obligations and penalties and the cost of
complying with unrestricted cash, product development and other covenants and restrictions under
the loan agteement.

During 2006, we experienced significant changes to our capital structure which resulted in an
ownership change, as defined under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (IRC).
Consequently, the amount of net operating loss carryforwards and research and experimentation credit
carryforwards available to be used in future years are limited under IRC Sections 382 and 383. This
limitation will result in the loss of approximately $93.3 million of our net operating loss carryforwards and
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$9.1 million of our research and development eredit carryforwards. We had net operating loss
carryforwards of approximately $62.3 million available for future use as of December 31, 2006, which will
expire from 2007 through 2026. - '

Our potential products must undergo rigorous clinical testing and regulatory approvals, which could
be costly, time consuming, and subject us to unanticipated delays or prevent us from marketmg any
products.

The manufacturc and marketing of our picoplatin product candidate and our réscarch and
development activitics are subject to regulation for safety, efficacy and quality by the FDA in the United
States and by comparable regulatory authorities in foreign countnes

The process of obtaining FDA and other required regulatory approvals, including foreign approvals, is
expensive, often takes many years and can vary substantially depending on the type, complexity and novelty
of the products involved.

We have had only limited experience in filing and pursuing applications necessary to gain regulatory
approvals.-This may impede our ability to obtain timely approvals from the FDA or foreign regulatory
agencics. We will not be able to commercialize our product candidates until we obtain regulatory
approvals, and consequently any delay in obldmmg, or inability o obtain, regulatory approvals could harm
our business.

. If we violate regulatory requirements at any stage, whether before or after marketing approval is
obtained, we may be fined, forced to remove a product from the market or experience other adverse
consequences, including delay, which could materially harm our financial results. Additionally, we may not
be able to obtain the labeling claims necessary or desirable for product promotion. If we or other parties
identify serious side effects after any of our products are on the market, or if manufacturing problems
occur, regulatory approval may be withdrawn and reformulation of our products, additional clinical trials,
changes in labeling of our products, and/or additional marketing applications may be required.

The requirements governing the conduct of ¢lintcal trials and manufacturing and marketing of our
proposed products outside the United States vary widely from country to country. Foreign approvals may
take longer to obtain than FDA approvals and can involve additional testing. Foreign regulatory approval
processes include all of the risks associated with the FDA approval processes. Also, approval of a product
by the FDA does not ensure approval of the same product by the health authorities of other countries.

We may take longer to complete our clinical trials than we project, or we may be unable to complete
them at all.

We completed enrollment in our Phase 11 clinical trial of picoplatin in small cell lung cancer in
August 20006, and we continue to treat and follow patients on this study for survival. This Phase II study is
an open-label, multi-center trial cvaluating picoplatin in patients with small cell lung cancer that did not
respond to, or which relapsed within six months after completing, prior platinum-containing
chemotherapy. The endpoints of the trial include survival, response rate (tumor shrinkage), duration of
responsc and time to progression,

Based upon positive interim overall survival data from our Phase 11 study, we plan to initiate an
international, multi-center randomized Phasc I11 pivotal trial of picoplatin in small cell lung cancer in the
first half of 2007. The Phase I trial, which will be undertaken pursuant to an SPA with the FDA, is
designed to compare the efficacy and safety of picoplatin plus best supportive care with best supportive
care alone as a second-line 1hcrapy The study is expected to enroll approximately 400 patients with small
cell lung cancer whose discase did not respond to a first-line platinum-containing (cisplatin or carbopldtm)
chemothcmpy regimen or whose discase responded 1ml|ally to first-line platinum-containing therapy, but
then progrcssed within six monlhs dflCl’ completion of treatment. Paticnts will be randomlzcd ona2: 1 ratio

16




to receive picoplatin plus best supportive care or best supportive care alone. The primary endpoint of the
planned study will be improved overall survival as measured in time from randomization to death.
Secondary endpoints will include overall response rates, disease control and progression-free survival. We
currently estimate that the study wili take approximately 20 months to'complete; however, the actual time
to completion of the study will depend on the rate of patient enrollment, survival times of all patients in
the trial, as well as other factors such as patient performance status, extent of discase and the risks and
uncertainties described in this report.

In May 2006, we treated our first patient in our Phase I/11 study evaluating picoplatin in the front-line
treatment of patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. This study is designed to determine the safety and
efficacy of picoplatin when combined with the chemotherapy agents 5-fluorouracil and leucovorin to treat
patients newly diagnosed with metastatic disease. Also in May 2006, we enrolled our first patient in our
Phase /11 trial of picoplatin in the first-line treatment of patients with hormone-refractory prostate cancer.
‘This study is designed to determine the safety and efficacy of picoplatin when combined with the
chemotherapy agent docetaxel. We anticipate completing enrollment of the Phasc | dose-cvaluation
components of these trials and initiating enrollment in the Phase I efficacy components of thesc trials
during the first half of 2007. Endpoints of these studies will include safety, disease reduction, time to
progression, progression-free survival and overalt survival.

The actual times for initiation and completion of our picoplatin clinical trials depend vpon numerous
factors, including:

« approvals and.other actions by.the FDA and other regulatory agencies and the timing thereof;
* our ability to open clinical sites; .
¢ our ability to enroll qualified patients into our studies;

e our ability to obtain sufficient, rei'i_able and affordable supplies of the picop]atin' active
pharmaceutical ingredient and finished drug product;

* our ability to obtain adequate additional funding or enter into strategic partnerships; -

» the extent of competing trials at the clinical institutions where we conduct our trials;

. thé: extent of scheduling conflicts with participating clinicians and clinical institutions; and

. the identificd enrdpoints of the studies, the extent of patient discase and patient performance status.

We may not initiate, advance or complete our plcop]atm or any other proposed clinical studies as
projected or achieve successful results.

We will rely on academic institutions and clinical research organizations to conduct, supervise or
monitor some or all aspects of clinical trials involving picoplatin. Further, to the extent that we now or in
the future participate in collaborative arrangements in connection'with the development and
commercialization of our proposed products, we will have less contro} over the timing, planning and other
aspects of our clinical trials. If we fail to initiate, advance or complete, or experience delays in or are forced
to curtail our current or planned clinical trials, our stock price and our ability to conduct our business
could be materially negatively affected.
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If testing of a particular product does not yield successful results, we will be unable to commercialize
that product.

Our rescarch and development programs are designed to test the safety and efficacy of our proposed
products in humans through extensive preclinical and clinical testing. We may experience numerous
unforeseen events during, or as a result of, the testing process that could delay or prevent
commercialization of picoplatin or any other proposed products, including the following:

o the safety and cfficacy results obtained in early human clinical trials may not be indicative of results
obtained in later clinical trials;

o the results of preclinical studics may be inconclusive, or they may not be indicative of results that
will be obtained in human clinical trials;

» after reviewing test results, we or any potentml collaborators may abandon pro;ectq that we
prewously believed were promising;

e our potential collaborators or regulators may suspcnd or terminate clinical trials if thc participating
subjects or patients are being exposed to unacceptdblc health risks; and

s the effects of our potential products may not be the desired effects or may include undcmrablc side
effects or other characteristics that preclude regulatory approval or limit their commercial use if
approved.

Clinical testing is very cxpensive, can take many years, and the outcome is uncertain. The data-that we
may collect from our picoplatin clinical trials may not be sufficient to support regulatory approval of our
proposed picoplatin product. The clinical trials of picoplatin and any other proposed products may not be
initiated or completed on schedule, and the FDA or foreign regulatory agencies may not ultimately
approve any of our product candidates for commercial sale. Our failure to adequately demonstrate the
safety and cfficacy of a cancer therapy product under development would delay or prevent regulatory
approval of the product, which would prevent us from marketing the proposed product.

Success in early clinical trials may not be indicative of results obtained in later trials.

Results of early preclinical and clinical trials arc based on a limited number of patients and may, upoen
review, be revised or negated by authorities or by later stage clinical results. Historically, the results from
preclinical testing and early clinical trials often have not been predictive of results obtained in later clinical
trials. A number of new drugs and therapeutics have shown promising results in initial clinical trials, but
subscquently failed to establish sufficient safety and effectiveness data to obtain necessary regulatory
approvals. Data obtained from preclinical and clinical activitics are subject to varying interpretations,
which may delay, limit or prevent regulatory approval.

If we cannot negotiate and maintain collaborative ari‘angements with third parties, our research,
development, manufacturing, sales and marketing activities may not be cost-effective or successful,

Our success will depend in significant part on our ability to attract and maintain collaborative partners
and strategic relationships to support the development, manufacture, sale, marketing and dlstnbuuon of
picoplatin and any other future product candidates in the United States and Europe.

We have entered into an-exclusive worldwide license, as amended, with Genzyme Corporation
(successor to AnorMED, Inc.) for the development and commercial sale of picoplatin. Under that license,
we are solely responsible for the development and commercialization of picoplatin. Genzyme retains the
right, at our cost, to prosecute its patent applications and maintain all licensed patents. The parties
executed the license agreement in April 2004, at which time we paid a one-time upfront milestone payment
of $1.0 million in common stock and $1.0 million in cash. The original agreement excluded Japan from the
licensed territory and provided for $13.0 million in development and commercialization milestones,
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payable in cash or a combination of cash and common stock, and a royalty rate of up to 15% on product
net sales after regulatory approval. The parties amended the license agreement on September 18, 2006,
modifying several key financial terms and expanding the licensed territory to include Japan, thereby
providing us worldwide rights. In consideration of the amendment, we paid Genzyme $5.0 million in cash
on October 12, 2006 and will pay Genzyme an additional $5.0 million in cash by March 31, 2007. The
amcndment eliminates all development milestone payments to Genzyme. Genzyme remains entitled to
receive up to $5.0 million in commercialization milestones upon the attainment of certain levels of annual
net sales of picoplatin after regulatory approval. The amendment also reduces the royalty payable to
Genzyme to a maximum of 9% of annual net product sales. In addition, the amendment reduces the
sharing of sublicense revenues for any sublicenses entered into during the first year following the
amendment and eliminates the sharing of sublicense revenues with Genzyme on and after September 18,
2007. We currently plan to initiate a Phase III trial of picoplatin in small cell lung cancer in the first half of
2007, with the goal of filing an NDA with the FDA in 2009. However, because we cannot predict the length
of time to regulatory approval, if any, or the extent of annual sales, if any, of picoplatin, we are unablc to
predict when or if the milestone and royalty payments under our license agreement with Genzyme may be
triggered. The licensc agreement may be terminated by either party for breach, or if the other party files a
petition in bankruptey or insolvency or for reorganization or is dissolved, liquidated or makes assignment
for the benefit of creditars, We can terminate the license at any time upon prior written notice to
Genzyme. If not carlier terminated, the license agreement will continue in effect, in each country in the
territory in which the licensed product is sold or manufactured, until the earlier of (i) expiration of the last
valid claim of a pending or issued patent covering the licensed product in that country or (i} a specified
number of years after first commercial sale of the licensed product in that country. If Genzyme were to
breach its obligations under the license, or if the license expires or is terminated and we cannot rencw,
replace, extend or preserve our rights under the license agreement, we would be unable to move forward
with our current and planned picoplatin clinical studies. '

On August 4, 2005, we entered into a research funding and option agreement with The Scripps
Research Institute, or TSRI. Under the agrecment, as amended in December 2006, we will provide TSRI
an aggregate of $2.5 million over a 26-month period to fund research relating to synthesis and evaluation
of novel small molecule, multi-targeted protein kinase inhibitors and focal adhesion kinase inhibitors as
therapeutic agents, including for the treatment of cancer. We have the option to negotiate a worldwide
exclusive license to use, enhance and develop any compounds arising from the collaboration. The research
funding is payablc by us to TSRI quarterly in accordance with a negotiated budget. We made an initial
funding payment to TSRI of $137,500, on ‘August 8, 2005. We paid TSRI total funding payments of $1.0
million in 2006, which amount was charged to R&D expense. The agreement provides for aggregate
additional funding payments.of $1.4 million in 2007. We have no assurance that the research funded under
this arrangement will be successful or ultimately will give rise to any viable product candidates. Further,
there can be no assurance that we will be able to negotiate, on acceptable terms, a license with respect to
any compounds arising frem the collaboration.

We are dependent on third-party suppliers for the timely delivery of materials and services and may
experience future interruptions in supply

For our picoplatin product candidate to be successful, we need sufficient, reliable and affordable
supplies of the picoplatin active pharmaceutical ingredient, or AP1, and finished drug product. Sources of
these may be limited, and third-party suppliers may be unable to manufacture picoplatin API and finished
drug product in amounts and at prices necessary to successfully commercialize our picoplatin product.
Moreover, third-party manufacturers must continuously adhere to current Good Manufacturing Practice
(cGMP) regulations enforced by the FDA through its facilities inspection program. If the facilities of these
manufacturers cannot pass a pre-approval plant inspection, the FDA will not grant an NDA for our
proposed products. In complying with cGMP and foreign regulatory requirements, any of our third-party
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manufacturers will be obligated to expend time, money and effort in production, record-keeping and )
quality control to assure that our products meet applicable specifications and other requirements. If any of
our third-party manufacturers or suppliers fails to comply w:th these requirements, we may be subject to |
regulatory action. . . .

We have a limited supply of picoplatin drug product that was manufactured by a prior licensee and
supplier. The drug product has been demonstrated to be stable for up to 30 months from the date of
manufacture. Qur current supply will not be sufficient for our current and planned clinical trials. We have
no experience in drug formulation or manufacturing, and we lack the resources and capability to
manufacture picoplatin or any other product candidate on a clinical or commercial scale. As a result, we
rely on third parties to manufacture picoplatin API and finished drug product for our clinical trials. We
currently have separate agreements with one supplier each of API and finished drug product.
Manufacturing services under these agreements are provided on a purchase order, fixed-fec basis. Unless
carlier terminated, each agreement continues for an initial term ending December 31, 2009 and may be
extended beyond the initial term upon agreement of the parties. The agrccments generally provide that
they may be terminated by either party if there is a material breach by the other party that remains
uncured or in the event of solvency or bankruplcy of the other party. We may terminate the finished drug
supply agreement at any time with one year’s advance notice. We may terminate the APl manufacturing
agreement if there is a change in control of the manufdcturer We have no assurance that our current
suppliers will be able to manufacture sufficient picoplatin API and/or finished drug product on a timely or
cost-effective basis at all times in the future. If we are required to seek out alternative manufacturers, we
may incur sngnlflcant additional costs and suffer delays in, or be prevented from, completing or 1n|t|atmg
our ongoing or planned clinical trials.

We also rely on third-party contractors to perform for us, or assist us with, the set-up, conduct,
support and management of our clinical studies. Because these contractors provide specialized services,
their activities and quality of performance may be outside our direct control. If these contractors do not
perform their contractual duties or obligations, do not meet expected deadlines, or need to be replaced, or
if the quality or accuracy of the clinical data they obtain is compromised due to thie failure to adhere to our
clinical trial protocols or for any other reasons, we may need to enter into new arrangements with
alternative third parties. In any of these circumstances were to occur, our clinical trials may be extended,
delayed or terminated or may need to be repeated, and we may not be able to obtain regulatoxy approval
for or commercialize the product candldate being tested i in such trials.

We currently have no sales and marketing staff or dlstrlhutlon organization. If we are unable to
develop sales, marketing and distribution.capabilities on our own or through collaborations with
corporate partners, we may not be successful in commercializing our future products,

None of our current employees has experience selling, marketing and distributing therapeutic
products. To the extent we are successful in obtaining approval for the commercial sale of picoplatin or any
other product candidate, we may need to secure one or more corporate partners to conduct these
activities. We may not be able to enter into partnering arrangements in a timely manner or on terms
acceptable to us. To the extent that we enter into co-promotion or other licensing arrangements, our
product revenues are likely to be lower than it we directly marketed and sold our products, and any
revenues we receive would depend upon the efforts of third parties, which efforts may not be successful. If
we are not able 1o secure adequate partnering arrangements, we would have to hire additional employees
or consultants with expertise in sales, marketing and distribution. Employees with relevant skills may not
be available to us. Additionally, any increase in the number of employees would increase our expense level
and could have a material adverse effect on our financial position. If we are not successful in ‘
commercializing any future products, either on our own or through collaborations with one or more
parties, our future product revenue will suffer and we may incur significant additional losscs.
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We face substantial competition in the development of cancer therapies and may not be able to
compete successfully, and our potential products may be rendered obsolete by rapid technological change.

The competition for development of cancer therapies is substantial. There is intense competition from
biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies, as well as academic research institutions, clinical reference
labaratories and government agencies that are pursuing research and development activities similar to ours
in the United States and abroad. Qur initial focus for picoplatin is small cell lung cancer, the most
agpressive and deadly form of lung cancer. Although platinum therapics arc the preferred treatment, no
FDA-approved therapics are available for patients with platinum-refractory or -resistant disease. If
approved, picoplatin will be competing with cxisting treatment regimens, as well as emerging therapices for
small cell lung cancer and other platinum-based therapeutics. Large pharmaceutical/biotechnology
companics, including Bristol-Mycr Squibb Company, Bayer Schering Pharma AG, Dainippon Sumitomo
Pharma Co. Ltd., Eli Lilty and Company, GlaxoSmithKline PLC, Novartis AG, Pfizer Inc.,

Genentech, Inc., Shionogi & Co. Ltd., SK Pharma and Sanofi-Aventis Group, are marketing and/or
developing therapedtics in late-stage clinical trials for the treatment of small cell lung cancer or platinum
agents for the treatment of cancer. Multiple biotechnology companies are engaged in clinical trials for the
treatment of small cell lung cancer and other platinum-based therapeutics, including Actcrna Zentaris
Inc., Access Pharmaceuticals Inc., GPC Biotech AG, Onyx Pharmaceuticals Inc., Pharmion Corporation,
Sunesis Pharmaceuticals Inc., Keryx Biopharmaceuticals Inc., Transave Inc., Vion Pharmaccuticals Inc.,
PharmaMar (Zeltia Group), InmunoGen, Inc., Meabco A/S, Antigenics, Inc., Ipsen Group and Menarini
Group. As we expand the utility of picoplatin into other oncology indications such as hormone-refractory
prostate cancer and colorectal cancer, we will be facing additional competition from major pharmaccutical
companies, biotechnology companies, research institutions and government agencies. We cannot assure
you that we will be able to effectively compete with these or future third party product development
programs. Many of our existing or potential competitors have, or have access to, substantially greater
financial, research and development, marketing and production resources than we do and may be better
equipped than we are to develop, manufacture and market competing products. Further, our competitors
.may have, or may develop and introduce, new products that would render our picoplatin or any other
proposed product candidates less competitive, uneconomical or obsolete.

If we are unable to protect our proprietary rights, we may not be able to compete effectively, or
operate profitably. ' '

Our success is dependent in part on obtaining, maintaining and enforcing our patents and other
proprictary rights and our ability to avoid infringing the proprictary rights of others. The United States
Patent and Trademark Office, or the USPTO, may not issue patents from the patent applications owned by
or licenscd to us. If issucd, the patents may not give us an advantage over compemors with similar
technologies.

The issuance of a patent is not conclusive as to its validity or enforccability and it is uncertain how -
much protection, if any, will bc given to our patents if we attempt to enforce them and they are challenged
in court or in other proceedings, such as oppositions, which may be brought in forcign jurisdictions to
challenge the valldlly of a patent. A third party may challenge the validity or enforccability of a patent after
its issuance by the USPTO. It is possible that a competitor may successfully challenge our patents or that a
challenge will result in limiting their coverage. Morcover, the cost of litigation to uphold the validity of
patents and to prevent iifringement can be substantial. If the outcome of litigation is adverse (o us, third
partics may be able to usc our patented invention without payment to us. Morcover, it is possible that
competitors may infringe our patents or successfully avoid them through design innovation. We may nced
to file lawsuits to stop these activities. These lawsuits can be expensive and-would consume time and other
resources; even if we were successful in stopping the violation of our patent rights. In addition, there is a
risk that a court would decide that our patents are not valid and that we do not have the right to stop the
other party from using the inventions. There is also the risk that, even if the validity of our patents was
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upheld, a court would refuse to stop the other party on the ground that its activities do not infringe our
patents. : _

In addition, the protection afforded by issued patents is limited in duration. With respect 1o
picoplatin, in the United States we expect to rely primarily on US Patent Number 5,665,771 (expiring
February 7, 2016), which is licensed to us by Genzyme, and additional licensed patents expiring in 2016
covering picoplatin in the Europe Union. The FDA has also designated picoplatin as an orphan drug for
the treatment of small cell lung cancer under the provisions of the Qrphan Drug Act, which entitles us to
exclusive marketing rights for picoplatin in the United States for seven years following market approval.
We may also be able to rely on the Hatch-Waxman Act to extend the term of a U.S. patent covering -
picoplatin after regulatory approval, if any, of such product in the United States.

Under our license agreement with Genzyme, Genzyme retains the right to prosecute its patent
applications and maintain all licensed patents, with us reimbursing such expenses. We have the right to sue
any third party infringers of the picoplatin patents. If we do not file suit, Genzyme, in its sole discretion,
has the right to sue the infringer at its expense.

In addition to the inteliectual property rights described above, we rely on unpatented technology,
trade secrets and confidential information. Therefore, others may independently develop substantially
equivalent information and techniques or otherwise gain access to or disclose our technology. We may not
be able to effectively protect our rights in unpatented technology, trade secrets and confidential
information. We require each of our employees, consultants and advisors to execute a confidentiality
agreement at the commencement of an employment or consulting relationship with us. However, these
agreements may not provide effective protection of our information or, in the event of unauthorized use or
disclosure, may not provide adequate remedies.

The use of our technologies could potentially conflict with the rights of others.

OQur competitors or others may have or may acquire patent rights that they could enforce against us.
In such case, we may be required to alter our products, pay licensing fees or cease activities. If our products
conflict with patent rights of others, third parties could bring legal actions against us claiming damages and
seeking to enjoin manufacturing and marketing of the affected products. If these legal actions are
successful, in addition to any potential liability for damages, we could be required to obtain a license in
order to continue to manufacture or market the affected products. We may not prevail in any legal action
and a required license under the patent may not be available on acceptable terms.

We may incur substantial costs as a result of litigation or other proceedings relating to patent and
other intellectual property rights.

The cost to us of any litigation or other proceedings relating to intellectual property rights, even if
resolved in our favor, could be substantial. Some of our competitors may be better able to sustain the costs
of complex patent litigation because they have substantially greater resources. If there is litigation against
us, we may not be able to continue our operations. If third parties file patent applications, or are issued
patents claiming technology also claimed by us in pending applications, we may be required to participate
in interference proceedings in the USPTO to determine priority of invention, We may be required to
participate in interference proceedings involving our issued patents and pending applications. We may be
required to cease using the technology or license rights from prevailing third parties as a result of an
unfavorable outcome in an interference proceeding. A prevailing party in that case may not offer us a
license on commercially acceptable terms.

In April 2003, we received $10.0 million from the sale to Boston Scientific Corporation, or BSC, of
certain non-core patents and patent applications and the grant to BSC of exclusive license rights to certain
non-core patents and patent applications. BSC originally asserted four such patents in two lawsuits against
Johnson & Johnson, Inc., its subsidiary, Cordis Corporation, and Guidant Corporation, alleging
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infringement of such patents. In both lawsuits, the defendants denied infringement and asserted invalidity
and unenforceability of the patents. BSC subsequently withdrew three of the patents from the litigation,
including the patents that werc assigned to BSC. BSC acquired Guidant in April 2006. Although we are
not currently a party to the lawsuits, our management and counsel have been deposed in connection with
the lawsuits. It is possible that BSC, if it is unsuccessful or has limited success with its claims, may seek
damages from us, including recovery of all or a portion of the amounts it paid to us in 2003. We cannot
assess the likelihood of whether such claim will be brought against us or the extent of recovery, if any, on
any such claim.

Product liability claims in excess of the amount of our insurance would adversely affect our financial
condition.

The testing, manufacture, marketing and sale of picoplatin and any other proposed cancer therapy
products, including past clinical and manufacturing activities in connection with our terminated STR
radiotherapeutic, may subject us to product liability claims. We are insured against such risks up to a
$10.0 million annual aggregate limit in connection with clinical trials of our products under development
and intend to obtain product liability coverage in the future. However, insurance coverage may not be
available to us at an acceptable cost. We may not be able to obtain insurance coverage that will be
adequate to satisfy any liability that may arise. Regardless of merit or eventual outcome, product liability
claims may result in decreased demand for a product, injury to our reputation, withdrawal of clinical trial
volunteers and loss of revenues. As a result, regardless of whether we are insured, a product liabitity claim
or product recall may result in fosses that could be material.

Our past use of radioactive and other hazardous materials exposes us to the risk of material
environmental liabilities, and we may incur significant additional costs to comply with environmental laws
in the future,

Our past research and development and manufacturing processes, as well as the manufacturing
processes that may have been used by our collaborators, involved the controlled use of hazardous and
radioactive materials. As a result, we are subject to foreign, federal, state and local laws, rules, regulations
and policies governing the use, generation, manufacture, storage, air emission, effluent discharge, handling
and disposal of certain materials and wastes in connection with our use of these matertals. Although we
believe that our safety procedures for handling and disposing of such materials complied with the
standards prescribed by such laws and regulations, we may be required to incur significant costs to comply
with environmental and health and safety regulations in the future. Because we have discontinued
operations in facilities that have had past research and manufacturing processes where hazardous ot
radioactive materials have been in use, we may have significant decommissioning costs associated with the
termination of operation of these facilities. These potential decommissioning costs also may reduce the
market value of the facilities and may limit our ability to sell or otherwise dispose of these facilities in a
timely and cost-effective manner. We have terminated our STR manufacturing operations in Denton,
Texas and are actively marketing the facility for sale. In 2003, we recorded costs associated with the closure
of the Denton facility of $0.9 million. We estimate costs in 2006 related to these activities at $0.2 million.
These costs could increase substantially, depending on actions of regulators or if we discover previously
unknown contamination in or around the facility. In addition, the risk of accidental contamination or injury
from hazardous or radioactive materials cannot be completely eliminated. In the event of such an accident,
we could be held liable for any resulting damages, and any such liability could exceed our resources. Our
current insurance does not cover liability for the clean-up of hazardous waste materials or other
environmental risks.

+
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Even if we bring products to market, changes in health care reimbursement could adversely affect our
ability to effectively price our products or obtain adequate reimbursement for sales of our products.

Potential sales of our products may be affected by the availability of reimbursement from governments
or other third parties, such as insurance companies. 1t is difficult to predict the reimburscment status of
newly approved, novel medical products. In addition, third-party payors are increasingly challenging the
prices charged for medical products and services. If we succeed in bringing onc or more products to
market, we cannot be certain that these products will be considered cost-effective and that reimburscment
to the consumer will be available or will be sufficient to allow us to competitively or profitably sell our
products.

The levels of revenues and profitability of biotechnology companies may be affected by the continuing
efforts of government and third-party payors to contain or reduce the costs of health care through various
means, For example, in certain forcign markets, pricing or profitability of prescription pharmaccuticals is
subject to governmental control. In the United States, there have been, and we cxpect that there will
continue to be, a number of federal and state proposals to implement similar governmental controls. It is
uncertain what legislative proposals will be adopted or what actions fedcral, state or private payors for
hcalth care goods and services may take in response to any hcalth carc reform proposals or legislation.
Even in the absence of statutory change, market forces are changing the health care sector. We cannot
predict the effect health care reforms may have on the development, testing, commercialization and
marketability of our proposed cancer therapy products. Further, to the extent that such proposals or
reforms have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition and profitability of other
companies that are prospective collaborators for certain of our potential products, our ability to
commerciatize our products under development may be adversely affected.

The loss of key employees could adversely affect our operations,

Alan Glassberg, M.DD. resigned as our chief medical officer effective March 15, 2007. Although
Dr. Glassberg was an exccutive officer of the Company, we did not experience any material disruptions as
a consequence of his resignation. Dr. Glassberg will serve on our clinical advisory board and provide us .
consulting services.

Susan D. Berland resigned as our chief financial officer effective July 21, 2006. Although Ms. Berland
was an exccutive officer of the company, we did not experience any material disruptions or delays as a
consequence of her resignation. Caroline M. Loewy was appointed executive vice president, strategic
planning on June 23, 2006 and assumed the role of chief financial officer of the company upon
Ms. Berland’s departure, Michae! K. Jackson, formerly corporate controller, was appointed principal
accounting officer of the company effective July 21, 2006. : ' .

As of December 31, 2006, we had a total workforce of 29 full-time émployces and 6 part-time
employees. In September 2006, we moved our corporate headquarters to newly leased facilities in South
San Francisco. We intend 1o maintain clinical development and support activities and facilities in Seattle
and do not have plans to relocate any of our 24 ecmployees currently in Seattle. Our success depends, to a
significant extent, on the continued contributions of our principal management and scientific personnel
participating in our picoplatin development program. We have limited or no redundancy of personnel in
key development areas, including finance, legal, clinical operations, regulatory affairs and quality control
and assurance. The loss of the services of one or more of our employees could delay our picoplatin product
development activities or any other proposed programs and research and-development efforts. We do not

- maintain key-person life insurance on any of our officers, employees or consultants.

Competition for qualified employecs among companies in the biotechnology and biopharmaceutical
industry is intense. Qur future success depends upon our ability to attract, retain and motivate highly
skilled employees and consultants. In order to commercialize our proposed products successfully, we will in
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the future be required to substantially expand our workforce, particularly in the arcas of manufacturing,
clinical trials management, regutatory affairs, business development and sales and marketing, These
activities will require the addition of new persennel, including management, and the devclopmem of
additional expertise by existing management personnel.-

We have change of control agreements and severance agreements with all of our executive officers
and consulting agreements with various of our scientific advisors. OQur agrcements with our executive
officers provide for “at will” employment, which mecans that each executive may terminate his or her
service with us at any time. ln additjon, our scientific adwsors mady terminate their services to us at any
time. .

Risks Related to Our Common Stock °

Our common stock may be delisted from The Nasdaq Capital Market if we are unable to maintain
compliance with Nasdaq Capital Market continued listing requirerients.

Our common stock listing was transferred from The Nasdaq Global Market (formerly The Nasdaq
National Market) to The Nasdaq Capital Market (formerly the Ndsdaq SmallCap Market) on March 20,
2003. We clected to seek a transfer to The Ndsdaq Cdpl[a] Market because we had been unable to regain
compliance with The Nasdaq Global Market minimum $1.00 bid price requirement for continued listing.
By transferring to The Nasdaq Capital Market; we were afforded an extended grace period in which to
satisfy The Nasdaq Capital Market $1.00 minimum bid price requirement. On May 6, 2003, we received
notice from Nasdaq confirming that we were in compliance with the $1.00 minimum bid price requirement.
We will not be eligible to relist our common stock on The Nasdaq Global Market unless and until our
common stock maintains a minirhum bid price of $5.00 per share for 90 consecutive trading days and we -
otherwise comply with the initial listing requirements for The Nasdaq Global Market. Trading on the
Nasdaq Capital Market may have a negative impact on the value of our common stock, because securities
trading on the Nasdaq Capital Market typically are less liquid than those traded on The Nasdaq Giobal
Market.

On August 7, 2006, we received a notice from Nasdaq indicating that we were not in compliance with
Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 4310(¢)(4) (the Minimum Bid Price Requiremént) because the closing bid price
of our common stock had been below $1.00 per share for thirty consecutive trading days. We completed a
one-for-six reverse stock split on September 22, 2006. On October 10, 2006, we received a notice from
Nasdaq stating that we had regained compliance with the Minimum Bid Price Requirement because the
closing bid price of our common stock had been at or above $1.00 per share for ten consecutive trading
days. The closing bid price of our common stock may in the future fall below the Minimum Bid Price
Requirement or we may in the future fail to meet other requirements for continued listing on the Nasdag
Capital Market. If we are unable to cure any future cvents of noncompliance in a timely or effective
manner, our cominon stock could be delisted from The Nasdaq Capital Market.: :

If our common stock were to'be delisted from The Nasdaq Capital Market, we' may seek quotation on
a regional stock exchange, if available. Such listing could reduce the market liquidity for our common
stock. If our common stock is not eligible for quotation on another market or exchange, trading of our
common stock could be conducted in the over-the- counter market on an clectronic butletin board
established for unlisted securities such as the Pmk Sheets or the OTC Bulletin Board. As a result, an
investor would find it more difficult to dispose of, or obtain accurate quotations for the price of, our
common stock.

If our common stock were to be delisted from The Nasdaq Capital Market, and our trading price
remained below $5.00 per share, trading in our common stock might also become subject 10 the
requirements of certain rules promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, which require
additional disclosure by broker-dealers in connection with any trade involving a stock defined as a “penny.
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stock” (generally, any equity security not listed on a national sccurities exchange or quoted on Nasdaq that
has a market price of less than $5.00 per share, subject to certain exceptions). Many brokerage firms are
reluctant to recommend low-priced stocks to their clients. Moreover, various regulations and policics
restrict the ability of shareholders to borrow against or “margin” low-priced stocks, and declines in the
stock price below certain levels may trigger unexpected margin calls. Additionally, because brokers’
commissions on low-priced stocks generally represent a higher percentage of the stock price than
commissions on higher priced stocks, the current price of the common stock can result in an individual
shareholder paying transaction costs that represent a higher percentage of total share value than would be
the casc if our share price were higher. This factor may also limit the willingness of institutions to purchase
our common stock. Finally, the additional burdens imposed upon broker-dealers by these requirements
could discourage broker- dealers from facilitating trades in our common stock, which could severely limit
the market liquidity of the stock and the ability of investors to trade our common stock.

Our stock price is volatile and, as a result, yon could lose some or all of your investment.

There has been a history of significant volatility in the market prices of securities of biotechnology
companies, including our common stock. In 2005, the reported high and low closing sale prices of our
common stock were $2.34 and $0.47. In 2004, the reported high and low closing sale prices were $5.78 and
$1.43. The reported high and low closing sale prices during the period from January 3, 2006 through
September 22, 2006 (the last trading day preceding the cffectiveness of our one-for-six reverse stock split)
were $1.57 and $0.50. The reported high and low closing sale prices during the period from September 25,
2006 through December 31, 2006 (after the effective date of the reverse stock split} were $7.74 and $3.00.
Qur stock price has been and may continue to be affected by this type of market volatility, as well as our
own performance. Qur business and the rclatlve price of our commaon stock may be influenced by a large
variety of factors, including:

¢ announcements by us or our competitors concarning acquisitions, strategic alliances, technological
innovations, new commercial products or changes in product development strategies;

s the availability of critical materials used in developing our proposcd_picoplatin product;

* our ability to conduct our picoplatin clinical development program on a timely and cost-effective
basis and the progress and results of our clinical trials and those of our competitors;

¢ developments concerning patents, proprietary rights and potential infringement;
* developments concerning potential agreements with collaborators;

 the expense and time associated with, and the extent of our ultimate suceess in, securing regulatory
approvals;

s our available cash or other sources of funding; and
« future sales of significant amounts of our common stock by us or our shareholders,

In addition, potential public concern about the safety of our proposed picoplatin product and any
other products we develop, comments by securities analysts, our ability to maintain the listing of our
common stock on the Nasdaq system, and conditions in the capital markets in gencral and in the life
science capital market specifically, may have a significant effect on the market price of our common stock.
The realization of any of the risks déscribed in this report, as well as other factors, could have a material
adverse impact on the market price of our common stock and may result in a loss of some or all of your
investment in our securities.

In the past, securities class action litigation often has been brought against companies following
periods of volatility in their stock prices. We may in the future be the target of similar litigation. Securities
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litigation could result in substantial costs and divert our management’s time and resources, which could
cause our business to suffer,

Certain provisions in our articles of incorporation and Washington state law could discourage a
change of control.

Our articles of incorporation authorize our board of directors to issue up to 200,000,000 shares of
common stock and up to 2,998,425 shares of preferred stock. With respect to preferred stock, our board
has the authority to determine the price, rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions, including voting
rights, of those shares without any further vote or action by our sharcholders. Our sharcholder rights plan
adopted on April 10, 1996, and the preferred stock purchase rights issued to each common shareholder
thercunder, expired on April 10, 2006. ’ '

Washington law imposes restrictions on certain transactions between a corporation and significant
shareholders. Chapter 23B.19 of the Washington Business Corporation Act prohibits a target corporation,
with some exceptions, from engaging in particular significant business transactions with an acquiring
person, which is defined as a person or group of persons that beneficially owns 10% or more of the voting
securitics of the target corporation, for a period of five years after the date the acquiring person first
became a 10% beneficial owner of voting securities of the target corporation, unless the business
transaction or the acquisition of shares is approved by a majority of the members of the target
corporation’s board of dircctors prior to the time the acquiring person first became a 10% beneficial owner
of the target corporation’s voting securities. Prohibited business transactions include, among other things:

» a merger or consolidation with, disposition of assets to, or issuance or redemption of stock to or
from the acquiring person; :

» termination of 5% or more of the employees of the targei corporation; or
e receipt by the acquiring person of any disproportionate benefit as a shareholder.

After the five-ycar period, a significant business transaction may occur if it complics with “fair price”
provisions specified in the statute. A corporation may not opt out of this statute. This provision may have
an antitakeover effect with respect to transactions that our board does not approve in advance.

The provisions of our articles of incorporation and Washington law discussed above may have the
effect of delaying, deterring or preventing a change of control of the company, cven if this change would be
beneficial to our sharcholders. These provisions also may discourage bids for our common stock at a
premium over market price and may adversely affect the market price of, and the voting and other rights of
the holders of, our common stock. In addition, these provisions could make it more difficult to replace or
remove our current directors and management in the event our shareholders believe this would be in the
best interests of the corporation and our shareholders.

As a result of the closing of our 2006 equity financing, the number of shares of our common stock
outstanding increased substantially and certain investors beneficially own significant blocks of our
common stock; such common shares are generally available for resale in the public market.

On April 26, 2006, we completed a $65.0 million equity financing pursuant to a securities purchase
agreement dated as of February 1, 2006. In connection with the equity financing, we issued to a small
group of institutional and other accredited investors an aggregate of 15.5 million shares of common stock
at a cash purchase price of $4.20 per sharc. Investors in the financing also received five-year warrants to
purchase an aggregate of 4.6 million shares of common stock at an exercise price of $4.62 per share.
Concurrent with the closing of the financing, we issucd an aggregate of 1.6 million shares of common stock
to the holders of our Scries B preferred stock upon conversion'of their outstanding Serics B preferred
shares. At the time of closing, the placcment agent for the financing also received a five-year warrant to
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purchase, on the same terms as the investors, 139,000 common shares. The issuance of such shares and
warrants resulted in substantial dilution to shareholders who held our common stock prior to the financing.

As a result of the completion of the financing and the conversion of the Series B preferred shares, our
outstanding common stock increased from approximately 5.7 million shares to approximately 22.8 million
shares. Entities affiliated with MPM Capital Management (MPM) acquired beneficial ownership of 7.7
million common shares or approximately 31.5% of our common stock outstanding immediately following
the financing. Entities affiliated with Bay City Capital Management 1V LLC (BCC) acquired beneficial
ownership of 4.6 million common shares, or approximately 19.5% of the common shares outstandmg
immediately following the financing. Two of our dircctors, Fred B. Craves and Carl S. Goldﬁscher are
managing directors of BCC and possess capital and carried interests in the BCC entitics that participated
in the financing. We have agreed, for as long as MPM owns at least 109 of the shares of common stock
and warrants purchased in the financing, to use our best efforts to causc one person designated by MPM
and one person designated by mutual agreement of MPM and BCC to be nominated and elected to our
board of directors. Nicholas J. Simon I1I, a representative of MPM, was appointed to our board of
directors on April 26, 2006. Mr. Simon is a general partner of certain of the MPM entities that partncnpated
in the financing and possesses capital and carried interests in those entities, .

Pursuant to the securities purchase agreement, we maintain an effective registration statement with
the SEC covering the resale of the 15.5 million shares of common stock issued in the equity financing and
the 4.6 million shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants. Accordingly, these shares
are generally available for immediate resale in the public market. In addition, the approximately 1.6
million shares of common stock issued upon conversion of the Series B preferred stock currently are
available for immediate resale pursuant to a registration statement or an exemption from registration
under Rule 144(k) of the Securities Act. The market price of our common stock could fall as a result of
such resales due to the incréased number of shares available for sale in the market,

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We file annual, quarterly and current reports, as well as registration and proxy statements and other
information, with the SEC. These documents may be read and copied at the SEC’s public reference rooms
in Washington, DC, New York, NY and Chicago IL. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further
information on the public reference rooms. Qur SEC filings also are available to the public at the Internet
web site maintained by the SEC at www.sec.gov. Our reports filed with the SEC after January 1, 2003, also
are available on our web site, www.poniard.com. The information contained in our web sité does not
constitute part of, nor is it incorporated by reference into, this report. We will provide paper copies of our
SEC filings free of charge upon request.

Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not Applicable.

Item 2. PROFPERTIES

In Scplcmbcr 2006, we relocated our corporate headquarters to 7000 Shoreline Court in South San
Francisco, CA, where we lease 17,000 square feet of office and laboratory space under a lease that expires
in July 2011.

We a!so currently occupy approximately 21,000 square feet of office space located at 300 Elliott
Avenue West in Sealtle, WA, under a lease that expires in July 2009. Through May 2006, we occupied
approximalely 2,900 square feet in a building and a parking area adjacent to 410 West Harrison Street,
Seattle, WA. The lease on this space expired on May 31, 2006. '
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We belicve that the foregoing facilitics are in good condition and are adequate for their present uses.

In April 2001 we acquired a radiopharmaccutical manufacturing facility located on 12 acres in
Denton, Texas. The main building is approximately 88,000 square feet and houses approximately 12,000
square feet of clean rooms. From 2001 to 20035, we used the facility to manufacture our STR
radiotherapeutic compound. In May 2003, we announced the immediate implementation of a strategic
restructuring program to refocus our limited resourced on the development of picoplatin. The
restructuring plan, which was completed in June 2005, included cessation of manufacturing operations at
the Denton facility. We are actively working to sell this facility.

ftem 3.  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Not Applicable.

Item 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
Not Applicable.
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' PART Il

Item5.  MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

Our common stock is listed on the The Nasdaq Capital Market (formerly the Nasdaq SmallCap *
Market). The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low sales prices for our
common stock as reported on The Nasdaq Capital Market. These quotations reflect inter-dealer prices -
without retail mark-up, markdown or commission, and may not necessarily repres'ept actual transactions.

High  Low
2006
First Quarter . ..ov it i i i et e e, $1.57 %072
Second QUarter . ... i e e e e 1.37 0.95
Third Quarter. . .. ... ... iy 570 0.50(1)
Fourth QUarter .. ...ttt et et nens 774 325
2005
First QUArter ..ottt ettt e e e e e $234 3%099
Second QUATIET . ...ttt e 0.97 0.47
Third QUarter. .. ... e i i e e e et i e 1.12 0.62

Fourth Quarter ..ot et e et tesaraanas 1.26 0.75

(1) On September 22, 2006, the Company effected a one-for-six reverse split of its outstanding common
stock,

The closing sale price of cur common stock on The Nasdaq Capital Market was $5.80 on March 8,
2007.

There were approximately 891 shareholders of record on March 8, 2007. This figure does not include
the number of shareholders whose shares are held on record by a broker or clearing agency, but includes
such a brokerage house or clearing agency as one holder of record.

See Part II1. Item 12 for information regarding securities authorized for issuance under our incentive
compensation pians.
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Stock Price Performance Graph

The graph below compares the cumulative total shareholder return on our common stock with the
cumnulative shareholder return of the Nasdaq Stock Market Index (US) and the Nasdaq Pharmaceuticals
Stocks Index. Stock price performance shown below is historical and not necessarily indicative of future
price performance.

Comparison of Five-Year Cumulative Total Return Among Poniard Pharmaceuticals, Inc;,
Nasdaq Stock Market (US) and Nasdaq Pharmaceuticals Stocks Index (1)

$150

$100 e

$50 — ' /\

$0 T T — T T T
2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 -
—— Poniard Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
' —=—Nasdaq Stock Market Index (US)

—— Nasdaq Pharmaceutical Index
: . 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
Poniard Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ... ..., $100 $7 $72 $36 $13 $ 14
Nasdaq Stock Market Index (US)..................... 100 69 103 ° 112 115 126
Nasdaq Pharmaceutical Index...................... .. 100 65 9 101 111 109

{1) Assumes $100 invested on January 1, 2001, in our common stock, the Nasdaq Stock Market Index and
the Nasdaq Pharmaceutical Stocks Index, an index of approximately 217 companies with common
stock quoted on the Nasdaq National Market. The Primary Standard Industrial Classification Code
Number {SIC) of these companies is #2835 - Pharmaceutical Companies. Total return performance
for the Nasdaq Stock Market Index and the Nasdaq Pharmaceutical Stocks Index is weighted based on
the market capitalization of the firms included in each index and assumes that dividends are
reinvested. The Nasdaq Stock Market Index and the Nasdaq Pharmaceutical Stocks Index are
produced and published by the Center for Research in Securities Pricing at the University of Chicago.
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ftem 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

The following table shows selected financial data. It is important to read this selected financial data
along with the “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data,” as well as the “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
(in thousands) B

»

Consolidated Statement uf Operations Data: .
Revenues. ... $ —  § 15 § 1,015 $10,531 § 11,054

Operating Xpenses .........ovvvivannennen. 21,234 21,075 20,502 15,218 34,949

Loss from operations. .. ...........ooo ol (21,234) (21,060} (19487) (4,687) (23,895)
Netloss. ..o, (23,294) (20997 (19.371)  (5,059)  (23,093)
Net loss applicable to common shareholders .. (23,794)  (21,497y (19.871) (7,535) (23,593)

Net loss per common share—basic and diluted  § (1.37) § (3.83) § (3.96) $ (1.68) $ (534)

Weighted average common shares

. outstanding—basic and diluted . . . ...... ... 17,376 5,611 5,024 4,547 4,441
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash. . ... $ 44284 § 4523 § 16,234 $15166 § 6,564
Investment securities. ....... ... covevvnnnn 9,562 — 1,499 12,335 9,572
Working capital {deficit).................... 42,299 (1,880) 15,689 26,064 14,195
Total assets .. ...t e 69,067 10,114 27,436 35,691 25,993
Note payable, net of current portion ......... 9,975 — 3,905 4,112 5,182
Shareholders’ equity .............. ..., $ 46,891 § 3,173 $ 20,828 $29 490 % 17,576
Item 7. MANA GEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS

OF OPERATIONS
* Introduction

The following discussion of results of operations, liquiclity and capital resources contains forward-
looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. As described under the heading “Important
Information Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” at the beginning of this report, our actual results
may differ materially from the results discussed in these forward-looking statements. Factors that might
cause or contribute to such differences include those discussed below and in the section above entitled
“Risk Factors.” :

Unless otherwise indicated, all common stock related amounts have been adjusted to reflect our one-
for-six reverse stock split effective September 22, 2006.

Critical Accounting Policies

Basis of Revenue Recognition: . To date, we do not have any significant ongoing revenue sources, On
occasion, we derive significant revenue from the sale or licensing of our patented technologies and from
government grants. Pursuant to the Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin
No. 104 (SAB 104) and Emerging Issues Task Force Consensus No. 00-21, revenues from collaborative
agreements are recognized as earned as we perform research activities under the terms of each agreement.
Billings in excess of amounts earned are classified as deferred revenue. To the extent that a transaction
contains multiple deliverables, we determine whether the multiple deliverables are separable, and, if
separable, the revenue to be allocated to each deliverable based on fair value. If fair value is
undeterminable for undelivered elements of the arrangement, revenue is deferred over the contract period
ot until delivery, as applicable, The revenue allocated to each deliverable is recognized following the
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requirements of SAB 104. For a detailed description of our revenue recognition policy, refer to Note 2,
Summary of Significant Accounting Palicies, of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets: | As of December 31, 2006, we had approximately $0.5 mitlion of
property and equipment. In accounting for these long-lived assets, we make estimates about the expected
useful lives of the assets, the expected residual values of the assets, and the potential for impairment based
on events or circumstances, The events or circumstances could include a significant decrease in market
value, a significant change in asset condition or a significant adverse change in regulatory climate.
Application of the test for impairment requires judgment.

In June 2005, we recognized an asset impairment loss of $3.3 million on certain facilitics and
equipment resulting from our decision to terminate our STR program. The loss on the cquipment at the
Seattle facility was determined based on estimates of potential sales values of used equipment and other
selling costs. In December 2006, we recognized an additional impairment toss of $0.4 miilion on the
Denton manufacturing facility, which was based on our evaluation of market data for this property. We
used a fair value of $2.8 million for the Denton facility in determining the total impairment loss as of
December 31, 2006. Due to the inhcrent uncertainty of the timing of any sale of the Denton facility, we
have classified this asset as a long-term asset held for sale. .

Long-Term Debr:  We assumed a note payable to Texas Statc Bank in connection with the acquisition
of our radiopharmaceutical manufacturing facility in Denton, Texas. In May 2006, we paid off the $2.7
million balance outstanding on the note. ‘

In October 2006, we entered into a loan and security agreement (the loan agreement) with Silicon
Valley Bank and Merrill Lynch Capital, which is secured by a first lien on substantially all of our non-
intellectual property assets. Under the loan agreement, we received capital loan proceeds of $15.0 million
on October 31, 2006. The term is for 42 months with maturity on April 1, 2010. We are required to pay a
7.67% fixed interest rate on the outstanding principal balance plus a $1.35 million additional payment on
the maturity date of the loan. This additional payment will be accreted to the note payable balance over
the term of the loan using the effective interest rate method and reflected as additional interest expense.
The loan agreement also contains covenants requiring us, not later than December 31, 2007, to provide
evidence of positive Phase I1 data for the picoplatin drug development program and commence enrollment
of patients in-a Phase 111 trial for picoplatin. The failure to satisfy these covenants could result in
acceleration of our payment obligations under the loan agreement. In connection with the loan agreement,
we issued five-year warrants to purchase an aggregate of 174,418 shares of common stock at an exercise
price of $4.30 per share. The portion of the loan proceeds allocable to the'warrants is $540,000 based on -
their relative fair value, which we recorded as additional discount to notes payable. We classify the portion
of the loan that is due for payment in 2008 and thereafter as a long-term payable.

Stock Compensation: Beginning January 1, 2006, we account for share-based compensation
arrangements in accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 123R, “Share-Based Payments,” which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation
expense for all share-based payment awards'to employees and directors based on estimated fair values. We
use the Black-Scholes option valuation model to estimate the fair value of our stock options at the date of -
grant. The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of
traded options which have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. QOur employee stock options,
however, have characteristics significantly different from those of traded options. For example, employee
stock options are generally subject to vesting restrictions and are generally not transferable. In addition,
option valuation models require the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the expected stock
price volatility, the expected life of an option and the number of awards ultimately expected to vest;
Changes in subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimates of an oplion:
Furthermore, the estimated fair value of an option does not necessarily represent the value that will
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ultimately be realized by an ecmployee. We use historical data, and other related information as
appropriate, to estimate the expected price volatility, the expected option life and the expected forfeiture
rate. The risk-free rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yicld curve in effect at the time of a grant. If actual
results are not consistent with our assumptions and judgments used in esnmatmg the key assumptions, we
may be required to increase or decrease compensation expense, which could be material to our results of
operations. See “New Accounting Pronouncements” below for additional information.

Results of Operations

. Year Ended December 31, 2006 Compared with December 31, 2005

We had no revenue for 2006, while our revenues for 2005 totaled $15,000. Revenue for 2005 consisted
primarily of royalty payments.

Total operating expenscs increased 1% to $21.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2006, from
$21.1 million for the same period in 2005. Total operating expenses for the year cnded December 31, 2005
included an asset impairment charge of $3.3 miliion. Additionally, a restructuring charge of $1.7 million
was incurred in 2005 relating to termination benefits for the reduction in staff and other costs related to '
the termination of our STR program. ' ‘

Research and development expenses for the year ended December 31, 2006 increased 31% to $13.4
million, from $10.2 million for the same period in 2005. Among the primary componcnts of the increase in
2006 were higher clinical costs of $4.9 million associated with our picoplatin trials and increased costs of
$1.5 million for other R&D efforts, offset by decreased costs of $2.9 million related to the termination of
activities related to our STR program and decreased costs of $0.4 million related to our patent portfolio
maintenance.

General and administrative expenses increased 27% to $7.5 million for the year ended December 31,
2006, from $5.9 million for the same period in 2005. The increase in G&A costs was due primarily to $1.3
million of stock option expense recorded in connection with the adoption of Statement of Financial

Accounting Standard 123R and $0.2 million of expense related to special sharcholder meetings.

Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2006 was $4.0 million, compared to interest expense
of $0.3 million for the same period in 2005. The $3.7 million increase in interest expense for 2006 was due
primarily to the amortization of debt discount in the amount of $3.5 million related to the bridge financing
and $0.1 million related to the Silicon Valley Bank loan, which transactions are discussed below. The.
increase in interest income of $1.6 mitlion for 2006 compared to 2005 is duc to the income from the
investment of excess cash from our 2006 equity financing.

We received approximatcly $62.0 million in net cash proceeds from the sale of common stock and
warrants in April 2006 (the 2006 equity financing}. In connection with the financing, we issued to a group
of institutional and other accredited investors an aggregate of 15.5 million shares of common stock at a
cash purchase price of $4.20 per share. Investors in the financing also received five-year warrants to
purchase an aggregate of 4.6 million shares of common stock at an exercise price of $4.62 per share. As
part of the 2006 equity financing, we received a $3.5 million bridge loan in February 2006 from investors in
the 2006 equity financing. Pursuant the bridge loan, we issued five-year warrants to purchase an aggregate
of approximately 412,000 sharcs of common stock at an exercise price of $4.62 per share. We used the
funds received in the bridge financing for working capital pending receipt of required sharcholder
approvals and satisfaction of other conditions to completion of the 2006 equity financing. The outstanding
principal amount of the bridge notes issued to the investors, together with $63, 000 of accrued interest,
automatically converted, at a conversion price of $4.20 per share, into 839,000 shares of common stock at
the closing of the 2006 cquity financing.
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Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2006 were $44.1 million, compared with $3.5 million at
December 31, 2005.

As discussed below, we currently are conducting multiple ongoing studies of picoplatin and plan to
initiate a Phase I pivotal study in the first half of 2007. In addition, we relocated our corporate
headguarters to office space and laboratory facilities in South San Francisco under 2 five-year lease. These,
as well as increases in personnel and other plans for future growth, are expected to result in significant
increases in our future operating costs, including research and development and administrative expenses.
We will require substantial additional funding to support our picoplatin and any other clinicat development
programs and to fund our operations. In the event that we do not obtain sufficient additional funds, we
may be required to delay, reduce or curtail the scope of our plcoplatm and other proposed development
activities. '

Preferred dividends on Series 1 Preferred Stock were $0.5 million in both 2006 and 2005.

Year Ended December 31, 2005 Compared with December 31, 2004

Our revenues for 2005 totaled $15,000, which primarily consisted of royalty payment‘s. Our revenues
for 2004 totaled $1.0 million, which consisted primarily of milestone payments from Boston Scientific
Corporation.

Total operating expenses increased 3% to $21.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, from
$20.5 million for the same period in 2004.

Research and development expenses for the year ended December 31, 2005 decreased 24% to $10.2
million, from $13.3 million for the same period in 2004. Among the primary components of the decrease
were a $7.3 million decrease in costs related to the STR program, offset by a $3.6 million increase in
picoplatin program development costs, a $0.3 million reduction in shared-cost reimbursements and a $0.3
million increase in development related overhead costs.

General and administrative expenses decreased 17% to $5.9 million for the year ended December 31,
2005, from $7.2 million for the same period in 2004. The decrease in G& A costs was due primarily to a
decrease of $1.0 million for personnel related costs. - :

In March 2005, we raised approxlmately $3.8 million in net proceeds from the sale in a private
placement of 3.3 million shares of common stock. In connection with this private placcment, we issucd
five-year warrants to purchase an aggregate of 1.3 million shares of common stock at an exercise price of
$2.00 per share. The warrants became exercisable beginning September 3, 2005 and are exercisable at any
time during their term. '

Until May 2005, our major research and development program had been STR, a bone-targeting
radiotherapeutic. In May 2005, we announced the immediate implementation of a strategic restructuring
program to refocus our limited resources on the development of picoplatin. The restructuring plan, which
was completed in June 2005, included the discontinuation of our STR development program, including
halting patient enroliment in our Phase I1 trial of STR in multiple myeloma, ceasing operations at our
Denton, Texas facility, where STR was manufactured, and reducing our workforce by approximately 50%.
We recorded restructuring charges against operations totaling $1.7 million during 2005. This charge
consisted of severance costs totaling $0.9 million associated with the reduction in workforce and contract
termination and decommissioning costs of $0.8 million.

We evaluated our STR asscts in light of the restructuring and determined that a likely impairment
existed on those assets. We recorded a charge of $3.3 million against operations in June 2005 to reflect
such impairment. The assct impairment charge reflects the difference in the estimated fair value of assets
as compared to the net book value of assets employed in our STR program.,

.
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In conjunction with our strategic restructuring, in June 2005 we negotiated the early termination of
our STR-related supply agreement with the University of Missouri Research Reactor facility group
(MURR). We paid MURR a fec of $368,000 in connection with such car]y termination. We also paid
MURR $190,000 in minimum purchase requirements under the agreement during 2005

Other income totaled $0.1 million in 2005 and 2004 respectively. These amounts cons:sted of interest
income of $0.3 million, offset by interest expense of $0.2 million. ‘

Preferred dividends on Series 1 Preferred Stock were $0.5 million in both 2005 and 2004.

i

Major Research and Development Programs

Our major research and development program durmg the fiscal ycar ended December 31, 2006 was
picoplatin, a next-generation platinum-based cancer therapy. Our major rescarch and development
program during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 was skeletal targeted radiotherapy
(STR™}), a bone-targeting radiotherapeutic. In May 2005, we discontinued our STR development program
and refocused our resources on the development of picoplatin. This restructuring included terminating
patient enrollment in our Phase I11 trial of STR in multiple myeloma, ceasing operations at our Denton
facility, where STR was manufactured, and reducing our workforce by approximately 50%.

Picoplatin Program.  Picoplatin is a platinum-based chemotherapeutic designed to overcome
platinum resistance in the treatment of solid tumors. We completed patient enrollment in our Phase 11
clinical study of picoplatin in small cell lung cancer in August 2006 and, based on positive median overall
survival data from that ongoing study, plan to initiate a Phase 111 pivotal trial of picoplatin in smali cell
lung cancer in the first half of 2007, In May 2006, we treated our first patients in separate Phase /11 studies
cvaluatmg picoplatin in the front-line treatment of advanced colorectal cancer and hormone-refractory
prostate cancer. We expect to complete patient enrollment in thése ongoing Phase 1 trials and initiate the
Phase [1'components of these trials during the first half of 2007. As of December 31, 2006, we have '
incurred costs of approximately $14.0 million in connection with our picoplatin clinical program since the
program’s inception in 2004. Total estimated costs of our picoplatin Phase Il trial in small cell lung cancer
are expected to be in the range of $3.0 million to $5.0 million through 2007, including the cost of drug
supply. Total estimated costs of our picoplatin Phase I/1I trial in colorectal cancer and our Phase I/I1 trial
in hormone-refractory prostate cancer are cxpected to be in the ranges of $3.0 million to $4.0 million and
$4.0 million to $5.0 million, respectively, through 2007, including the cost of drug supply These costs could
be substantially higher if we have to repeat, revise or expand the scope of any of our trials. Material cash
inflows relating to our picoplatin development program will not commence unless and until we complete
required clinical trials and obtain FDA marketing approvals, and then only if plcoplatm finds acceptance in
the marketplace. To date, we have not received any revenues from product sales of picoplatin.

The risks and uncertaintics associated with completing the development of picoplatin on schedule, or
at all, include the following, as well as the other risks and uncertaintics described in this report:

* we may not have adequate funds to complete the development of. picoplatin'

+ we may be unable to secure adequate supplies of picoplatin active pharmaceutlcal lngredlent and
finished drug product in order, to complete our clinical trials;

« picoplatin may not be shown to be safe and efficacious in clm:cal trials; and

¢ we may be unable to obtain regulatory approva]s of the drug or may be unable 1o obtain such
approvals on a timely basis.
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If we fail to obtain marketing approvals for picoplatin, are unable to secure adequate clinical and
commercial supplies of picoplatin active pharmaceutical ingredient.and finished drug product, or do not
complete development and obtain United States and foreign regulatory approvals on a timely basis, our
operations, financial position and liquidity could be severely impaired, including as follows:

* we would not earn any sales revenue from picoplatin, which would increase the likelihood that we
wotld need to obtain additional financing for our other research and development efforts; and

» our reputation among investors might be harmed, which could make it more difficult for us to
obtain equity capital on attractive terms, or at all.

Because of the many risks and uncertainties relating to completion of clinical trials, receipt of
marketing approvals and acceptance in the marketplace, we cannot predict the period in which material
cash inflows from our picoplatin program will commence, if ever.

Discontinued STR Program. STR is a radiotherapeutic designed to deliver radiation specifically to
sites of cancer in the bone and bone marrow. We have incurred costs of approximately $58.2 million in
connection with the STR program since thé program’s inception in 1998.

We terminated our STR development program in May 2005. Total estimated costs to complete our
STR Phase 11 clinical trial and potentially obtain marketing approval were in the range of $35-40 million,
including cost of clinical drug supply. These costs would have been substantially higher if we were required
1o repeat, revise or expand the scope of our trials or conduct additional clinical trials. Discontinuation of
our STR development program relieved us of the annual costs associated with the program, including
manufacturing, clinical trial and personnel costs. During 2004 thesc costs were approximately $10.2
million. During 2005 these costs were approximately $2.9 mitlion. We are actively seeking a buyer for our
Denton manufacturing facility and our other STR related assets. Given the inherent uncertainty of the’
timing of a sale of the Denton facility, we have classified this asset as long-term.

STR was a clinical stage product for which no marketing approvals had been obtained, We had no
material cash inflows relating to our STR development and did not receive any revenues from product
sales of STR. Due to our decision to curtail our STR development program, there is neither an anticipated
completion date nor an expected period during which material cash inflows will commence, As a
consequence of the restructuring, we are not dependent on the successful development and complction of
our STR program. '

Summary of Research and Development Costs.  Our development administration overhead costs,
consisting of rent, utilities, consulting fees, patent costs and other various overhead costs, are included in
total research and development expense for each period, but are not allocated among our various projects.
Our total research and development costs include the costs of various research efforts directed toward the
identification and evaluation of futurc product candidates. These other research projects are preclinical
and not considered major projects. Our total research and development costs are summarized below:

Summary of Research and Dev_éldpment Costs

2006 2005 2004
{in thousands)
Picoplatin ............ i $ 9058 $ 4,150 § 555
Discontinued programs ...................cooe... 68 2864 10,155
Other overhead and researchcosts ................. 4,230 3,184 2,621
Total reseqrch and development costs. .. ............ $13,356  $10,198 $13,331

Vo
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have historically suffered recurring operating losses and 'ricg'ative cash flows from operations. As
of December 31, 2006, we had net working capital of $42.3 million, an accumulated deficit of $279.6
million and total shareholders’ equity of $46.9 million.

We have financed our operations primarily through the sale of equity securities, technology licensing,
collaborative agreements and debt instruments. We invest excess cash in investment securities that will be
used to fund future operating costs. Cash used for operating activities for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2006 totaled $17.3 million. Revenues and other income sources for 2006 were not sufficient
to cover operating expenses. Cash, cash equivalents and investment securities, net of restricted cash of $0.1
million, totaled $53.7 million at December 31, 2006 compared to $3.5 million at December 31, 2005. We
believe that our cash, cash equivalent and invesiment securities balances will provide adequate resources to
fund operations at least until the end of the first quarter of 2008.

On April 26, 2006, we completed a $65.0 million equity financing, pursuant to which we issued to a
group of institutional and other accredited investors an aggregate of 15.5 million shares of common stock
at a cash purchase price of $4.20 per share, Investors in the financing also reccived five-year warrants to
purchase an aggregate of 4.6 million shares of common stock at an exercise price of $4.62 per share. We
received $62.0 million in net proceeds from the financing, which we are using to fund our picoplatin
clinical program and gencral working capital needs. Concurrent with the closing of the financing, we issued
an aggregate of 1.6 million shares of common stock to the holders of our Series B preferred stock upon
conversion of their outstanding Series B preferred shares. As a result of the completion of the financing
and the conversion of the Series B preferred shares, our outstanding common stock increased from
approximately 5.7 million shares to approximately 22.8 million shares. Entities affiliated with MPM Capital
Management (MPM) acquired beneficial ownership of 7.7 million common shares, or approximately. -
31.5% of our common stock outstanding immediately following the financing. Entities affiliated with Bay
City Capital Management 1V 1.LC (BCC) acquired beneficial ownership of 4.6 million common shares, or
approximately 19.5% of the common shares outstanding immediately following the financing. Two of our
directors, Fred B. Craves and Carl S. Goldfischer, are managing directors of BCC and possess capital and
carried interests in the BCC entities that participated in the financing. We have agreed, for as long as
MPM owns at feast 10% of the shares of common stock and warrants purchased in the financing, to use
our best efforts to cause one person designated by MPM and one’ person designated by mutual agreement
of MPM and BCC to be nominated and elected to our board of directors. Nicholas J. Simon II1, a
representative of MPM, was appointed to our board of directors on April 26, 2006. Mr. Simon is a general
partner of certain of the MPM entities that participated in the financing and possesses capital and carried
interests in those entities. . : , , .

In connection with the financing, we entered into a letter agreement with Texas State Bank, pursuant
to which we agreed to accelerate the maturlty date of our promlssory hote with the Bank to June 5, 2006.
The Texas State Bank note, which was secured by our radiopharmaceutical plant and other STR assets
located in Denton, Texas, had an adjustable interest rate equal to the bank prime rate reported in the Wall
Street Journal (8.00% at May 23, 2006). We paid off the cutstanding balance of the note, $2.7 million, on
May 23, 2006.

We completed the relocation of our corporate headquarters to South San Francisco in
September 2006. We intend to maintain our current clinical and development and support activities in
Seattle. The addition of 17,045 square feet of office and laboratory space leased in South San Francisco
facility will result in a subsiantial increase in our future rent and operating costs. Under the lease
agreement dated July 10, 2006, the annual base rent for the leased facilities is approximately $542,000 and
is subject to annual adjustment based on disbursements for tenant improvements and increases in the
Consumer Price Index in the San Francisco metropolitan market. Base rent is payable in monthly
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installments of approximately $45,200. Additional rent is payable monthly based on our share of operating
expenses of the project in which the leased facilities are located, as described in the lease agreement.
Monthly base rent during the first seven months of the lease will average $21,000 during the construction
of tenant improvements. We paid total rent (base rent and additional rent based on our share of project
operating expenses) during 2006 of $143,000. We estimate total rent payable by us during 2007 will be
approximately $523,000. Annual operating expenses payable under the lease may increase substantially as
we move forward with our plans to establish laboratory facilities in the leased space. The initial term of the
lease is 60 months. We may, upon written notice delivered at least nine months prior 1o expiration of the
initial lease term, extend the lease for an additional threc years, with rent payable at the then market rate.

In April 2004, we acquired the worldWwide exclusive rights, excluding Japan, to develop, manufacture
and commercialize picoplatin from AnorMED, Inc. AnorMED was acquired by Genzyme Corporation in
November 2006. Under the térms of the original agreement, we paid a one-time upfront milestone
payment of $1.0 million in common stock and $1.0 million in cash. The original agreement pr0v1ded for
development and commercialization milestone payments of up to $13.0 million, payable in cash or a
combination of cash and common stock, and a royalty rate of up to 15% of net product sales after
reguiatory approval. The parties executed an amendment to the license agreement on September 18, 2006,
modifying several key financial terms and expanding the licensed territory to include Japan, thereby
providing us worldwide rights. In consideration of the amendment, we paid Genzyme $5.0 million in cash
on October 12, 2006 and will pay Genzyme an additional $5.0 million in cash by March 31, 2007. The
amendment eliminates $8.0 in development milestone payments to Genzyme. Genzyme remains entitled to
receive up to $5.0 million in commercialization milestones upon the attainment of certain levels of annual
net sales of picoplatin after regulatory approval. The amendment also reduces the royalty payable to
Genzyme to a maximum of 9% of annual net product sales. In addition, the amendment reduces the
sharing of sublicense revenues for any sublicenses entered into during the first year following the
amendment and eliminates the sharing of sublicense revenues on and after September 18, 2007,

On October 25, 2006, we entered into a loan and security agreement with Silicon Valley Bank and
Merrill Lynch Capital, pursuant to which we obtained a $15.0 million capital loan. A portion of the -
proceeds of the loan will be used to fund our cash payment obligations to Genzyme under the amended
license agreement described above. The remaining proceeds will be used to support our strategic growth,
late-stage clinical trials of picoplatin and general working capital needs. The loan is for a term of 42
months and matures on April 1, 2010. We are required to pay a 7.67% fixed intcrest rate on the
outstanding principal balance plus a $1.35 million additional payment upon the maturity date of the loan.
This additional payment will be accreted to the note payable balance over the term of the loan using the
effective interest rate method and reflected as additional interest expense. All interest payable under the
loan agreement and the full amount of the additional payment must be paid upon any prepayment of the
loan. The loan is secured by a first lien on substantially all of our non-intellectual property asscts. The loan
agreement contains restrictions on our ability to, among other things, dispose of certain assets, engage in
certain mergers and acquisition transactions, incur indebtedness, create liens on assets, make investments
and pay dividends or repurchase stock. The loan agreement also contains covenants requiring us to
maintain unrestricted cash of $7.5 million during the loan term and, not later than December 31, 2007, to .
provide evidence of positive Phase 11 data for the picoplatin drug development program and commence
enroliment of patients in a Phase Il trial for picoplatin. The loan contains events of default that include,
among other things, nonpayment of principal and interest or fees, breaches of covenants, material adverse
changes, bankruptcy and insolvency events, cross defaults to other indebtedness, material judgments,
inaccuracy of representations and warranties and events constituting a change of control. The occurrence
of an event of default would increase the applicable rate of interest by 5% and could result in acceleration
of our payment obligations under the loan agreement.
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On Augusi 4, 2005, we entered into a research funding and option agreement with The Scripps
Research Institute (TSRI). Under the agreement, as amended in December 2006, we committed to
provide TSRI an aggregate of $2.5 million over a 26-month period to fund research relating to synthesis
and evaluation of novel small molecule, multi-targeted protein kinase inhibitors and focal adhesion kinasc
inhibitors as therapeutic agents, including for the treatment of cancer. We have the option-to negotiate a
worldwide exclusive license to use, enhance and develop any compounds arising from the collaboration.
The research funding is payable by us to TSRI quarterly in accordance with a negotiated budget. On -
August 8, 2005, we made an initial funding payment to TSRI of $137,500. We paid TSRI total funding
payments of $1.0 million in 2006, which amount was charged to R&D expense. The agreement provides for
aggregatc additional funding payments of $1.4 million in 2007. We have no assurance that the research
funded under this arrangement will be successful or ultimately will give rise to any viable product
candidates. Further, there can be no assurance that we will be able to negotiate, on acceptable terms, a
license with respect to any compounds arising from the collaboration.

In April 2004, we sold and transferred our Pretarget intellectual property to Aletheon
Pharmaccuticals, Inc. Under that agreement, we could receive up to $6.6 million in milestone payments if
Aletheon achieves certain development goals, plus royalties on potential future product sales. We did not
receive any upfront consideration for the sale of the Pretarget property. We discontinued our clinical
studies vsing the Pretarget technology in July 2002, and sought, both.through targeted inquiries and a -
broad-based auction process, a buyer or licensee for the technology. The sale of the Pretarget intellectual
property relieved us of the annual costs associated with maintaining the Pretarget patent estate. During
2003, we spent approximately $350,000 for the prosecution and maintenance of the Pretarget patents and
trademarks. For 2004, thesc costs were approximately $70,000. Seattle-based Aletheon is a development
stage biotherapeutics company founded by two former Poniard employees. The timing and amount of
milestone payments, if any, are uncertain. The terms of the transaction were determined through arms-
length negotiation. -

We raiscd approximately $3.8 miliion in net proceeds from the sale of common stock and warrants in
a private placement transaction in March 2005. We used the net procecds from that financing to support
our Phase 11 trial in picoplatin in small cell lung cancer and for general working capital, including
restructuring costs associated with the termination of our STR development program. We raised
approximately $9.0 million in net proceeds from the sale of common stock and warrants in a private
placement transaction in February 2004. The net proceeds from that financing were used to support our
STR development program, which we discontinued in May 2003, and for general working capital.

We terminated our STR manufacturing operations in Denton, Texas during the sccond quarter of
2005 and began actively marketing the facility for sale. In 2005, we recorded costs associated with the
closure and maintenance of the Denton facility of approximately $499,000. We recorded costs of
approximately $286,000 in 2006 related to these activities.

We will require substantial additional funding to develop and. commercialize picoplatin and any other
proposed products and to fund our operations. Management is Conlmuously exploring financing
alternatives, including:

*  raising additional capital through the pubhc or pnvate sale of equnty or debt securitics or through
the establishment of credit or other funding facilities; and

»  entering into strategic collaborations, which may include joint venturcs or partnerships for
product development and commercialization, merger, sale of assets or other similar transactions.
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Our actual capital requirements will depend upon numerous factors, including:

* the scope and timing of our picoplatin clinical program and other research and development
efforts, including the progress and costs of our ongoing Phase I1 and planned Phase [T trials of
picoplatin in small cell lung cancer;

s our ability to obtain clinical supplies of picoplatin active pharmaceutical ingredient and finished
- +drug product in a timely and cost-effective manner;

*  actions taken by the FDA and other regulatory authorities; : ' ‘
e  the timing and amounts of proceeds from any sale of the Denton facility and assets;

s the timmg and amount of any milestone or other payments we might receive from potential
strategic partners; )

»  our degrec of success in commercializing picoplatin or any other cancer lherapy product
candidates;

» the emergence of competing technologies and products, and other adverse market developments;
e the acquisition or in-licensing of other products or intellectual property;

s the costs, including lease and operating costs, incurred in connection with the relocation of our
corporate headquarters to South San Francisco.and the planned expansion of our workforce;

» the costs of any rescarch collaborations or strategic partnerships established;

» . the costs of preparing, filing, prosecuting, maintaining and enforcing patent claims and olhcr
mtel]ectual property rights; and C

*  the costs'of performing our obligations under the loan with Silicon Vatley Bank and Merrill
Lynch Capital, including the cost of interest and other'payment obligations and penalties and the
cost of complying with unrestricted cash, product development and other covenants and

: restrictions under the loan agreement. -

During 2006 we cxpcricnced significant changes to our capital structure which resulted in an ‘
ownership change, as defined under Section 382 of the IRC. Consequently, the amount of net operallng
loss carryforwards and rescarch and experimentation credit carryforwards available to be used in future
years are limited under IRC Sections 382 and 383. This limitation will rcsult in the loss of approximately
$93.3 million of our net operating loss carryforwards and $9.1 million of our research and development
credit carryforwards. We had net operating loss carryforwards of dpprommately $62.3 million available for
future use as of. December 31, 2006, which will expire from 2007 through 2026. .

Therecan be no assurance that we will be able to raise additional capital or enter into relationships
with corporate partners on a timely basis, on favorable terms, or at all. Conditions in-the capital markets in
general, and in the life science capital market specifically, may affect our potential financing sources and
opportunities for strategic partnering. Our financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis;
however, our inability to obtain additional cash as necdcd could have a material adverse effect on our
financial position, results of operations and our abitity to continue in existence. Qur consolidated financial
statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.
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At December 31, 2006, we had the following contractual obligations (in thousands): -

More
Less than 1-3 3-5 than 5
Total 1 year YEars years years
Contractual Obligations
Long-term debt obligations:
Notes payable (2} (3) ......ovvvvienn.. $17,612 $4,879 § 9,758 $2975 $—
Operating lease obligations:
Seattle office space ...............ovas, 1,415 560 855 — -
South San Francisco premises (1)......... 2,484 542 1,084 858 —
3,899 1,102 1,939 858 —
Purchase obligations: ' .
Scripps research collaboration............ 1,350 1,350 — - =
Total. . ..... e $22,861  $7,331 $11,697 §$3,833 §$—

(1) Lease executed in July 2006. See discussion above for details.
(2) Amounts include interest payments.

(3) Amount in “Total” column includes totat principal payment of $13,881 as refected on the
Consolidated Balance Sheet for the year.ended December 31, 2006.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 154, “Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, a Replacement of
APB Opinion No. 20 and FASB Statement No. 3.” SFAS 154 establishes, unless impracticable,
retrospective application as the required method for reporting a change in accounting principle in the
absence of explicit transition requirements specific to a newly adopted accounting principle. Previously,
most changes in accounting principle were recognized by including the cumulative effect of the change to
the new accounting principle in net income of the period of the change. Under SFAS 154, retrospective
application requires the cumulative effect of the change to be reflected in the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities as of the beginning of the first period presented and financial statements for each individual
prior period presented to be adjusted to reflect the effects of applying the new accounting principle.
SFAS 154 carries forward the guidance in APB Opinion 20 “Accounting Changes,” requiring justification
of a change in accounting principle on the basis of preferability, for reporting the correction of an error in
previously issued financial statements and for a change in an accounting estimate. SFAS 154 is effective for
accounting changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal years beginning aftecr December 15, 2005. The
adoption of the Statement by the Company on January 1, 2006 did not have a material impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements,

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No.123R, “Share-Based Payment.” SFAS 123R replaces
SFAS 123, “Stock-Based Compensation,” issued in 1995. SFAS 123R requires that the fair value of the
grant of employee stock options be reported as an expense in the results of operations. SFAS 123R
eliminates the ability to account for stock-based compensation using APB 25 and requires that such
transactions be recognized as compensation cost in the income statement based on their fair value on the
measurement date, which is generally the date of the grant. The Statement is effective for the first annual
reporting period that begins after June 15, 2005. Historically, the Company has disclosed in its footnotes
the pro forma expense effect of the grants. Stock compensation expense under the prior rules would have
increased reported diluted loss per share by $.03 in 2005. SFAS 123R applies to all outstanding, unvested
option grants as of the effective date. The Company adopted SFAS No. 123R on January 1, 2006 using the
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modified prospective transition method. Under the modified prospective transition method, SFAS 123R
applies to new and modified option grants after January 1, 2006, and to any unvested option grants as
service is rendered on or after the effective date. The attribution of compensation cost for vested option
grants as of January 1, 2006 is based on the same method and on the same grant-date fair values previously
determined for the pro forma disclosures required for companies that did not adopt the fair value
accounting method for stock-based employee compensation. Sec Note 3 of the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for the discussion of the effect of the adoption of this Statement on the Company's
consolidated financial statements,

In June 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes:
An Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (FIN 48). FIN 48 clarifies certain aspects of accounting for
uncertain tax positions, including issues related to the recognition and measurement of those tax positions.
FIN 48 s effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006, Accordingly, the Company will
adopt FIN 48 on January 1, 2007. The Company is currently assessing the impact FIN 48 will have, if any,
on its consolidated financial statcments.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements”, SFAS 157 defines
fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosure requirements about
fair value measurements. SFAS 157 applies to other accounting pronouncements that require or permit
fair value measurements, but does not in itself require any new fair value measurcments. The provisions of
SFAS No. 157 are effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 and interim periods within
those fiscal years. The Company is currently evaluating this statement and its impact, if any, on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements. '

In September 2006, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108, “Considering the Effects of
Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements” (SAB
108), to address diversity in practice in quantifying.financial statement misstatements. SAB 108 requires
the quantification of misstatements based on their impact on both the balance sheet and the income
statement to determine materiality. The guidance provides for a one-time cumulative effect adjustment to
correct for misstatements that were not deemed material under a company’s prior approach but are
material under the SAB 108 approach. SAB 108 is effective for fiscat years ending after November 15,
2006. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.

Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Interest Rate Risk

The Company’s exposure to market rate risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to debt
securities included in the Company’s investment portfolio. The Company does not have any derivative
financial instruments. The Company invests in debt instruments of the U.S. Government and its agencies
and in high-quality corporate issuers. Investments in both fixed rate and floating rate interest-earning
instruments carry a degree of interest rate risk. Fixed rate sccurities may have their fair market value
adversely impacted due to a rise in interest rates, while floating rate securitics may produce less income
than expected if interest rates decrease. Due in part to these factors, the Company’s future investment
income may fall short of expectations due to changes in interest rates or the Company may experience
losses in principal if forced to sell securities that have declined in market value due to changes in interest
rates. At December 31, 2006, the Company owned government debt instruments totaling $2.6 million and
owned corporate debt securities totaling $7.0 million. The Company’s exposure to losses as a result of
interest rate changes is managed through investing primarily in securities with relatively short maturities of
up to two years and sccurities with variable interest rates. All government debt instruments and corporate
debt securities owned by the Company at December 31, 2006 had maturities of less than one year.
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The Company’s only material outstanding debt is its loan obligation to Silicon Valley Bank and

" Merrill Lynch Capital. The outstanding balance of this loan was $13.9 million on December 31, 2006. The
loan, which matures on April 1, 2010, bears interest at a fixed rate of 7.67%. The occurrence of an event of
default under the loan, as described above, would increase the applicable rate of interest by 5% during the
continuance of the event of default and could result in acceleration of the Company’s payment obligations
under the loan agreement.

Investment Risk

In the past, the Company has reccived equity instruments under licensing agreements. These
instruments are included in investment securities and are accounted for at fair value with unrealized gains
or losses reported as a component of comprehensive loss and classified as accumulated other
comprehensive income—unrealized gain on investment securities in shareholders’ equity. Such
investments are subject to significant fluctuations in fair-market value due to the volatility of the stock
market. At December 31, 2005 and 2006, the Company owned no corporate equity securities.

Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND § UPPLEMENTARY DATA

Page
. Number

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm . ............ .. ..., e 45
Consolidated Balance Sheets—December 31,2006 and 2005 . ... ...........oiinn 46
Consolidated Statements of Operations—For the Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and

7 1S AR 47
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows—For the Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and

004 .. e 48
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity and Comprehenswe Loss——For the Years

Ended December 31, 2006, 2005-and 2004 .. ... .. D N 49

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements .......... (P, e e 50

All financial schedules are omitted since the required information is not apphcable or has been
presented in the financial statements and the notes thereto.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Sharcholders
Poniard Pharmaceuticals, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Poniard Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and
subsidiary as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations, cash
flows and sharcholders’ equity and comprehensive loss for each of the ycars in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2000. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based
on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements, An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for cur opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Poniard Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and subsidiary as of December 31, 2006
and 2005, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year
period ended December 31, 2006, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, Poniard Pharmaceuticals, Inc, and
subsidiary adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004),
Share-Based Payment, ctfective January 1, 2006.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the effectiveness of Poniard Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our
report dated March 15, 2007, expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of, and the
effective operation of, internal control over financial reporting.

/sf KPMG LLP

Scattle, Washington
March 15, 2007
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PONIARD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, excepl share data)

December 31,
2006 2005
ASSETS
Current assets;
Cashandcashequivalents ............... oo, $ 44148 § 3,523
Cash - restricted . .. ............. e 136 1,000
INvestment SECUTILIES., . ..o\t r et e e r e i e 9,562 —_
Prepaid expenses and other currentassets ...t 654 455
Assetsheldforsale ....... ... o i e — 83
TOtal CUMTEMT ASSETS . . ot i et s ier s s i ce e ceess st eaarasnnernnnsans . 54,500 5,061
Facilities and equipment, net of depreciation of $686 and $556, respectively. . 525 273
L 11 1T g 111 - SO e 182 45
Assetsheldforsale ... ... . i e 2,624 3,027
Licensed products, net of accumulated -amortization of $764 and $292. ...... 11,236 1,708
Total assets......... e $ 69,067 $ 10,114
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable ... ... . ... . $ 775§ 995
Accrued liabilities .. ............. e 2,520 2,078
Current portion of notespayable ......... .. ... oo 3,506 3,868
Licensed productspayable .. .. ... ... .. i 5,000 —
Total current liabilities . .. .............c.t.. e e e e 12,201 6,941
Long-term liabilities: )
Notes payable, net of current portion and discount of $1,753 ........... e 9,975 —
" Total long-term liabilities. . ............ oo 9,975 —

Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $.02 par value, 2,998,425 shares authorized:
Convertible preferred stock, Series 1, 205,340 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2006 and 2005 (entitled in liquidation to
$5,175, respectively) . ..ot e 4 4
Convertible preferred stock, Series B, ¢ and 1,575 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2006 and 2005 (entitled in liquidation to
$15,750 at December 31,2005) ... .. ... i — —_
Common stock, $.02 par value, 200,000,000 shares authorized, 22,808,233 and
5,720,382 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2006 and 2005,

FeSPECtiVELY . ..ot 456 114
Additional paid-incapital. .. ... .. e 326,025 258,855 -
Accumulated deficit, including other comprehensive income of $0 at

December 31,2006 and 2005. . ... ... . e (279,594)  (255,800)

Total shareholders’ equity .. ..o i e caiiea e 46,801 3,173

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity . ... ..................... ... $ 69,067 $ 10,114

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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PONIARD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share data)

Years Ended December 31,

) . 2006 2005 2004
L | 11T S $ —  § 15 § 1,015
Operating expenses: ‘
Research and development ............... e e e 13,356 10,198 13,331
General and adminisStIative ... ..o et e rnerrraracnearnn 7,548 5,948 7,171
Gain on sale of real estate and equipment......................... " (73) (158) —
Asset impairment loss .. .................... [P 403 3,346 _—
RESIIUCTUIIIE .+ . o v ittt s ettt et e e et e e e e eee e e eianaess _ 1,741 —
Total operating expenses ..............coviiniinniaes e 21,234 21,075 20,502

Loss from operations. . ....................... e (21,234) -~ (21,060) (19487
Other income (expense):

Interest NCOMIE. ...ttt et e et eeeren v eianenns e 1,906 330 326

INEETESt CXPENSE . .. e et e et it eee i ie e s e (3,966) (267). _ (210)

Total other (expense)income . ...........cooviiiiiiiin i (2,060) 63 116

Netloss. ...coovviiiiiiiinin ot e e e (23,294)  (20,997) (19,371)
Preferred stock dividends. . . ... e PP " (500) (500) (500)
Net loss applicable to common shares ...........ccoieiiiiaiiina.. $(23,794) $(21,497) $(19,871)
Loss per share: .

Basic and diluted loss applicable to common shares......... P $ (137) § (383) § (396

Weighted average common shares outstanding—basic and diluted . 17,376 5,611

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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PONIARD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
' (In thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Cash flows from operating activities: ‘
Nt 088 oot e e $(23,294y  $(20,997) $(19,371)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization. ... .. il i e 605 - 438, 800
Amortization of discountonnotespavable. .. ... ... .. o i e 3,604 — e
(Gain) loss on disposal of real estate and equipment. ........ e 27 (137), 20
ASSEt IMPAITMENTIO8S ... v e ettt e i y 403 3,346 —
ReStructuring . ........ ..ot . B — 476 =
Increase in restricted cash to secure operating lease .............. ... ..., (136) —- —
Stock options and warrants issued forservices . ... .. o i i i 13 (21}, 21
Stock-based employee compensation., . . ... e e e e 1,471 5 340
Change in operating assets and liabilities: .

Prepaid expenses and otherassets . ........... .. ... ... . . . (199) .207 13

Accountspayable . ... ... .o e s (220) (135) 721

Accrued liabilities. .. ... 506 331 (24

Net cash used in operating activities. .. ......... . ... ... . . ... (17274) (16467) (17480

Cash flows from investing activities:

Proceeds from sales and maturities of investment securities. ... ........ . : — 1,500 10,875
Purchases of investment securitics ... ......... .. ... i i (9,562) — (33)
Facilitics and equipment purchases . .. ........... ... . . o i, (385) (84) (326)
Purchase of licensed product. . . .. ... ... ... . (5,000) — {1,000)
Proceeds from sales of equipment and facilities . .......................... 110 303 —
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities . . .................... (14,837) 1,719 9,516
Cash flows from financing activities: '
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock and warrants. ... .............. 58,485 3,812 9,042
Proceeds frombridge note payable ... oo i 3,460 — —
Proceeds frombank note pavable. .. .. ... ... 15,000 — —
Repayment of bank notes payable principal . ........... ... .. ... (4,584) (339} (290)
Decrease (increase) inrestrictedcash ... ... ... . Ll 1,000 (1,000) —
Payment of notes payable issuance costs ... ... e (144) —. —
Proceeds from stock options and warrants exercised . ....................... 19 - 44 800
Preferred stock dividends ... ... . e {500y {500) (500)
Net cash provided by financing activities ... ..... ... ... et 72,736 2,017 9,052
Net increasc (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents. ................. 40,625 {12,731) 1,088
Cash and cash equivalents:
Beginningof year ............ e e e ' 3,523 16,254 15,166
Endofyear .. ..o © $44148 0§ 3523 § 16,254
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash financing activity:
Purchase of Licensed Products with commonstock .. .. ... ... .. ... ... $ — 3 — $ 1,000
Accrual of preferred dividend . . .. ... .. e, 500 500 500
Increase in Licensed Products with increase in current obligations payable ... .. 5,000 — —
Warrants issued and recognition of beneficial conversion feature in connection
with debt (SSUanCe. .. ... .. e 4,000 — —
Conversion of bridge loan plus interest accrued thereon into common stock . . .. 3,524 — —
Supplemental disclosure of cash paid during the period for:
Cash paid for interest. ... ..ot in i i it $ 209 % 261 § 196

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

48




PONIARD PHARMACE.UTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
{In thousands)

Balance, December 31,2003 . .. ... ...
Exercise of stock options and warrants,
Common stock issued for licensed
product ...... ...
Common stock issued, net of offering
costsof $763 . ......... ... .. ....
Modification of outstanding employee
OPHORS ... it
Stock options issued for services. .. ...
Comprehensive loss:
Netloss.......o.oooiiiion...
Unrealized gain on investment
securities .. ... . ...,
Total comprehensiveloss ...........
Preferred stock dividends .. .........
Balance, December 31,2004 ... ... ...
Exercise of stock options and warrants.
Common stock issued, net of offering

costsof $337 .. ... ......... ’

Modification of outstanding employee
options ........ e
Stock options issued for services. . . ...
Comprehensive loss:
Netloss...........ooiiviiiannn
Unrealized gain on investment
SCCURMIES . ..o ver v v i
Total comprehensiveloss .. .........
Preferred stock dividends .. ... .. ....
Balance, December 31,2005, , ... . ...
Exercise of stock options and warrants .
Common stock issued, nct of offering
costsof 83,953 . .................
Conversion of bridge loan and interest
accrued thereon into common stock .
Conversion of preferred shares into
commonstoek . ......... . ... ...
Share-based employee compensation
BRPCOSE o oo v v i
Madification of outstanding employee
OPHOMS ... vviiii i ennnns
Warrants issued and recognition of
beneficial conversion feature in
connection with issuance of debt. . ..
Stock options and warrarnis issued for
SEIVICES « v v v e eieieeaee ey
Comprehensive loss:
Netloss................oovu...
Unrealized gain on investment
SECUNIHES . . ooyt y et r e
Total comprehensive loss . =, ........
Preferred stock dividends . ..........
Balance, December 31, 2006 . . ... .. ..

Preferred-Stock,  Preferred Stock,
Series 1 Series B Commaon Stack
Number Number Number
of Par of Par of Par
Shores  Value Shares  Value Shares Value
205 $ 4 2 $— 4,666 $ 93
— — —_ — 136 3
—_ — - — 41 1
— — — — 308 6
205 $4 2 $— 5151 §103
_ — — — 16 —
— — — —_ 553 11
205 §4 2 §— 35720 %1
— — — — 6 —
— — — — 14,652 293
—_ —_ - — 839 17 -
—_— — 2 —_ 1,591 32
205 $4 —  §— 2288 $45

Additional Accumu- Share-
Paid-1n lated holder’s
Copital Deficit Equity

5243832 $(214,439) § 29,490

797 — © 800
999 — 1,000
9,036 — 9,042
340 — 340
21 _ 21

— {19,371)  (19,371)

- 6 ___ 6

— (19.365) (19.365)

— (500) (500)
$255,025  $(234,304) $ 20,828
44 — 44
3.801 — 3,812
6 _ A

(21) — (21)

© (20,997 (20,997)

1 .1

— (20,996) _(20,996)

— (500) (500)
$258,855 $(255,8_U[)) 5 3173
19 ‘ — 19
58,192 — 58,485
3,507 — 3,524
(32) — —
1,572 — 1,572
(101) — (101)
4,000 — 4,000
13 — 13

— {23,294) (23,294)

— (23,294) (23,294)

— (500 {500)
$326,025 ${279.594) $ 46.891

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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PONIARD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC, AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. Organization and Operations

Poniard is a biotechnology company focused on the discovery, development and commercialization of
cancer therapy products. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Poniard
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiary, NcoRx Manufacturing Group, Inc. (the Company).

The Company has historically suffered recurring operating losses and negative cash flows from
operations. As of December 31, 2006, the Company had net working capital of $42,299.000, an
accumulated deficit of $279,594,000 and totat shareholders” equity of $46,891,000. The Company’s total
cash, cash equivalents and investment securitics, net of restricted cash of $136,000, was $53,710,000 at
December 31, 2006. The Company believes that its current cash, cash equivalent and investment securities
balances will provide adequate resources to fund operations at least until the end of the first quarier of
2008.

All inter-company balances and transactions have been eliminated.

Unless otherwise indicated, all common stock related amounts have been adjusted to reflect the
Company’s one-for-six reverse stock split effective September 22, 2006.

NOTE 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Estimates and Uncertainties:  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenscs
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Research and Development Revenues and Expenses:  Revenues from collaberative agreements arc
recognized as carned as the Company performs research activities under the terms of each agreement.
Billings in excess of amounts earncd are classificd as deferred revenue. Pursuant to the Sccuritics and
Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104 (SAB 104), “Revenue Recognition in Financial
Statements,” non-refundable upfront technology license fees, where the Company is providing continuing
scrvices retated to product development, are deferred. Such fees are recognized as revenue over the
product development periods based on estimated total development costs. If the Company is not providing
continuing services, revenue is recognized when Lhe payment is due.

To date, the Company does not have any significant ongoing revenue sources. Pursuant to SAB 104
and Emecrging Issues Task Force Consensus No. 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple
Deliverables,” (EI'TF 00-21), which became effective for revenue arrangements entered into in fiscal
periods beginning after June 15, 2003, revenues from sales and licensing of intellectual property and
government grants are recognized as carned. To the extent that a transaction contains multiple
deliverables, the Company determines whether the multiple deliverables are separable, and, if separable,
the revenue to be allocated 1o each deliverable based on fair value, If fair value is undeterminable for
undclivered elements of the arrangement, revenue is deferred over the contract period or until delivery, as
applicable. The revenue allocated to cach deliverable is recognized following the requirements of SAB 104,

The Company’s revenue in the periods presented consisted primarily of proceeds from the sale and
licensing of intellectual property, milestone payments received, and receipt of government grants. For the
sale and licensing of intellectual property and milestone payments, revenue has been recognized as
payments are due because the Company has not had continuing service or other obligations subsequent 10
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PONIARD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

the sale, licensing or milestone payment. Additionally, milestone payments are based on events that
represent the achievement of substantive steps in the development process and are believed to represent
the fair value of achieving the milcstone. Government grant revenue is recognized as carned bascd on
completion of performance under the respective contracts whereby no ongoing obligation on the part of
the Company exists. Milestone payments are recognized as revenue at the time such payments arc due,
based on the ratio of cumulative costs incurred to date, to total estimated development costs. Any
remaining balance is deferred and recognized as revenue over the remaining development period.

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. It is the Company’s practice to offset third-
party collaborative reimbursements received as a reduction of research and development expenses. Third-
party reimbursements for 2006, 2005, and 2004 werc $52,000, $16,000 and $259,000, respectively.

Cash Equivalents:  All highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less
when purchased arc considered to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents represent cash invested primarily
in money market funds, federal government and agency securities and corporate debt securitics.

Investment Securities: The Company considers all investment sccurities as available-for-sale. All
securities are carried at fair value. The Company does not invest in derivative financial instruments,
Unrealized gains and losses on investment securities are reported as a component of comprehensive
income or loss and classified as accumulated other comprehensive income or loss - unrealized gain (loss)
on investment securitics in shareholders’ equity. The Company monitors investment securities for other
than temporary declines in fair value and charges impairment losses to income when an other than
temporary decline in estimated value occurs.

Facilities and Equipment:  Facilities and equipment are stated at acquired cost, less any charges for
impairmént. Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method over estimated useful lives of five to
seven years for equipment and furniture, three years for computer equipment and software and thirty years
for buildings. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of
the assets’ estimated useful lives or the terms of the leases.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets: Long-liv'ed assets including property and equipment are reviewed
for possible impairment whenever significant events or changes in circumstances, including changes in the
Company’s business strategy and plans, indicate that an impairment may have occurred. An impairment is
indicated when the sum of the expected future undiscounted net cash flows identifiable to that assct or
asset group is less than its carrying value. Impairment losses are determined from actual or estimated fair
values, which are based on market values, net realizable values or projections of discounted net cash flows,
as appropriate. The Company reviews long-lived assets annually and on an as-needed basis to determine if
there have been any adverse cvents or circumstances that would indicate that an impairment exists. As a
result of these reviews, the Company recorded an impairment charge related to the restructuring activities
during 2005 and an additional impairment charge in 2006. Sce Note 10 below for further details.

Debt Issuance Costs:  Costs incurred in connection with the securing of long-term bank loans and
other long-term debt are deferred and amortized as interest expensc over the term of the related debt
using a method that approximates the effective interest method,

Licensed Products:  Licensed Products represent an exclusive license to develop, manufacturc and
commercialize picoplatin, a platinum-based anti-cancer agent. Licensed Products are amortized using the
straight-line method over their estimated useful life of twelve years. The Company cvaluates the
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

recoverability of Licensed Products periodically and takes into account events or circumstances that might
indicate that an impairment exists. No impairment of Licensed Products was identified during 2006.

Income Taxes: The Company computes income taxes using the asset and liability method, under
which deferred income taxes arc provided for the temporary differences between the financial reporting
basis and the tax basis of the Company’s assets and liabilities and for operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards. A valuation allowance is established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the
amount, if any, which is expected more likely than not to be realized.

Net Loss Per Common Share:  Basic and diluted loss per share are based on net loss applicable to
common shares, which is comprised of net loss and preferred stock dividends in all periods presented.
Shares used 1o calculate basic loss per share are based on the wc1ghted average number of common shares
outstanding during the period. Shares used to calculate diluted loss per share are based on the potential
dilution that would occur upon the exercise or conversion of securitics into common stock using the
treasury stock method. The computation of diluted net oss per share excludes the following options and
warrants to acquire shares of common stock for the years indicated becausc their cffect would not be
dilutive.

' ' 2006 2005 2004
Common Stockoptions ...t 1,660,000 - 721,000 588,000
Common Stockwarrants ............ DA 5,947,000 538,000 265,000

Additionally, aggregate shares of 39,015, issuable as of December 31, 2006 upon conversion of the
Company’s Series 1 convertible exchangeable preferred stock, are not included in the calculation of diluted
loss per share for 2006, 2005 and 2004 because the share increments would not be dilutive. Aggregate
shares of 574,398, issuable as of December 31, 2005 upon conversion of the Company’s Series B
convertible preferred stock are not included in the calculation of diluted loss per share for 2005 and 2004
because the share increments would not be dilutive. All outstanding shares of the Company’s Serics B
convertible preferred stock were converted into the Company’s common stock and retired in April 2006.

Share-Based Compensation: Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the provisions of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 123 (revised 2004}, “Share-Based Payment”
{SFAS 123R), which establishes accounting for equity instruments cxchanged for employee services.
Under the provisions of SFAS 123R, share-based compensation cost is measured at the grant date, based
on the fair value of the award, and is recognized as an expense over the employcc $ requisite service period
(zenerally the vesting period of the equity grant). Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for
share-based compensation to employees in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Emptoyees” (APB 25), and related interpretations. The Company also
followed the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123, as amended by SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation Transition and Disclosure”. The Company elected to adopt the modified
prospective transition methad as provided by SFAS 123R and, accordingly, financial statement amounts
for the prior years presented have not been testated to reflect the fair value method of expensing share-
based compensation.

Concentration in the Available Sources of Supply of Materials:  For the Company’s picoplatin product
candidate to be successful, the Company needs sufficient, reliable and affordable supplies of the picoplatin
active pharmaceutical ingredient (API) and finished drug product. Sources of picoplatin API and finished
drug product may be limited, and third-party suppliers may be unable to manufacture APl and drug
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product in amounts and at prices necessary to successfully commercialize the Company’s picoplatin
product. Moreover, third-party manufacturers must continuously adhere to current Good Manufacturing
Practice (¢cGMP) regulations enforced by the FDA through its facilities inspection program. If the facilities
of these manufacturers cannot pass a pre-approval plant inspection, the FDA will not grant a New Drug
Application (NDA) for the Company’s proposed products. In complying with cGMP and foreign
regulatory requirements, any of our third-party manufacturers.will be obligated to expend time, money and
effort in production, record-keeping and quality control to assure that the Company’s products meet
applicable specifications and other requirements. If any of the Company’s third-party manufacturers or
suppliers fails to comply with these requirements, the Company may be subject to regulatory action.

The Company relies on third parties to' manufacture its picoplatin API and finished drug product for
its clinical trials. The Company.currently has separate agreements with one supplicr each of API and
finished drug product. Manufacturing services under these agreements are provided on a purchase order,
fixed-fec basis. Unless earlier terminated, each agreement continues for an initial term ending
December 31, 2009, and may be extended beyond the initial term upon agreement of the parties. The
agreements generally provide that they may be terminated by cither party if there is an uncured material
breach by the other party or in the event of insolvency or bankruptcy of the other party. The Company may
terminate the finished drug product supply agreement at any time with one year’s advance notice. The
Company may terminate the-APT manufacturing agreement if there is a change in control of the
manufacturer. The Company has no assurance that its current suppliers will be able to manufacture
sufficient picoplatin API and/or finished drug product on a timely or cost-effective basis at all times in the
future. The Company believes that there are other contract manufacturers with the capacity to
manufacture picoplatin API and finished drug product. If the Company is required to seck out alternative
manufacturers, it may incir significant additional costs and suffer delays in, or be prevented from,
completmg or initiating its ongoing or planned clinical trials.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments:  The Company has financial instriments con51stmg of cash, cash
equivalents, restricted cash, investment securities, notes receivable, accounts payable and notes payable.
The fair value of all of the Company’s financial instruments, based on either the short-term nature of the
instrument, current market indicators or quotes from brokers, approximates their carrying amounts.

Segment Reporting:  The Company has one operatmg business scgmcnt cancer therdpeutlcs
development. -

New Accounting Pronouncements:  1In May 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
issued SFAS No. 154, “Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, a Replacement of APB Opinion
No. 20 and FASB Statement No. 3” (SFAS 154). SFAS 154 establishes, unless impracticable, retrospective
application as the required method for reporting a change in accounting principle in the absence of explicit
transition requirements specific to a newly adopted accounting principle. Previously, most changes in
accounting principle were recognized by including the cumulative effect of the change 1o the new
accounting principle in net income of the period of the changé. Under SFAS 154, retrospective application
requires the cumulative effect of the change to be reflected in the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
as of the beginning of the first period presented and financial statements for each individual prior périod
presented to be adjusted to reflect the effects of applying the new accounting principle. SFAS 154 carries
forward the guidance in APB Opinion 20 “Accounting Changes,” requiring justification of a change in
accounting principlc on the basis of preferability, for reporting the correction of an error in previously
issued financial statements and for a change in an accounting estimate. SFAS 154 is effective for
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accounting changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005. The
adoption of the Statement by the Company on January 1, 2006 did not have a material impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No.123R, “Share-Based Payment ” SFAS 123R replaces
SFAS 123, “Stock-Based Compensation,” issued in'1995. SFAS 123R requires that the fair value of the
grant of employee stock options be reported as an expense in the results of operations. SFAS 123R
eliminates the ability to account for stock-based compensation using APB 25 and requires that such
transactions be recognized as compensation cost in the income statement based on their fair value on the
measurement date; which is generally the date of the grant. The Statement is effective for the first annual
reporting period that begins after June 15, 2005, Historically, the Company has disclosed in its footnotes
the pro forma expense effect of the grants (see Note 3). SFAS 123R applies to all outstanding, uiivested
option grants as of the effective date. The Company adopted SFAS No. 123R on January 1, 2006 using the
modified prospective transition method: Under this method, SFAS 123R applies to new and modified
option grants after January. 1, 2006, and to any unvested option grants as service is rendered on or after the
effective date. The attribution of compensation cost for vested option grants as of January 1, 2006 is based
on the same method and on the same grant-date fair values previously determined for the pro forma
disclosures required for companies that did not adopt the fair value accounting method for stock-based
employee compensation. See Note 3 below for the discussion of the effect of the adoption of this
Statement on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In June é006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes:
An Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109” (FIN 48). FIN 48 clarifies certain aspects of accounting for
uncertain tax positions, including issues related to the recognition and measurement of those tax positions.
FIN 48 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. Aocordmgly, the Company will
adopt FIN 48 on January 1, 2007. The Company is currently assessing the impact FIN 48 will have, if any,
on its consolidated financial statements. '

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157 “Fair Value Measurements” SFAS 157 defines
fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosure requirements about
fair value measurements. SFAS 157 applies to other accounting pronouncements that require oI permit .
fair value measurements, but does not in itself require any new fair value measurements. The provisions of
SFAS No. 157 are effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 and interim periods within -
those fiscal years. The Company is currently evaluatmg this statement and its impact, if any, on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements. :

In September 2006, the SEC 1ssued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108, “ansidering the Effects of
Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements” (SAB
108), to address diversity in practice in quantifying financial statement misstatements. SAB 108 requires
the quaatification of misstatements based on their impact on both the balance sheet and the income
statement to determine materiality. The guidance provides for a one-time cumulative effect adjustment to
correct for misstatements that were not deemed material under a company’s prior approach but are
material under the SAB 108 approach. SAB 108 is effective for fiscal years ending after November 15,
2006. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated.
financial statements. . :
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NOTE 3. Stock-Based Compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the provisions of SFAS 123R, using the modified
prospective transition method. Under the provisions of SFAS 123R, share-based compensation cost is
measured at the grant date, based on the fair value of the award, and is recognized as an expense over the
employee’s requisite service period (generally the vesting period of the equity grant). Prior to January 1,
2006, the Company accounted for share-based compensation to employees in accordance with APB 25 and
related interpretations. ' '

Under SFAS 123R, the Company is required to select a valuation technique or option-pricing model
that meets the criteria as stated in SFAS 123R, which includes a binomial model and the Black-Scholes-
Merton (Black-Scholes) model. At the present time, the Company is continuing to use the Black-Scholes
model. The adoption of SFAS 123R, applying the modified prospective transition method, as elected by
the Company, requires the Company to value stock options prior to its adoption of SFAS 123R under the
fair value method and expense these amounts over the stock options’ remaining vesting period. Under this
transition method, compensation expense recognized during the year ended December 31, 2006 included
compensation expense for all share-based awards granted prior to, but not yet vested, as of December 31,
2005, based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance witli the original provisions of SFAS 123.
In accordance with the modified prospective transition method, the Company’s consolidated financial
statements for years ended prior to January 1, 2006 have not been restated to reflect the impact of SFAS
123R. ' '

As a result of adopting SFAS 123R on January 1, 2006, the Company’s loss from operations and net
loss for the year ended December 31, 2006 is $1,471,000 higher than if.it had continued to account for
share-based compensation under the recognition and measurement provisions of APB 25, and related
interpretations, as permitted by SFAS 123, Basic and diluted nct loss per share for the year ended
December 31, 2006 would have been $1.29 if the Company had not adopted SFAS 123R.

Had compensation cost for these stock options for employees been determined prior to
January 1, 2006 using the fair value based method of accounting under SFAS No. 123, the Company’s net
loss applicable to common shares and loss per share would have been the pro forma amounts indicated
below (in thousands, except per share data):

Year ended
December 31,
2005 2004
Net loss applicable to common shares: .
Asreported. ... ... $(21,497) $(19,871)
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense
included in reported netloss. ....................... 5 340
Deduct: Stock-based emptoyce compensation determined
under fair value based method for all awards ......... (1,189) (1,666}
Proforma ... i $(22,681) $(21,197)
Loss per common share, basic and diluted:
Asreported .......... P $ (383) § (3.96)
Proforma............ ... ..o $ (4.04) § (4.22)
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Disclosures for the year ended December 31, 2006 are not presented because stock-based payments
were accounted for under SFAS 123R’s fair value method during this period.

The Company modified certain stock options, which had been granted to a member of the Company’s
board of directors, so that such stock options would fully vest as of August 14, 2006, the datc that the .
director retired from the board. No other modifications were made to these stock options. No other stock
options hcld by the former director, all of which were fully vested as of August 14, 2006, were modified.
The effect of this modification was a decrease in total stock compensation expense of $101,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2006.

For the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company recognized stock compensation expense of
$1,471,000. This amount reflects the modification of stock options described above. The remaining
unrccognized compensation cost related to unvested awards at December 31, 2006, was approximately
$5,038,000 and the weighted-average period of time over which this cost will be recognized is 2.2 years.

The Company records compensation expense for employee stock options based on the estimated fair
value of the options on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. This fair value is
amortized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service periods for the grants, which is generally the
vesting period. The Company uses historical data, and other related information as appropriate, to
estimate the expected price volatility, the expected option life and the expected forfeiture rate. The risk-
free rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of the grant. The weighted-average
fair value per share of the Company’s stock options granted to employecs was estimated to be $5.49, $4.46
and $11.22 for the years cnded December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, using the Black-Scholes
model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

Year ended December 3,
2006 2005 2004

Expected life inyears ..., 682 400 4.00
Expected dividendrate... ... oo 00% 00% 00%
Risk-free interestrate. ... ... ..o i i inn.ns 50% 39% 34%

Expected volatility. . ... 105.0% 122.9% 120.9%
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The Company issues new shares of common stock upon exercise of stock options. A summary of
option activity as of December 31, 2006 and changes during the three vears-then ended arc as follows

(shares and intrinsic value in thousands):

L Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining
Number of Exercise Contractual Aggregate
Shares Price Term Intrinsic Value
QOutstanding at December 31,2003, ... ... .. 675 $22.05
Granted. ...... ... oo i 233 14.25
CExercised. ... i {136) 5.88
Forefeited/cancelled/expired.............. {182} . 30.63
Outstanding at December 31,2004, ........ 590 20.06
FExercisable at December 31,2004, .......... 309 24.69
Granted . ........ ..o 262 6.07
Exercised...........oooooililL (16) 283
Forefeited/cancelled/expired .. ............ (115) 15.03
Outstanding at December 31, 2005......... _n21 16.15
Exercisable at December 31,’2005......... .. ' 396 22.42
Granted ... e 1,046 6.44
Exercised.......... e e ‘ (6) 3.17. .
Forefeited/cancelled/expired .............. : (101) 9.15
Qutstanding at December 31, 2006. ........ 1,660 $10.50 82 $366
Exercisable at December 31, 2006. ... ..... .. 587 81755 63 $196

Information relating to stock options oﬂtsianding and exercisable 'zit December 31, 2006 is as follov»:s‘

(in thousands, except per share data):

Options Qutstanding ]

Options Exercisable

[ Weighted Weighted ‘ Weighted
Average Average Average
- . , » Number Remaining Exercise Number .. Exercise
Range of Exercise Prices * of Shares  Life in Years Price of Shares Price
$282-8462 ... . T 343 8.48 . *$ 3.93 132 $ 352
$5.04 - %648 . .. ceee s ’ 475 9.47 © 6197 20 - 6.42
$6.77-%3744 ... " 68 .31 T 7.00 11 © 744
S $750-%3750 ...l PR Lo 335 9.31 7.50 56 7.50
$7.68-8109.50 ... ...oiineiiann 439 567 2314 368 25.01
. s 1,660 822

$

1050 587  $1755

Cash proceeds and intrinsic value relatéd to total stock options exercised during the vears ended -
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 are provided in the following table (dollars in thousands):

Proceeds from stock options cxercised . . R .
Intrinsic value of stock options exercised .............
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In connection with various consulting and service contracts, the Company has issued stock options to
non-employees. These options are valued using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model and the total cost of
the stock options are recognized over the service period. Stock options to.purchase 3,333, 1,666, 8,333 and
19,166 shares of common stock were granted during 2006, 2005, 2004 and 2002, respectively. The Company
recorded compensation expense (credits) of $8,000, $(21,000), and $21,000 during 2006, 2005, and 2004,
respectively, duc to these grants.

In April 2004, the Company extended to December 31, 2004 the time to exercise stock options, held
by a former officer, to acquire approximately 26,666 shares of common stock, The Company recorded
general and administrative compensation expense of $322,000 in connection with this extension. Also in
April 2004, in connection with a consulting agreement with a former employee, the Company extended the
vesting of the stock options to acquire approximately 10,666 shares of common stock. The Company
recorded research and development compensation expense of $15,000 in connection with this extension.

NOTE 4. Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company has financed its operations primarily through the sale of equity securities, technology
licensing, collaborative agreements and debt instruments. The Company invests excess cash in investment
securities that will be used to fund future operating costs. Cash used for operating activities for the twelve
months ended December 31, 2006 totaled $17,274,000. Revenues and other income sources for 2006 were
not sufficient to cover operating expenses.

On April 26, 2006, the Company completed a $65,000,000 equity financing, pursuant to which it issued
to a group of institutional and other accredited investors an aggregate of 15,491,000 shares of common
stock at a cash purchase price of $4.20 per share. Investors in the financing also received five-year warrants
to purchase an aggregate of 4,643,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $4.62 per share. The
Company received $61,945,000 in net proceeds from the financing, which it is using to fund its picoplatin
clinical program and general working capital needs. Concurrent with the closing of the financing, the
Company issued an aggregate of 1,591,000 shares of common stock to the holders of its Series B preferred
stock upon conversion of its cutstanding Series B preferred shares. As a result of the completion of the
financing and the conversion of the Series B preferred shares, the Company’s outstanding common stock
increased from approximately 5,722,000 shares to approximately 22,804,000 shares.

In connection with the financing, the Company enlered into a letter agreement with Texas State Bank,
pursuant to which the Company agreed to accelerate the maturity date of its promissory note with the
Bank to June 5, 2006, The Texas State Bank note, which was secured by the Company’s
radlopharmaceuncal plant and other STR assets located in Denton, Texas, had an dd]ustdble interest rate
equal to the bank prime rate reported in the Wall Street Journal (8.00% at May 23, 2006). The Company
paid off the outstanding balance of the note, $2,714,000, on May 23, 2006.

The Company completed the relocation of its corporate headquarters to South San Francisco in
September 2006. The Company intends to maintain its current clinical and development and support
activities in Seattle. The addition of 17,045 square feet of office and laboratory space leased in South San
Francisco will result in a substantial increase in the Company’s future rent and operating costs. Under the
lease agreement dated July 10, 2006, the annual base rent for the leased facilities is approximately $542,000
and is subject to annual adjustment based on disbursements for tenant improvements and increases in the
Consumer Price Index in the San Francisco metropolitan market. Base rent is payable in monthly
installments of approximately $45,200. Additional rent is payable monthly based on the Company’s share

" of operating expenses of the project in which the leased facilities are located, as described in the lease
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agreement. Monthly base rent during the first seven months of the lease will average $21,000 during.the
construction of tenant improvements. The Company paid total rent (base rent and additional rent based
on the Company’s share of project operating expenses) during 2006 of $143,000. The Company estimates
total rent payable during 2007 will be approximately $523,000. Annual opcrating expenses under the lease
may increase substantially as the Company moves forward with its plans to establish laboratory facilities in
the leased space. The initial term of the lease is 60 months. The Company may, upon written notice
delivered at least ninc months prior to expiration of the initial lease term, extend the lease for an
additional three years, with rent payable at the then market rate.

In April 2004, the Company acquired the worldwide exclusive rights, excluding Japan, to develop,
manufacture and commercialize picoplatin from AnorMED, Inc: AnorMED was acquired by Genzyme
Corporation in November 2006. Under the terms of the original agreement, the Company paid a one-time
upfront milestone payment of $1,000,000 in common stock and $1,000,000 in cash. The original agreement
provided for development and commercialization milestone payments of up to $13,000,000, payable in cash
or a combination of cash and Company common stock, and a rovalty ratc of up to 15% of net product sales
after regulatory approval. The parties executed an amendment to the license agrcement on September 18,
2006, modifying several key financial terms and expanding the licensed territory to include Japan, thereby
providing the Company worldwide rights. In consideration of the amendment, the Company paid Genzyme
$5,000,000 in cash on October 12, 2006 and will pay Genzyme an additional $5,000,000 in cash by
March 31, 2007. The amendment eliminates $8,000,000 in development milestone payments to Genzyme.
Genzyme remains entitled to receive up to $5,000,000 in commercialization milestones upon the
attainment of certain levels of annual net sales of picoplatin after regulatory approval. The amendment
also reduces the rovalty payable to Genzyme to a maximum of 9% of annual net product sales. In addition,
the amendment reduces the sharing of sublicense revenues for any sublicenses entered into during the first
year following the amendment and eliminates the sharing of sublicense revenues on and after
September 18, 2007. :

On October 25, 2006, the Company entered into a loan and security agreement with Silicon Valley
Bank and Merrill Lynch Capital, pursuant to which it obtained a 315,000,000 capital loan. A portion of the
proceeds of the loan will be used to fund the Company’s cash payment obligations to Genzyme under the
amended license agreement described above. The remaining proceeds will be used to support the
Company’s strategic growth, late-stage clinical trials of picoplatin and general working capital needs. The
loan is for a term of 42 months and matures on April 1, 2010. The Company is required to pay a 7.67%
fixed interest rate on the outstanding principal balance plus a $1,350,000 additional payment on the
malturity date of the loan, This additional payment will be accreted to the note payable balance over the
term of the loan using the effective interest rate method and reflected as additional interest expense. All
interest payable under the ldan agreement and the full amount of the additional payment must be paid
upon any prepayment of the loan. The loan is secured by a first lien on substantially all of the Company’s
non-intellectual property assets. The loan agreement contains restrictions on the Company’s ability to,
among other things, dispose of certain assets, engage in certain mergers and acquisition transactions, incur
indebtedness, create liens on asset$, make investments and pay dividends or repurchase stock. The loan
agreement also contains covenants requiring the Company to maintain unrestricted cash of $7,500,000
during the loan.term and, not later than December 31, 2007, to provide evidence of positive Phase 11 data
for the picoplatin drug development program and commence enroliment of patients in a Phase I1I trial for
picoplatin. The loan contains events of default that include, amiong other things, nonpayment of principal
and interest or fees, breaches of covenants, material adverse changes, bankruptcy and insolvency events,
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cross defaults to other indebtedness, material judgments, inaccuracy of representations and warranties,

" and events constituting a change of control. The occurrznce of an event of default would increase the
applicable rate of interest by 5% and could result in acceleration of the Company s payment obligations
under the loan agreement.

On August 4, 2005, the Company entered into a research funding and option agreement with The
Scripps Research Institute (TSRI). Under the agreement, as amended in December 2006, the Company
committed to provide TSR] an aggregate of $2,500,000 over a 26-month period to fund research relating to
synthesis and evaluation of novel small molecule, multi-targeted protein kinase inhibitors and focal
adhesion kinase inhibitors as therapeutic agents, including for the treatment of cancer. The Company has
the option to negotiate a worldwide exclusive license to use, enhance and develop any compounds arising -
from the collaboration. The research funding is payable by the Company to TSRI quarterly in accordance
with a negotiated budget. Cn August 8, 2005, the Company made an initial funding payment to TSRI of
$137,500. The Company paid TSRI total funding payments of $1,012,500 in 2006, which amount was
charged to research and development expense. The agreement provides for aggregate additional funding
of $1,350,000 in 2007. The Company has no assurancc that the research funded under this arrangement
will be successful or ultimately will give rise to any viable product candidates. Further, there can be no
assurance that the Company will be able to negotiate, on acceptable terms, a license with respect to any
compounds arising from the coltaboration. .

The Company terminated its STR manufacturing operations in Denton, Texas during the second
quarter of 2005 and began actively marketing the facility for sale. In 2005, the Company recorded costs
associated with the closure and maintenance of the Denton facility totaling $499,000. The Company
recorded costs totating $286,000 in 2006 related to these activities. See Note 9 below for additional
information regarding the Company § restructuring.

The Company received approximately $3,812,000 in net proceeds from the sale of common stock and
warrants in a private placement transaction in March 2005. The Company has applied the net proceeds
from this financing to support its Phase II trial in picoplatin in small cell lung cancer and for general
working capital, including restructuring costs associated! with the termination of its STR development
program. The Company rdised approximately $9,042,000 in net proceeds from the sale of common stock
and warrants in a private placement transaction in February 2004. The net proceeds from this fmancmg
were used to support the Company’s STR development program and for general workmg capital.

In April 2004, the Company sold and transferred its Pretarget intellectual property to Aletheon
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Under the agreement, the Company could receive up to $6,600,000.in milestone
payments if Aletheon achieves certain development goals, plus royalties on potential future product sales.
The Company did not receive any upfront consideration for the sale of the Pretarget property. The
Company discontinued its clinical studies using the Pretarget technology in July 2002, and sought, both
through targeted inguiries and a broad-based auction process, a buyer or licensee for the technology. The
sale of the Pretarget intellectual property relieved the Company of the annual costs associated with
maintaining the Pretarget patent estate. During 2003, the Company spent approximately $350,000 for the
prosecution and maintenance of the Pretarget patents and trademarks. For 2004, these costs were
approximately $70,000. Seattle-based Aletheon is a development stage biotherapeutics company founded
by two former Poniard employees. The timing and amount of milestone payments, if any, are uncertain.
The terms of the transaction were determined through arms-length negotiation. <o,

[N
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The Company had cash, cash equivalents and investment securities totaling $53,710,000 at
December 31, 2006. Company management believes that current cash, cash equivalent and investment
securities balances will provide adequate resourcés to fund operations at least until the end of the first
quarter of 2008. The Company’s actual capital requirements will depend upon numerous factors, including:

¢ the scope and timing of the Company’s picoplatin clinical program and oti]cr research and
development efforts, including the progress and costs of the Company’s on-going Phase 1T and
planned Phase 11 trials of picoplatin in small cell lung cancer;

¢ the Company’s ability to obtain clinical supplies of picoplatin active pharmaceutical ingredient and
drug product in a timely and cost-effective manner;

¢ actions taken by the FDA and other regulatory authorities;
¢ the timing and amounis of proceeds from any sale of the Denton facility and assets;

+ the timing and amount of any milestone or other payments the Company might receive from
potential strategic partners;

» the Company’s degree of success in commercializing picoplatin or any other cancer therapy product
candidates;

¢ the emergence of competing technologies and products, and other adverse market developments;
¢ the acquisition or in-licensing of other products or intellectual property;

e the costs, including Icase and operating costs, incurred in connection with the Company’s relocation
of its corporate headquarters to South San Francisco and the planned expansion of its workforce;

* the costs of any research collaborations or strategic partnerships established,

* the costs of preparing, filing, prosecuting, maintaining and enforcing patent claims and other
intellectual property rights; and

» the costs of performing the Company’s obligations under the loan with Silicon Valley Bank and
Merril! Lynch Capital, including the cost of interest and other payment obligations and penalties
and the cost of complying with unrestricted cash, product development and other covenants and
restrictions under the loan agreement. ’ ‘

The Company had net opcerating loss carryforwards of approximately $62,300,000 available for future
usc as of December 31, 2006, which will expire from 2007 through 2026. During 2006, thc Company
experienced significant changes to its capitat structure which resulted in an ownership change, as defined
under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (IRC). Consequently, the amount of
net operating loss carryforwards and research and experimentation credit carryforwards available to be
used in future years are limited under IRC Sections 382 and 383. This limitation will result in the loss of
approximately $93,300,000 of the Company’s net operating loss carryforwards and $9,100,000 of the
Company’s rescarch and development credit carryforwards. )

There can be no assurance that the Company will be ablc to raise additional capital or enter into
relationships with corporate partners on a timely basis, on favorable terms, or at all. Conditions in the
capital markets in general, and in the life science capital market specifically, may affect the Company’s
potential financing sources and oppartunities for strategic partnering,
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NOTE 5. Restricted Cash

At December 31, 2006, the Comparfy had restricted cash of $136,000, in the form of a certificate of
deposit. The certificate of deposit serves as collateral for a standby letter of credit issued by Silicon Valtey
Bank on behalf of the Company. At December 31, 2005 $1,000,000, in the form of a certificate of deposit,
was restricted. Pursuant to the terms of a letter agreement with Texas State Bank, the Bank, on January 31,
2005, applied the $1,000,000 cash collateral and all interest accrued thereon to the outstanding balance of
the loan.

NOTE 6. Investment Securities

4

Investment securities consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

: 2006 2005

Corporate debt securities. ..ot 6,964 —

Federal government and agency securities.............oo oot 2,598 —
9562 —

Unrealized gains and losses at December 31, 2006 are as follows (in thousands):

Amortized Gross Unrealized Fair Market

Caost Gains  (Losses) Value
Corporate debt securities................. $6,964 5— $— $6,964
Federal government and agency securities . . 2,598 — = 2,598
: ' ) $9,562 $— §— $9,562
Net unrealizedloss ........: S $

All of the debt securities owned by the Company at December 31, 2006 had maturities of less than one
year.

NOTE 7. Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consist of the following (in thousands): .

. December3l,
_ 2006 2005

Clinical trials. .. ... it e e $1,444 § 447
ACCTUEA EXPEMSES ..o vivvnt it i i ineianinnens e 312 289
COMPENSALION ..t uv ettt ia i i ia e ey © 618 743
Restructuring. .. ....coovvvvvneeanns e — 217
DecommISSIONING COSIS. ..\ oot i it sirr e ratanaeaan — 73
SEVETANCE .ottt e e ‘ 10 250
59

(437 A AN 136
‘ $2,520 $2,078
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NOTE 8. Notes Payable

On October 25, 2006, the Company entered into a loan and security agreement (the loan agreement)
with Silicon Valley Bank and Merrill Lynch Capital. Under the loan agreement, the Company received
capital loan proceeds of $15,000,000 on October 31, 2006. The Company plans to usc the proceeds of the
loan to fund its cash paymemt obligations to Genzyme Corporation under the amended license amendment
described in Note 13 below and to support the Company’s strategic growth, late-stage clinical trials of
picoplatin and general working capital needs. The term of the loan is 42 months, maturing on April 1,
~ 2010, with the first monthly principal payment on November 1, 2006. The Company is required to pay a
7.67% fixed interest rate on the outstanding principal balance plus a $1,350,000 additional payment on the
maturity date of the loan. This additional payment will be accreted to the note payable balance over the
term of the loan using the effective interest rate method and reflected as additional interest expense.
Principal and interest paid on the note during the year ended December 31, 2006 totaled $813,000. In
connection with the loan agreement, the Company issued five-year warrants to purchase an aggregate of
174,418 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $4.30 per share. The fair value of the warrants using.
the Black-Scholes option-pricing model was approximately $611,000 based upon assumptions of expected
volatility of 112%, a contractual term of five years, an expected dividend rate of zero and a risk-free rate of
interest of 4.75%. The portion of the loan proceeds allocable to the warrants is $540,000 based on their
relative fair value, which the Company recorded as additional discount to notes payable. The total discount
of $1,890,000 is amortized to interest expense using an effective interest rate of 13.7%. All interest payable
under the loan agreement and the full amount of the additional payment must be paid upon any
prepayment of the loan. The lodn is secured by a first lien on substantially all of the non-intellectual
property assets of the Company. ‘

The loan agreement contains restrictions on the Company’s ability to, among other things, dispose of
certain assets, engage in certain mergers and acquisition transactions, incur indebtedness, create liens on
assets, make investments and pay dividends or repurchase stock. The loan agreement also contains
covenants requiring the Company to maintain unrestricted cash of $7,500,000 during the loan term and,
not later than December 31, 2007, to provide evidence of positive Phase 11 data for the picoplatin drug
development program and commence enrollment of patients in a Phase I1I trial for picoplatin. The loan
contains events of default that include, among other things, nonpayment of principal and interest or fees,
breaches of covenants, material adverse changes, bankruptcy and insolvency events, cross defaults to other
indebtedness, material judgments, inaccuracy of representations and warranties and events constituting a
change of control. The occurrence of an event of default would increase the applicable rate of interest by «
5% and could result in acceleration of the Company’s payment obligations under the toan agreement. The
Company is not aware of any circumstances that indicate that an event of default is likely and, therefore,
has not classified any portion of the non-current loan balance as current.

In connection with the Company’s 2001 purchase of the radiopharmaceutical manufacturing plant and
other assets located in Denton, Texas, the Company assumed $6,000,000 principal amount of restructured
debt held by Texas State Bank, McAllen, Texas. The loan, which matured in June 2006, was secured by the
assets acquired in the transaction. Principal and interest paid on the note during the year ended
December 31, 2006 totated $3,980,000.
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Notes payable maturities as of December 31, 2006 are as follows (in thousands):

Year
) $ 3,906
2008 L e 4,218
20000 L 4,560
2000 . 2,950
15,634 -
. LT 4 [T ola 110 ] PP (1,753)
$13,881

NOTEY. Restructuring

-In May and June 2005, the Company restructured its operations and reduccd its workforce by
approximately 50% in connection with the implementation of its restructuring plan to refocus its resources
on the development of picoplatin and discontinue its STR development program. The employees
terminated as part of the reduction of staff were no longer with the Company at December 31, 2005 and
did not provide future services to.the Company. The Company incurred termination benefits charges of
totaling $892,000 related 10 the reduction in staff in May and June 2005. Of this amount, $250,000
remained unpaid as of December 31, 2005 and is included in accrued expenses in the consolidated balance
sheet as of December 31, 2005. This amount was paid during 2006. The Company incurred-additional non-
employee charges totaling $612,000 related to the discontinuation of its STR clinical trials and the closure
of its radiopharmaceutical manufacturing plant and STR research facilitics, primarily consisting of contract
termination and decommissioning costs. The Company recorded additional charges of $237,600 for
decommissioning costs during the third and fourth quarters of 2005 due to anticipated increased waste
disposal costs at its radiopharmaceutical manufacturing plant in Denton, Texas and anticipated increased
STR study finalization costs. Total non-employee charges totaled $849,000. Of this amount, $217,000
remained unpaid as of December 31, 2005 and is included in accrued expenses in the consolidated balance
sheet as of December 31, 2005. This amount was paid during 2006.

In conjunction with the Company’s strategic restructuring, in June 2005, the Company negotiated the
early termination of its STR-related supply agreement with the University of Missouri Research Reactor
facility group (MURR). The Company paid MURR a fec of $368,000 in connection with such early
termination. The Company also paid MURR $190,000 in minimum purchasc requirements under the
agrecment in 2005, These two amounts are included in the non-cmployee charges of $612,000 discussed
above, ‘
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The following table summarizes the change in the restructuring accrual from initial recognition
through December 31, 2006:

Accrued T Accrued

. ' Restructuring Restructuring

Initial Adjustment of Adjusted Payment of * *Charge as of Puyment of Charge as of

Restructuring  Restructuing  Restructuring  Restructuring  December 31,  Restructuring  December 31,
Description Charge ~ Charge Charge Obligations 2005 Obligations 2006

Employee termination -~ - . . ' TP '

benefits .............. § 892000 - §  — 5 892000 - § (642,000) $250,000  $(250,000) $—
Contract termination costs . 378,000 . .(10,000) 368,000 (366,000) S2000 (2,000) —
Other termination costs . . . 234,000 247,000 481.000 (266,000) 215,000 (215,000) =
Sub-total . .............. 612.000 237,000 849,000 {(632,000) 217,000 (217,000) e
Total .................. . $1.,504,000 $237,000 $1,741,000 . $(1,274,000)  §467,000 . ${467,000) $_—

N '

NOTE 10. Asset Impairment Loss . . C

In June 2005, the Company recognized an asset impairment loss of $3,346,000 on certain facilities and
equipment resulting from the Company’s decisions to terminate its STR program. The loss on the ' Denton
manufacturing facility and related equipment was determined based on an appraisal study commissioned
by the Company, as well as management reviews with the assistance of outside commercial real estate
brokers. The Company used a fair value of $3,300,000 for the Denton facility in determining the
impairment loss. This valuation was the result of weighting the range of values in the appraisal study, which
varied from $3,100,000 to $5,000,000. The loss on the equipment at the Seattle facility was determined
based on estimates of potential sales values of used equipment. These impairment charges established new
cost bases for the impaired assets, which are reported in Assets Held for Sale in current assets and other
non-current assets on the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively. All
equipment in current Assets Held for-Sale was disposed of as of December 31, 2006.- Given the inherent
uncertainty of the timing of.a sale of the Denton facility, the Company has classified this asset as non-
current. - !

As of December 31, 2006, the Company reduced the carrying value of Denton facility in non-current
Assets Held for Sale based on a fair value of $2,800,000 and recognized additional impairment loss,of -
$403,000. This valuation adjustment is based on the Company’s review of listing prices and completed sales
of comparable properties in the region and the interest of prospective buyers. The Company continues to
actively scck a buyer for the Denton facility.. - A ' '

The following table summarizes information refated to the impairment charges:

Post ' . Post

Impaired [mpairment * . ! Impairment
Carrying Carrying Value . Carrying Value
Value as of as of Post as of
Impairment June 3, Disposals of ~ December 31, = Disposals, Impairment  December 31,
Description Loss 2005 Assets 2005 of Assets Loss 2006
Equipment—Seattle, WA, .. .. $ 155000 $ 45000 § (44000 % 1,000 S (1,000) * 8 —_ $ —_
Equipment—Manufacturing ' : ‘
Facility, Denton, TX .. .. ... 589,000 183,000  (101,000) 82,000 _ (820000 . - — e
Manufacturing Facility— s
Denton, TX. ............ L 2,602,000 3,027,000 -~ — 3,027,000 — (403,000} 2,624,000
Total ...t © $3346,000  $3,255000 $(145000)  $3,110,000  $(83,000) $(403,000) - $2,624,000
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NOTE 11. Leases

The Company leases the office and laboratory space for its principal locations under various leasing
arrangements. In July 2006, Company entered into a five-year lease for office space and laboratory spacc in
South San Francisco. The Company relocated its corporate headquarters to these facilities in
September 2006. Base rental payments under this lease are subject to annual adjustment based on
disbursements for tenant improvements and increases in the Consumer Price Index in the San Francisco
metropolitan market (CPISF). The first adjustment in annual rent will occur in July 2007. Additional rental
payments under this lease arc paid based on the Company’s share of operating expenses of the project in
which the leased facilities are located.

Total rent expense under non-cancelable’ operating leases was approximately $958,000, $744,000 and
$673,000 for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The Company recognizes rent expense on a straight-line
basis over the term of each lease, including any periods of free rent.

Minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases as of December 31, 2006 are as
follows (in thousands):

Year

2007 e e $1,102
2008 e e e 1,082
200 e e e e 857
2010....... e e e e e e 542

72 1. 1 316
Thereafter........ e e e e —
Total minimum lease payments ............iiiiiiniiiiiannonianias $3,899 |

NOTE 12. Shareholders’ Equity

Common Stock Transactions: In connection with the 2006 equity financing described in Note 4
above, the Company issued to a group of institutional and other accredited investors an aggregate of
15,491,000 shares of common stock at a cash purchase price of $4.20 per share. Investors in the financing
also received five-year warrants to purchase an aggregate of 4,643,000 shares of common stock at an
cxercise price of $4.62 per share. Concurrent with the closing of the financing, the Company issued an
aggregate of 1,591,000 shares of common stock to the holders of its Series B preferred stock upon
conversion of the outstanding Series B preferred shares (the Series B shares).

As part of the 2006 equity financing, on February 1, 2006, the Company received a $3,460,000 bridge
loan from investors in the 2006 equity financing. Pursuant to the bridge loan, the Company issued
convertible promissory notes in the principal amount of the loan and five-year warrants to purchase an
aggregate of 411,906 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $4.62 per share. The fair value
attributable to the warrants using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model was approximately $1,647,000
based upon assumptions of expected volatility of 1149, a contractual term of five years, an expected
dividend rate of zero and a risk-free rate of interest of 4.5%. The Company recorded the warrants’ fair
value as a discount to the promissory notes payable. The convertibility of the promissory notes gave rise to
a beneficial conversion feature, which the Company recorded as additional discount on the promissory
notes of approximately $1,813,000. The proceeds of the bridge loan were used for working capital pending
closing of the 2006 equity financing on April 26, 2006. The convertible promissory notes provided for an
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interest rate of 8% per annum and, at the closing of the 2006 equity financing, the principal amount of the
notes, together with approximately $63,000 of accrued interest thercon, automatically converted, at a
conversion rate of $4.20 per share, into an aggregate of 838,976 shares of common stock.

On September 22, 2006, the Company’s sharcholders approved a one-for-six reverse split of the
Company’s outstanding common stack, which became effective at the close of business that day. As a result
of the reverse split, every six shares of Company common stock outstanding at the effective time
automatically were combined into one outstanding share of Company common stock. The reverse stock
split did not change the number of authorized shares of Company common stock designated in the
Company’s articles of incorporation, nor did it change the par valuc of the Company’s common stock. In
lieu of fractional shares, sharcholders are entitled to receive an amount in cash equal to the value of their
fractional shares based on $0.57, the closing price per share of the Company’s common stock on
September 22, 2006.

In March 2005, the Company raised approximately $3,812,000 in net proceeds through the sale ina
private placement (the 2005 financing) of 553,333 shares of common stock. In connection with the 2005
financing, the Company issued five-year warrants to purchase an aggregate of 221,333 shares of common
stock at an cxercise price of $12.00 per share. In addition, the placement agent in the 2005 financing was
granted a warrant, on the same terms as those received by the purchasers in that transaction, for 33,200
shares of common stock. The Company has registered the shares of common stock issued in the 2005
financing, including the shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of the related warrants, with the
SEC.

In April 2004, the Company issued 40,618 shares of common stock valued at $1,000,000 as a partial
payment to purchase an exclusive license to develop, manufacture and commercialize picoplatin, a .
platinum-based anti-cancer agent. The 40,618 shares of common stock issued in this ticensing arrangement
have been registered with the SEC.

In February 2004, the Company raised approximately $9,000,000 in net proceeds through the sale in a
private placement (the 2004 financing} of 307,500 shares of common stock. In connection with the 2004
financing, the Company issued five-year warrants to purchase an aggregate of 153,750 shares of common
stock at $42.00 per share. The 307,500 shares of common stock issued in the 2004 financing, and the shares |
of common stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants related theretp, have been registered w1th the '
SEC.

During 2006, the Company received approximately $19,000 in net proceeds from the issuance of
approximately 6,100 shares of common stock related to the exercises of employee stock options.

During 2005, the Company received approximately $44,000 in net proceeds from the issuance of
approximately 15,600 shares of common stock related to the exercises of employee stock options.

During 2004, the Company generated approximately $800,000 in net proceeds from the issuance of
approximately 136,200 shares of common stock related to the exercises of employee stock options.

Preferred Stock Transactions. During 2003, the Company issued 1,575 shares of a newly created class
of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock with attached warrants to buy 105,000 shares of common stock. As
described above, in connection with the 20{6 equity financing, the 1,575 shares of Series B shares were
converted into 1,591,000 shares of common stock in April 2006. The Series B shares received by the
Company were retired and cancelled and are not reissuable. The Company had 205,340 shares of Series 1
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Convertible Exchangeable Preferred Stock (Series 1 preferred stock) outstanding at December 31, 2006.
Holders of the Series 1 preferred stock are entitled to receive an annual cash dividend of $2.4375 per share
if declared by the Board, payable scmi-annually on Junc 1 and December 1. Dividends are cumulative.
Each share of Serics 1 preferred stock is convertible into 0.19 shares of common stock, subject to
adjustment in ccriain events. The Series 1 preferred stock is redeemable at the option of the Company at
$25.00 per share. Holders of Series 1 preferred stock have no voting rights, except in imited circumstances.
Dividends of $500,000 were paid in cach of the years 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

The Company’s board of directors may, without further action by the shareholders, issue preferred
stock in one or more series and fix-the rights and preferences thereof, including dividend rights, dividend
rales, conversion rates, voting rights; terms of redemption, redemption price or prices, liquidation
preferences and the number-of shares constituting any series or the designations of such series.

Shareholder Rights Plan.  'The Company’s Shareholder Rights Plan and all preferred share purchase
rights issued thercunder, expired on April 10, 2006. .

Stock Options: At December 31, 2006, the Company’s 2004 Incentive Compensation Plan (the 2004
Plan) was the only compensation plan under which options were available for grant. The Company’s 1991
Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors (the Directors Plan) was terminated on March 31, 2005,
and no further options can be granted under that plan. The Company’s 1994 Stock Option Plan (the 1994
Plan) was terminated on February 17, 2004 and no further options can be granted under that plan. The
2004 Plan, as amended and restated on September 13, 2006, authorizes the Company’s board or a
committee appointed by the board to grant options to purchase a maximum aggregate of 4,166,666 shares
of comimon stock, of which 2,500,000 shares are subject to shareholder approval at the 2007 annual
meeting of shareholders. The 2004 Plan allows for the issuance of incentive stock options and nonqualified
stock options to employée’s, officers, directors, agents, consultants, advisors and independent coniractors of
the Company, subject to certain restrictions. All option grants expire ten years from the date of grant,
except in the event of earlier termination of employment or service. Option grants for employees with less
than gne year of service generally become exercisable at a rate of 25% after one year from the grant date
with the balance vesting at a rate of 1/36th per month over the following three years. Option grants for
employees with more than one year of service or for employees receiving promotions become exercisable
at a rate of 1/48th per month over the following four years. As of December 31, 2006, there were 1,956,115
shares of common stock available fof issuance as new option awards under the 2004 Plan, sub]ect to
shareholder approval at the 2007 annual meeting of shareholders as described below. Although no
Company securities are available for issuance under the Directors Plan or the 1994 Plan, options granted
prior to termination of those plans continue in effect in accordance with their terms. -

On September 13, 2006, the Company issued stock option grants to employees and consultants that
are subject to sharcholder approval at the Company’s 2007 annual mecting of an increase in the number of
shares authorized for issuance under the 2004 Plan. If the shareholders do not approve an increase in the
number of shares authorized for issuance under the 2004 Plan, these grants will immediately be cancelled
after the 2007 annual meeting of sharcholders. No portion of any options granted subject to sharcholder
approval is excrcisable until the date on which the sharcholders approval is received. If shareholder -
approval is obtairied, these grants would be exercisable to the extent vested. The Company has not
recognized compensation expense for these grants, because a grant date as defined in SFAS 123R has not
occurred, This is because they are contingent upon shareholder approval, which cannot be assured.
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In May 2000, the Company amcnded the 1994 Plan to provide that an employee will have two years to
exercise the vested portion of an option upon retirement from the Company, whercas an employce
previously had three months to excreise such option. Compensation cxpense equal to the intrinsic value of
an ¢cmployee’s option at the modification date will be recorded for any employees that receive an extension
of their options upon retirement. The intrinsic value at the modification date for the options subject to the
modifications that were outstanding at December 31, 2006 totaled approximately $119,000.

Restricted Stock.  The Company adopted a Restricted Stock Plan (the Restricted Stock Plan) in 1991,
under which 400,000 shares were authorized for issuance. Under the Restricted Stock Plan, restricted stock
could be granted or sold to selected employees, officers, agents, consultants, advisors and independent
contractors of the Company. The Restricted Stock Plan was terminated by the Board of Directors in
June 2006. . :

Warrants.  In connection with the 2006 equity financing, the Company issued five-year warrants to
purchase an aggregate of 4,230,951 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $4.62 per sharc. The
warrants became excrcisable on April 26, 2006 and, thereafter, are exercisable at any time during their
term. In payment of placement agent fecs for'the 2006 equity financing, the Company issued five-ycar
warrants (o purchase 139,286 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $4.62 per share. In connection
with the bridge notes that were issucd as part of the 2006 equity financing, the Company issucd five-ycar
warrants to purchase an aggregate of 411,906 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $4.62 per
share. The warrants became exercisable on February 1, 2006 and, thereafter, are excrcisable at any time
during their term. The shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of the 2006 financing warrants have
been registered with the SEC.

In connection with an agreement in 2006 for c'ofp()rate communications services, the Company issued
a two-year warrant to purchase an aggregate of 1,667 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $3.66
per share. The Company recorded an expense in the amount of approximately $3,400 for the fair value of
the warrant on the date the services were completed. Based upon the Black-Scholes option pricing model,
the grant date fair value of the warrant was $2.06 per share using assumptions of expected volatility of
105%, contractual term of two years, cxpected dividend rate of zero and a risk-frec interest rate of 4.8%.
The warrant became exercisable upon issuance and is exercisable at any time during its term.

In connection with the loan and security agreement with Silicon Valley Bank and Merrill Lynch
Capital executed on October 25, 2006, the Company issued five-year warrants to purchase an aggregate of
174,418 shares of common stock at an cxercise price of $4.30 per share, The fair value of the warrants was
determined to be approximately $611,000 using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with assumptions
of expected volatility of 112%, contractual term of five years, expected dividend rate of zero and a risk-free
interest rate of 4.8%. Bascd on this fair value, approximately $540,000 was ascribed to the warrants and
treated as a discount against the $15,000,000 loan obtained from Silicon Valley Bank and Merrill Lynch |
Capital. The warrants became exercisable upon issuance and arc cxcrcisable at any time during their term.

In connection with the 2005 financing, the Company issued five-year warrants 1o purchase an
aggregate of 221,333 sharcs of common stock at an exercise price of $12.00 pér share. The warrants
became exercisable on September 3, 2005 and, thereafter, are excrcisable at any time during their term, In
payment of placement agent fees for the 2005 financing, the Company issucd a five-year warrant (0
purchase 33,200 shares of commeon stock at an exercise price of $12.00 per share. The warrant contains
provisions rcquiring the adjustment of the exercise price and number of shares issuablc if the Company
sells (other than in connection with certain permitted transactions, such as strategic collaborations and
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acquisitions approved by the board) shares of common stock at a price lower than the then-current
exercise price of the warrants. The shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of the 2005 ﬁnancmg
warrants have been registerced with the SEC,

In connection with the 2004 financing, the Company issued five-year warrants to purchasc an
aggregate of 153,750 shares of common stock, at an exercise price of $42.00 per share. The warrants
became exercisable on February 23, 2004 and, thereafter, are exercisable at any time during their term.
The warrants contain provisions requiring the adjustment of the exercise price and number of shares
issuable if the Company sclis (other than in connection with certain permitted transactions, such as
strategic collaborations and acquisitions approved by the. board) shares of common stock at a price lower
than the then-current exercise price of the warrants. The warrants are redeemable at the election of the
Company at any time after March 24, 20006, if the volume-weighted average price of the underlying
common stock for each trading day over a period of 20 consecutive trading days is equal to or greater than
$63.00 per share, subject to adjustment. The shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of the 2004
financing warrants have been registered with the SEC. In payment of placement agent fees for the 2004
financing, the Company issucd three-year warrants to purchase an aggregate of 5,833 shares of common
stock at an exercise price of $33.24 per share. The Company recorded a charge to general and
administrative expense of $118,000 for the fair value of the warrants on February 23, 2004. Based upon the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model, the fair value of the warrants was $20.28 per share using assumptions
of expected volatility of 124%, contractual terms of three years, expected dividend rate of zero and a risk-
free rate of interest of 2.2%. '

In connection with its agreement to purchase the manufacturing facility in Denton, Texas, the
Company on April 19, 2(dH, issued to International Isotopes Inc. a three-year warrant to purchase up to
133,333 shares of common stock at a purchase price of $60.00 per share. The warrant was valued at $9.66
per share using an option pricing model with assumptions of expected volatility of 125%, contractual term
of three years, expected dividend rate of zero and a risk-free rate of interest of 4.6%. This warrant expired
April 19, 2004.

NOTE 13. Acquisition of Picoplatin '

In April 2004, the Company acquired from AnorMED, Inc. the worldwide exclusive rights, excluding
Japan, to develop, manufacture and commercialize picoplatin, a platinum-based anti-cancer agent.
AnorMED, Inc. was acquired by Genzyme Corporation in November 2006. Under the terms of the
agreement, the Company paid a one-time upfront milestone payment of $1,000,000 in its common stock
and $1,000,000 in cash. The agreement also initially provided for $13,000,000 in development and
commercialization milestones, payable in cash or a combination of cash and common stock, and a royalty
rate of up to 15% on net product sales after regulatory approval. The license agreement was amended on
Scptember 18, 2006 to modify several key financial terms and expand the licensed territory to include
Japan, thereby providing the Company worldwide rights. In consideration of the amendment, the
Company paid Genzyme $5,000,000 in cash on October 12, 2006 and will pay Genzyme an additional
$5,000,000 in cash by March 31, 2007. The amendment eliminates all development milestone payments to
Genzyme. Genzyme remains entitled to receive up to $5,000,000 in commercialization milestones upon the
attainment of certain levels of annual net sales of picoplatin-after regulatory approval. The amendment
also reduces the royalty payable to Genzyme to a maximum of 9% of annual net product sales. In addition,
the amendment reduces the sharing of sublicense revenues for any sublicenses entered into during the first
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year following the amendment and eliminates the sharing of sublicense revenues with Genzyme on and
after September 18, 2007.

The Company accounted for this transaction by recording a $10,000,000 increase in Licensed Products
and the recognition of a current liability of $10,000,000. The Company concluded that no change in the
expected life of the intangible asset occurred and will, therefore, amortize the increase in Licensed
Products over the same amortization penod used for the original Licensed Products amount. The
Company recognized $306,000 of additional amortization expense during the year ended December 31,
2006 as a result of this increase in Licensed Products.

Licensed Products consists of the picoplatin amortizable intangible with a gross amount of $12,000,000
and accumulated amortization of $764,000 and $292,000 at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
Licensed Products is amortized on a straxght -line basis over 12 years. The estimated annual amortization
expensc for Licensed Products is approximately $1,215,000 for each of the years 2007 through 2011.

NOTE 14. Revenues
The Company did not record any revenues during 2006.

Revenue in 2005 was $15,000, which consisted primarily of royalty payments received in connection
with licensed intellectual property.

Revenue in 2004 was $1,015,000 and consisted primarily of $1,000,000 from milestone payments
received from Boston Scientific Corporation in connection with certain intellectual property licensed to
Boston Scientific Carporation in 2003, : :

NOTE 15. Federal Income Taxes

Temporary differences and carryforwards giving rise to deferred tax asscts (llablhucs) were as follows
{(in thousands):

: December 31,
Deferred Tax Assels (Liabilities): . ) 2006 " 2
Net operating loss carryforwards .. ........................ $ 21,183  § 47,008
Research and experimentation credit carryforwards, . ........ 445 8,883
Capitalized research and development ... oo0ae L. 11,591 11,709
Property and equipment. . ......... ... it 1,757 1,694
Other. ... e 711 718
Net deferred tax assets . ......oovvuvnnn.. e 35,687 70,012
Deferred tax assets valuation allowance D .. {35,687y (70,012)

Net deferred income taxes. ........ ... ..... e $ — 3 —

The Company has established a valuation allowance equal to the amount of its net deferred tax assets
because the Company has not had taxable income since its inception and significant uncertainty cxists
regarding the ultimate realization of its deferred tax assets. Accordingly, no tax benefits have been
recorded in the accompanying statements of operations, The valuation allowance decreased by $34,325,000
in 2006, and increased by $5,251,000 in 2005,

71




PONIARD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

In April 2006, the Company expcrienced a significant change to its capital structure which resulted in
an ownership change, as defined under Section 382 of the IRC. Conscquently, the amount of net operating
loss carryforwards and rescarch and experimentation credit carryforwards available to be used in future
years will be limited under IRC Sections 382 and 383. This limitation will result in the loss of
approximately $93,300,000 (approximately $31,700,000 in tax benefits) of the Company’s net operating loss
carryforwards and $9,100,000 of the research and development credit carryforwards. Accordingly, the
deferred tax asset and related valuation allowance associated to these carryforwards were reduced in 2006
by approximately $40,800,000.

The Company has net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $62,300,000 (net of the impact of
the above referenced change in ownership under IRC Scction 382), which expire from 2007 through 2026.
Rescarch and experimentation credits expire from 2007 to 2026. Future changes in the Company’s
ownership could result in additional limitations on the Company’s ability to utilize its remaining net
operating loss carryforwards and rescarch and experimentation credit carryforwards.

Approximately $21,159,000 of the Company’s net operating loss carryforwards at December 31, 2006,
result from deductions associated with the exercise of non-qualified employee stock options, the
realization of which would result in a credit to sharcholders’ equity.

-NOTE 16. Related Party Transactions

As a consequence of the Company’s 2006 equity financing, entities affiliated with MPM Capital
Management (MPM) acquired beneficial ownership of 7,744,000 common shares, or approximately 31.5%
of the Company’s common stock outstanding immediately following the financing. Entities affiliated with
Bay City Capital Management 1V LLC (BCC) acquired beneficial ownership of 4,643,000 common shares,
or approximately 19.5% of the common shares outstanding immediately following the 2006 equity
financing. Two Company directors, Fred B. Craves and Carl S. Goldfischer, are managing directors of
BCC and possess capital and carried interests in the BCC entities that participated in the 2006 equity
financing. The Company has agreed, for as long as MPM owns at least 10% of the shares of common stock
and warrants purchascd in the financing, to use its best cfforts to cause one person designated by MPM
and one person designated by mutual agreement of MPM and BCC to be nominated and clected to the
Company’s board of directors. Nicholas J. Simon II1, a representative of MPM, was appointed to the board
of directors on April 26, 2006. Mr. Simon is a general partner of certain of the MPM entities that
participated in the financing and possesses capital and carried intcrests in those entities. '

NOTE 17. 401(K) Plan

The Company sponsors a 401(K) plan that covers substantially all employees. At its own discretion,
the Company may make contributions to the plan on a percentage of participants’ contributions. The
Company made contributions of approximately $9,000, $12,000 and $11,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively. The Company has no other post-employment or post-
retirement benefit plans. '
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NOTE 18. Unaudited Quarterly Data

The following table presents summarized unaudited quarterly financial data (in thousands, except per
share data):

First " Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
2006 : - '
Revenues.............. e e . 38 - % -5 — § —.
Operating expenses . . ........voevneneenenn.., L 3,999 5211 . 5,555 6,469
Nethoss oo e e e e o {5,799) (6,488) (4,886) (6;121)
Net loss applicable to common shares. . . .. e ©(5,924)  (6,613)  (5,011)  (6,246)
Net loss per common share:
Basic...........c.ooiiiiil e e . {0.51) (0.37) ©022) - - (027) "
Diluted.................. ... e .. (051 (037 (0.22) {0.27)
-2005 o R . _ ‘
REVEMUES. ..ottt e e e § — 8 PR 2.8 1.
Operating expenses .. .. ....... e e 5,106 8,887 3,004 3,988
Netloss ..o e ., (5,076) (8,853) (3,078) (3,990)
Net loss applicable ta common shares .............. (5.201) (8,978) (3,203) (4,115)
Net loss per common share: .
Basic............ oo, s . (0.98), . (1.57) (0.56), .{0.72)
Diluted. . ... e -, (098) . (1.57) (0.56) .. (0.72)

Note: Net loss per common share, basic and diluted, may not add to net loss per common share for
the year due to rounding.
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Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACUCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUN TING AND
Fi INANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not Appllcable.

Item 94. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including the
Company’s Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, the Company has
evaluated the effectiveness and design of its disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(c)) as of the cnd of the period covered by this report, and, based on their
evaluations, the Chairman and Chief Executive Officcr and the Chief Financial Officer have concluded
that these disclosure controls and procedures were cffective as of December 31, 2006, in ensuring that all
material information required to be disclosed in the reports that the Company files or submits under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, have been made known to them in a timely fashion.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsibie for establishing and maintaining adequate internat control over financial
reporting for the Company and for the assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
Stated of America. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the Company’s assets; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and that the Company’s receipts
and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of the Company’s management
and directors; and (jii) provide reasonable assurance regarding the prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on
the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies and procedures may deteriorate.

Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the system of internal controf over
financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation,
management concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2006. Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2006 has been audited by KPMG LLP, a registered independent
public accounting firm, as stated in their report below.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Sharehoiders
Poniard Pharmaceuticals, Inc.:

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Annual
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, that Poniard Pharmaceuticals, Inc. maintained
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSQ). Poniard Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s management is responsible for
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s
assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internat control over financial reporting was maintained in
all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion,

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposcs in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal
control over financial reporting includes thase policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance
of records that, in rcasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being madc only in accordance with authorizations
of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention
or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements,

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectivencss to future periods are subject to the risk
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Poniard Pharmaceuticals, Inc. maintained effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects,
bascd on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Also, in our opinion, Poniard
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSQ).
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We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheet of Poniard Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and subsidiary as
of December 31, 2006 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations, cash flows and
shareholders’ equity and comprehensive income for each of the yeats in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2006, and our report dated-March 15, 2007, exprcssed an unqualificd opinion on those
consolidated financial statements

/s KPMG LLP

Seattle, Washington - ’ :

March 15, 2007
i

Changes in internal control over financial reporting

There have been no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the Company’s fourth fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, the Company’s internal controi over financial reporting.

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not Applicable.
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PART Il

Item 10, DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OF THE
REGISTRANT '

(a) Directors and Audit Committee. The information required by this item is incorporated herein by
reference to the sections captioned “Election of Directors™ and “Board of Directors and Corporate
Governance” in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual Meeting of Shareholders
to be held on June 14, 2007, to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the Commission,
pursuant to Regulation 14A not later than 120 days after December 31, 2006.

(b) Executive Officers. Information with respect to the Company’s executive officers is sct forth

below,
. }

Name _Age Position with the Company

Gerald McMahon, PhD .................. 52 Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Caroline M. Loewy. .............. e 40 Chief Financial Officer ‘

David A, Karlin, M.D.............. e 63  Senior Vice President, Clinical Development &
Regulatory Affairs

Anna L. Wight, JD. .................0. ... ‘52 Vice President, Legal and Secretary

Cheni Kwok, PhD ........... ... .. .. ... 38  Vice President, Business Development

Business Experience

Gerald McMahon, PhD, was appointed Chief Executive Officer of the Company in May 2004 and
Chairman of the Board of Directors in June 2004. Dr. McMahon was appointed President of the Company
on Junc 15, 2005. Previously, he was President of SUGEN, Inc., a biopharmaceutical company focused on
the discovery and development of novel targeted small-molecule drugs. At SUGEN, Dr. McMahon played
a key role in the discovery and development of several innovative cancer products, including Sutent®, a
multi-targeted protein kinase inhibitor for the treatment of advanced cancers, now in Phase 111 trials with
Pfizer Inc. SUGEN was acquired by Pharmacia Corp. in 1999, which subsequéntly was acquired by Pfizer
in 2003. Prior to his role at SUGEN, which he joined in 1993, Dr. McMahon held several research and *
development management positions at Sandoz Pharmaceuticals {(now Novartis}, where his responsibilities
included the establishment of external collaborations and the development of corporate atliances within
the United States and Europe. Dr. McMahon has contributed to more than 100 scientific publications and
was a Staff Scientist and Principal Investigator at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology and Tufts
University School of Medicine early in his career. He holds a B.S. in Biology and a PhD in Biochemistry
from Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute. ‘

Caroline M. Loewy was appointced Chief Financial Officer in July 2006. She initially joined the
Company in June 2006 as Executive Vice President of Strategic Planning. Ms. Loewy has served in a
business and financial consulting capacity to biotechnology companies since 2004. Prior thereto, she was
Executive Director, Equity Research at Morgan Stanley, Inc. from March 2000 to June 2004, where she
covered large cap biotechnology stocks. Previously, she was with Prudential Securities, first as an associate
capital goods analyst in San Francisco from 1993 to 1996 and then as a senior biotechnology analyst in New
York from 1996 to 2000. Ms. Loewy holds an M.B.A. from Carnegie Mellon, Graduate School of Business
and a B.A, in economies from the University of California, Berkeley.

David A. Kariin, M.D., joined the Company as Senior Vice President of Clinical Development and
Regulatory Affairs in July of 2005. Prior thereto, Dr. Karlin served as Vice President of Clinical Research
at Cellegy Pharmaceuticals, Inc. from 2002 to 2005. Dr. Karlin’s experience in the biotech and
pharmaceutical industry also includes positions as Vice President of Clinical Development for
Genteric, Inc., a privately held company specializing in gene therapy during 2002, and Senior Medical
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Director at Matric Pharmaceuticals, Inc., an oncology therapeutics development company (1991 to 2001).
Dr. Karlin has also served as Vice President for Clinical Research and Medical Director at SciClone
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. from 1995 to 1999 and held various positions at Syntex Corporation, including
Director of Medical Research, from 1986 to 1995. Before joining the pharmaceutical industry, Dr. Karlin
was an associate professor at Temple University School of Medicine and an assistant professor at the
University of Texas.M.D. Anderson Hospital and Tumor Institute. He received his M.D. from the
University of Chicago and completed his residency in Internal Medicine at the University of Michigan and
a fellowship in'Gastroenterology and Gastrointestinal Oncology at the Umversuty of Chicago He holds a
B.S. in Biology from the University of Illinois.

Anna Lewak Wight, JD, was appointed Vice President, Legal and Secretary in September 2001. Prior
thereto, she served as Director of Intellectual Property since joining the Company in 1994, Ms. Wight
previously was a partner in the law firm of Morrison & Foerster, where she managed their Seattle
intellectual property practice. Ms. Wight also was a partner in the intellectual property law firm of
Harness, Dickey and Pierce in Michigan, where she established and chaired the Bioiechnology and
Medical Arts Group. Ms. Wight received a JD from Wayne State University Law School and an MS from
the Genetics Program at Michigan State University.

Cheni Kwok, PhD, joined the Company as Vice President, Business Development in July 2006. Prior
thereto, she was Director, Business Development at Celera Genomics, a division of Applera Corporation
engaged in the discovery and development of targeted therapeutics for cancer, autoimmune and
inflammatory disease, from 2004 through June 2006. From 2000 to 2004, Dr. Kwok served in various -
business development positions, including as Associate Director, Business Development at Exelixis, Inc., a
publicly held drug discovery company. Dr. Kwok recelved a bachelor’s degree in biotechnology from
Imperial College of Science, Technology and Medicine, UnlverSIty of London, U.K. and a PhD in human
molecular genetics from the University of Cambridge, UK.

(¢) Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act. The information required by this item is
incorporated herein by reference to the section captioned “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting
Compliance” in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to
be held June 14, 2007, to be filed with the Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A not later than 120 days
after December 31, 2006. o

'(d) Code of Ethics. The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the
section captioned “Board of Directors and Corporate Governance” in the Company’s definitive Proxy
Statement for the 2007 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held June14, 2006, to be filed with the
Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A not later than 120 days after December 31, 2006.

Item 11.  EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

3

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the sections captioned
“Executive Compensation” and “Board of Directors and Corporate Governance—Compensation
Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the 2007 ’
Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held June 14, 2007, to be filed with the Commission pursuam to
Regulation 14A not later than 120 days after December 31, 2006.

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the sections captioned
“Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” and “Executive Compensation-
Equity Compensation Plan Information” in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual
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Meeting of Shareholders to be held June 14, 2007, to be filed with the Commission pursuant to Regulation
14A not later than 120 days after December 31, 2006. . .

Item 13, CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the sections captioned
“Certain Relationships and Related Transactions with Management” and “Board of Directors and
Corporate Governance” in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders to be held June 14, 2007, to be filed with the Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A not
later than 120 days after December 31, 2006.

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the sections captioned
“Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” and “Ratification of Appointment of Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm” in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders to be held June 14, 2007, to be filed with the Commission pursuant to Regulation
14A not later than 120 days after December 31, 2006. '
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. PART IV
ftem 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) (1) Financial Statements—See Index to Financial Statements.
(2) Financial Statement Schedules—Not applicable.
(3) Exhibits—Sce Exhibit Index filed herewith.
(b) Exhibits—See Exhibit Index filed herewith.
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authorized.

Date: March 15, 2007

. SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly

PONIARD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

{Registrant)

T

/s/ CARQOLINE M. LOEWY

Caroline M. Loewy
Chief Financial Officer

s

'

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and as of the dates

indicated:

/s/ GERALD MCMAHON

- Gerald McMahon

/s/ FRED B. CRAVES

Fred B. Craves

/s/ E. ROLLAi\ID DICKSON

E. Rolland Dickson

/s/ CARL S. GOLDFISCHER

Ca r_l S. Goldfischer

/s ROBERT M. LITTAUER

Robert M. Littauer

/s/ DAVID R. STEVENS

David R. Stevens

fs/ NICHOLAS J. SIMON I

Nicholas J. Simon Hl

/s/ RONALD A. MARTELL

Ronald A. Martell

/s MICHAEL K. JACKSON

Michael K. Jackson
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Description
31 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation, as amended February 7, 2007 .......
3.2 Restated Bylaws, as amended March 28,2006 . ... .. ... ... .. ... il
10.1 Restated 1994 Stock OptionPlan($). .. ... ..o
10.2 1991 Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors, as amended(}) ................
10.3 ReSerVed. . oo e e e e e
10.4 Indemnification Agreement(E) .. ... ... e s
10.5 Stock Option Grant Program for Nonemployes Directors under the NeoRx 2004
Incentive Compensation Plan, asamended($) ......... ... ... o ool
10.6 Stock Option Agreement, dated December 19, 2000, between NeoRx Corporation and
Carl 8. Goldfischer(E) ... ..o e s
10.7 Stock Option Agreement, dated January 17, 2001, between NeoRx Corporation and
Carl S. Goldfischer{d) ...
10.8 License Agreement dated as of April 2, 2004, between the Company and AnorMED,
Inc. Certain portions of the agreement have been omitted pursuant to a request for
confidential trealment . .. ... e e e
10.9 Amendment No. 1 to License Agreement effective as of September 18, 2006, between
the Company and AnorMED, Inc. Certain portions of the agreement have been omitted
pursuant to a request for confidential treatment. . .......... ..o i
10.10 Stock Option Grant Program for Nonemployee Directors under the NeoRx Corporation
1994 Restated Stock Option Plan{). . ...t e
10.11 Facilities Lease dated February 15, 2002, between NeoRx Corporation and Selig Real
Estate Holdings Six . ... ... . e
10.12  Amended and Restated 2004 Incentive Compensation Plan as amended and restated
June 16, 20000F) . .. ..o e
T D T L U S e
10.14 Key Executive Severance Agreement dated as of February 28, 2003 between the
Company and Anna Wight(£) ... ...
10.15 Amendment No. 1 dated as of March 30, 2005 to Key Executive Severance Aére;:ment
dated as of February 28, 2003, between the Company and Anna Wight($).............
10.16 Change of Control Agreement dated as of February 28, 2003, between the Company and
Anna Wight(F) ... .o e
10.i7 Key Executive Severance Agreement dated as of June 23 2005, between the Company
‘ and David AL Karlin(£) .. ... oo
10.18 Change of Control Agreement dated as of June 23, 2005, between the Company and
David A Karlin(d) .. ..o e e
10,19 Employment Letter dated as of April 26, 2004, between the Company and Gerald

MceMahon(E) . .o e e

82

(N)
(V)
(F)
(E)

(H)

(B)

(1)

Q

(Y)
M)
(A)

(G)

©
(L)
(©
(P)

(P}




Exhibit Description
10.20 Key Executive Severance Agreement dated as of May 11, 2004, between the Company
and Gerald McMahon(Z) .. ..o it e
10.21 Change of Control Agreement dated as of May 11, 2004, between the Company and
Gerald McMahon(d) ... ... o e
10.22 Reserved,
10.23 Reserved. ,
10.24 Key Employee Severance Agreement dated as of July 11, 2006, between the Company
and Michael K. Jackson{f} ... ... oo e
10.25 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement under 2004 Incentive Compensation
24 2T 3 '
10.26 Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under 2004 Incentive Compensation
Plan ) . e e P )
10.27 Key Executive Severance Agreement dated as of June 23, 2006, between the Company
and Caroline M. Loewy(d) . ... .ot et
10.28 Change of Control Agreement dated as of June 23, 2006, between the Company and
Caroline M. Loewy(d) . ..ottt e e e e '
10.29  Executive Severance Agreement dated as of June 23, 2006, between the Company and
Cheni Kwok(d) ..ot it i i e e
10.30 Change of Control Agreement dated as of July 1, 2006, between the Company and
Cheni KWoK(E) .. .ov e i st e e e
10.31 Research Funding and Option Agreement dated August 4, 2005, between the Company
and The Scripps Research Institute. Certain portions of the agreement have been
omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment....... R
1032  Form of Directors’ Indemnification Agreements(f) ...t
10.33  Lease Agreement dated as of July 10, 2006, between the Company and ARE San
FranciscoO NO. 1T LLC .. ot e i e it ce s e rannn s s
10.34 Loan and Security Agreement dated as of October 25, 2006, among the Company,
Silicon Valley Bank and Merrill Lynch Capital . ...
10.35 Secured Promissory Notes to Silicon Valley Bank and Merrill Lynch Capital. ..........
231 Consentof KPMG ... ... .o iiniinees N PR feeeeaas
31.1 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of President and Chief Executive Officer.......
312 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer ....................
321 Section 1350 Certification of President and Chief Executive Officer . . ... i
322 Section 1350 Certification of Chief Financial Officer ..................... oot

(1) Management contract or compensatory plan.

(R)

®

(A) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001, and
incorporated herein by reference. : :
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(B) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8 K frled June- 16, 2005, and
. rncorporated herein by reférence. .

(C) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s RCngtlI'ElIIOt’l Statement on Form S-3/A (Regrstratron No 333-
111344) filed on February 23, 2004, and rncorporated herein by reference '

(D) Reserved.

(E) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit A to the Company’s definitive proxy statement on Schedu]e 14A
filed April 10, 1996.

(F) Filed a5an exhibit to the Company s Form 10-K for the frscal yéar ended December 3, 1995 and
) 1ncorpordted herein by reference.

(G) Filed as an exhibit to the Company 5 Current Report on'Form 8-K flled on Jone 21, 2006 and
incorporated herein by reference.

(H) Filed as an exhibit to the Company s Form 10- Q for the quarterly period ended March 31 1996, and
" incorporated herein by reference.

(I) Filed as an exhibit to the Company S Form 10- K for the fiscal’ year ended December 31, 2000, and
mcorporated herein by reference.’

(J) Filed as an 'exhibit to'the Company’s Current Réport on Form 8-K frled on October 31, 2006, and
' 1ncorporated herein by reference.

(K) Filed as an exhibit to the Compdny s Current Reports on Form 8-K filed an April 28, 2006 and
7 June 27, 2006, and incorporated hetein by reference.

(L) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’ s Formi 10- Q for the quarterly perlod ended March 31 2005 and
incorporated herein by reference.

M) Filed as an exhibit to the Company s Form 10- Q for the quarterly perlod ended June 30 2002 and
meorporated herein by reference.

(N) Filed as an exhlbrt to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8- K frled on September 26, 2006 and
" incorporated herem by reference.

(O) Filed as an exhlbrt to the Company s Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2004,
and incorpordted herem by reference

(P), Filed as an exhibit t6 the Company’s Current Report on Form 8- K flled on June 29 2005, and
mcorpordted herem by reference.

(Q) Filed as an exhibit to ‘the Company $ Form 10 Q for the quarterly period ended March 31,2004, and
incorporated herein by reference.

(R). Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s:Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30,.2004, and
. rncorporated herem by reference .

(S) Filed as an exhrbrt to the Company $ Current Report on Form 8 K flled June 23 2006, and
mcorporated herein by ieference.

(T) Reserved.

(U) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2005;
and ancorporated herem by reference.

(V) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10 Q for the quarterly perlod ended March 31, 2006 and
incorporated herein by reference.
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(W) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report Form 8-K filed on July 13, 2006 and
incorporated herein by reference.

(X) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2006 and
incorporated herein by reference.

(Y) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2006
and incorporated herein by reference.

(Z) Filed herewith.
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Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors
Poniard Pharmaceuticals, Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (Nos. 333-140584,
333-134480, 333-123672, 333-115497, 333-113706, 333-111344, 33345398 and 333-35442 on Forms S-3 and
in the registration statements Nos. 333-135861, 333-126209, 333-115729, 333-89476, 333-71368, 333-41764,
333-32583, 33-43860, 33-46317 and 33-87108 on Forms S-8)} of Poniard Pharmaceuticals, Inc. of our reports
dated March 15, 2007, with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of Poniard Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
and subsidiary as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
cash flows, and shareholders’ equity and comprehensive loss for each of the years in the three-year period
ended December 31, 2006, management’s assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2006, which reports appear in the December 31, 2006 annual report on Form 10-X of Poniard
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Our reports refer to the adoption by Poniard Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and subsidiary of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment, effective January 1, 2006.

/s{ KPMG LLP

Seattle, Washington
March 15, 2007




‘ Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS

I, Gerald McMahon, President-and Chief Executive Officer of Poniard Pharmaceuticals, Inc,, certify that;

1.
2,

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Poniard Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

Based on my knowiedge, this report does not contain any. untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by
this report; L

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report; fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a—15(e) and 15d-15(e))
for the registrant and have: .

a) * designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidited subsidiaries, is made-known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being
prepared; ' '

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and

presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls
- and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;
and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control-over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b} any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have
a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 15, 2007

/s/ GERALD MCMAHON
Gerald McMahon
President and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Caroline M. Loewy, Chief Financial Officer of Poniard Pharmaceuticals, Inc., certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Poniard Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and [ are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(¢))
for the registrant and have;

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being
prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
- regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls
- and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;
and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and *

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invoives management or other employees who have
a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 15, 2007

/s/ CAROLINE M. LOEWY
Caroline M. Loewy
Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1
Certification of Annual Report

I, Gerald McMahon, President and Chief Executive Officer of Poniard Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the
“Company”), certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes;Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
that:

Lo | . S L .
1. the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Company for the year ended December 31, 2006 (the
“Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (12 U S, C 78m or 780(d}); and :

2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all materlal respects the ﬁnancml
condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 15, 2007 ' . By: /s/ GERALD MCMAHON
) . . Gerald McMahon
President and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 32.2
Certification of Annual Report

I, Caroline M. Loewy, Chief Financial Officer of Poniard Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”), certify,
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that: - '

1, the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Company for the year ended December 31, 2006 (the
“Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (12 U.S.C. 78m or 780(d)); and

2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company. :

Date: March 15, 2007 By: /s/ CAROLINE M. LOEWY
Caroline M., Loewy
Chief Financial Officer
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- The terms “us, * “our” and “the Company” refer to Poniard Phannaceunca!s Inc. and its subs:d:ary

We are filing this Amendment No. 1 to our Form 10-K for thc fiscal year ended December 31, 2006
(the “Form 10-K”), originally filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 16, 2007, for
the sole purpose of providing the information required by Part III of Form 10-K. We are also updating the
signature page, the Exhibit Index referenced in Item 15 of Part TV, and Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2.

Pursuant to Rule 12b-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the complete text of
each of Items 10, 11,'12, 13 and 14 of Part 11 and Item 15 of Item 1V, as amended, is set forth below. This
Amendment No. 1 speaks as of the-original filing date of the Form 10-K and reflects only the changes to
Part 111 and Part 1V discussed above. No other information included in the Form 10-K, including the
information set forth in Part I, Part LI, our financial statcments-and the footnotes thereto, has been-
modified or updated in any way.




PART 111

Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OF THE
REGISTRANT

Directors

Eight directors currently serve on our board of directors. These directors each serve one-ycar terms
that will expire at our 2007 annual meeting of shareholders to be held on Junc 14, 2007, or until their
successors have been elected and qualified. The record date for our annual meeting is April 9, 2007, and
we will, prior to the annual meeting, file with the Securitics and Exchange Commission, or SEC, and
deliver to each shareholder of record a proxy statement with respect to the clection of directors and other
maltters to be acted upon at the 2007 annual meeting of sharcholders. Each of the board members named
below currently is expected to stand as a nominee for reetection as a director at our 2007 annual meeting..
Shareholders are advised to read our proxy statement and any other relevant information filed with the SEC
when they become available because they will contain important information.

In connection with our $65.0 million equity financing, which closed on April 26, 2006, we entered into
an agreement to use our best cfforts to cause one person designated by MPM Capital Management, or
MPM, and one person designated by mutual agreement of MPM and Bay City Capital Management IV
LLC, or Bay City Management, the lead investors in the financing, to be nominated and elected to our
board of directors. Mr. Simon was nominated and elected to the board upon the recommendation of
MPM, which recommendation was independently evaluated, approved and recommended to the board by
our nominaling and corporate governance committee based on the criteria described under the heading
“Director Nominations and Qualifications” below. MPM and Bay City Management haye not
recommended a second designee. Two current directors, Drs. Craves and Goldfischer, are managing
members of Bay City Capital LLC, an affiliate of Bay City Management.

GERALD McMAHON, PhD, age 52, was appointed our Chief Executive Officer in May 2004,
Chairman of the Board of Directors in June 2004, and President in June 2005, Dr. McMahon was
President of SUGEN Inc., a biopharmaceutical company focused on the discovery and development of
novel targeted small-molecule drugs, from March 2002 to January 2004. Prior thereto, he held a number of
research and development management positions at SUGEN and played a key role in-the discovery and
development of several innovative cancer products, including SUTENT®, a multi-targeted protein kinase
inhibitor for the treatment of advanced cancers recently launched by Pfizer, Inc. SUGEN, which
Dr. McMahon joined in 1993, was acquired by Pharmacia Corp. in 1999, which subsequently was acquired
by Pfizer in 2003. Prior to his role at SUGEN, Dr. McMahon held several research and development
management positions at Sandoz Pharmaceuticals (now Novartis), where his responsibilities included the
establishment of external collaborations and the development of corporate alliances within the United
States and Europe. Dr. McMahon has contributed to more than 100 scientific publications and was a Staff
Scientist and Principal Investigator at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology and Tufts University
School of Medicine early in his career. Dr. McMahon currently is a director of Trellis Bioscience, Inc., a
development stage biotechnology company. Dr. McMahon holds a BS degree in b:ology and a PhD in
biochemistry from Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute.

FREDERICK B. CRAVES, PhD, age 61, has been a director since July 1993. D[..Cravcs was Vice
Chairman of the Board of Directors from March 2003 to May 2004, and served as Chairman of the Board
from July 1993 to March 2003. In June 1997, Dr. Craves co-founded Bay City Capital LLC, or BCC, a
merchant bank providing advisory services and investing in life sciences companies, and has served as a
Managing Director of BCC since its inception. Dr. Craves also founded two additional investment
companies, The Craves Group LLC (in 1996) and Burrill & Craves (in 1994). He was the founding
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of Codon Corp. and the co-founder of Creative
Biomolecules, Inc., both biotech companies. Currently, Dr. Craves is Chairman of the Board of BCC, and




a director of V1A Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Reliant Pharmaceuticals Corporation, both development stage
biotechnology companies. Dr. Craves holds a PhD in pharmacology and experlmental toxicology from the
University of California, San Francisco.

E. ROLLAND DICKSON, MD, age 73, has been a director since May 1998. In December 2003,
Dr. Dickson retired as the Mary Lowell Leary Professor of Medicine at the Mayo Medical School and as
Director of Development at the Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and Research; positions which
he had held since 1993. Dr. Dickson continues to hold Emeritus titles for each of these positions. In 1999,
Dr. Dickson was appointed to the Board of Trustees of the Mayo Foundation. Dr. Dicksen is a director of
Axcan Pharma, Inc., a publicly owned biotechnology company, and Pathways Diagnostic Corporation, a
development stage biotechnology-company, and is a member of the scientific advisory committees of
Baxter International-and BCC. Dr. Dickson received his MS degrec from the University of Minnesota and
his MD degree from The Ohio Stat¢ University. . o

CARLS. GOLDFISCHER, MD, age 48, has been a director since March 2000. He has been
Managing Director of BCC since July 2001 and serves on its Board of Directors and Executive Committee.
He joined BCC as an Executive-in-Residence in January 2001. Dr. Goldfischer was the Vice President,
Finance and Chief Financial Officer of ImClone Systems, Inc. from May 1996 to July 2000. Dr. Goldfischer
is Chairman of the Board of Diametrics Medical, Inc., a publicly owned medical apparatus company, and a
director of Etex Corporation, Avera Pharmaceuticals, Inc., EnteroMedics, Inc., PTC Therapeutics, Inc.,
MAP Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Metabolex, Inc., all development stage biotechnology companies. He is a
member of the Board of Trustees of Sarah Lawrence College. Dr. Goldfischer received his MD degree
from Albert Einstein College of Medicine in 1988, and served as & resident in radiation oncology at
Montefiore Hospital ‘of the Albert Einstein College of Medicine until 1991,

ROBERT M. LITTAUER, age 58, has been a director since Méy 2004. Mr. Littauer has over 30 years
experience in the medical technology, high technology and biotechnology industries. From June 1987 to
September 1996, he served the company in various management positions, including Senior Vice
President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer. Mr. Littauer has been Chief Financial Officer of Light
Sciences Oncology, Inc., an early-stage biotechnology company, since October 2005. He has been a Partner
of Tatum Partners, a professional services firm, since September 2003. Mr. Littauer was Chief Executive
Officer of Kaleidos Pharma, Inc., an early-stage biotechnology company, from: August 2002 to’

December 2005. Previously, he served as Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Detto
Technologies, Inc., a software developer, from June 2001 to July 2002, He was Chief Executive Officer
from January 2001 to April 2001, and Vice President and Chief Financiai Officer from October 2000 to
May 2001, of Plymedia, Inc., a developer of digital imaging technology. Prior to that, he held Chief
Financial Officer and senior executive positions at Avenue A, Inc. {(now aQuantive, Inc.), an internet
media company, and at Ostex Intefnational, Inc., a medical diagnostics company. Mr. Littauer received his
MBA degree and his BS degree i in industrial engmeermg and operations research from Cornell Unwers1ty

RONALD A. MARTELL, age, 44, has been a director since June 2006. Mr Martell served as Senlor
Vice President, Commercial Operation of Imclone Systems Incorporated from January 2004 to
August 2006. While at ImClorie, Mr. Martell was responsible for overseeing the company’s sales,
marketing, project and alliance management. Mr. Martell Jomed ImClone in November 1998 as Vice
President, Marketitig. From'1988 to 1998, he served in a- varlety of posmons at Genentech, Inc., most
recently as Group Manager, Oncology Products. : S .

NICHOLAS J. SIMON [II age 53, has been a director since Apl’ll 2006 Mr. Slmon hasbeena
Managing Director of Clarus Ventures, LLC, a life sciences focused venture capltal firm that he co-
founded in 2005. He has served as a general partner of MLPM B10Ventures Il since October 2001.

Mr. Simon has more than 26 years of industry and investment experience.in biotechnology. From 2000 to
July 2001, he was Chief Executive Officer, founder and a director of Collabra Pharma, Inc., a .




pharmaccutical development company. From 1989 to March 2000, Mr. Simon served in various
management positions at Genentech, Inc., including Vice President of Business and Corporate
Development. Mr. Simon currently serves on the board of directors of Barrier Therapeutics, Inc., a public
biotechnology company. In addition, he is a director of ARYx Therapeutics, Inc., NeoSil Incorporated,
QuatRx Pharmaceuticals Co., Verus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Sienta, Inc., which are private
biotechnology companies. He also is on the advisory council at the Gladstone Institute, a private not-for-
profit research institute affiliated with the University of California, San Francisco. Mr. Simon received a
BS degree in microbiology from the University of Maryland and an MBA in marketing from Loyola
University.

DAVID R. STEVENS, PhD, age 58, has been a director since May 2004. Dr. Stevens has participated
in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries since 1978. He is currently executive chairman and a
member of the board of directors of Surginetics, Inc., a development stage medical device company.
Dr. Stevens is also chairman of CanCog Technologies, Inc., a contract research organization, and a
director of Advanced Cosmetic Intervention, Inc., a privately owned medical device company, and Aqua
Bounty Technologies, Inc., a biotechnology company listed on the London Stock Exchange Alternative
Investment Market (AIM). He was an advisor to BCC from 1999 through December 2006. Dr. Stevens was
formerly President and CEO of Deprenyl Animal Health, Inc., from 1990 to 1998, and Vice President,
Research and Development, of Agrion Corp. He began his career in pharmaceutical research and
development at the former Upjohn Company, where he contributed to the preclinical development of
Xanax® and Halcion®, Dr. Stevens received BS and DVM degrees from Washington State University and
a PhD in Comparative Pathology from the University of California, Davis.

Executive Officers

Information with respect to our current executive officers is set forth below.

Name _Age Position with the Company

Gerald McMahon, PhD .. 52  Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Caroline M. Loewy........ 41  Chief Financial Officer

David A. Karlin, MD. .. ... 63  Senior Vice President, Clinical Development & Regulatory Affairs
Anna L. Wight, JD........ 52 Vice President, Legal and Secretary

Cheni Kwok, PhD ........ 38  Vice President, Business Development

Business Experience

Gerald McMahon, PhD, was appointed Chief Executive Officer of the Company in May 2004 and
Chairman of the Board of Directors in June 2004. Dr. McMahon was appointed President of the Company
on June 15, 2005. Previously, he was President of SUGEN, Inc., a biopharmaceutical company focused on
the discovery and development of novel targeted small-molecule drugs. At SUGEN, Dr. McMahon played
a key role in the discovery and development of several innovative cancer products, including Sutent®, a
multi-targeted protcin kinase inhibitor for the treatment of advanced cancers recently Jaunched by Pfizer
Inc. SUGEN was acquired by Pharmacia Corp. in 1999, which subsequently was acquired by Pfizer in 2003.
Prior to his role at SUGEN, which he joined in 1993, Dr. McMahon held several research and
development management positions at Sandoz Pharmaceuticals (now Novartis), where his responsibilities
included the establishment of external collaborations and the development of corporate alliances within
the United States and Europe. Dr. McMahon has contributed to more than 100 scientific publications and
was a Staff Scientist and Principal Investigator at the Massachusetts Institutc of Technology and Tufts
University School of Medicine early in his career. He holds a B.S. in Biology and a PhD in Biochemistry
from Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute.

Caroline M. Loewy was appointed Chief Financial Officer effective in July 2006. She mmally ]omcd the
Company in June 2006 as Executive Vice President of Strategic Planning. Ms. Loewy has servedina -




business and financial consulting capacity to biotechnology companics since 2004. Prior thereto, she was
Executive Director, Equity Research at Morgan Stanley, Inc., from March 2000 to June 2004, where she
covered large cap biotechnology stocks. Previously, she was with Prudential Securitics, first as an associate
capital goods analyst in San Francisco from. 1993 to 1996 and then as a senior biotechnology analyst in New
York from 1996 to 2000. Ms. Loewy holds an M.B.A. from Carnegic Mellon, Graduate School of Business
and a B.A. in economics from the University of California, Berkeley.

David A. Karlin, MD, joined the Company as Senior Vice President of Clinical Development and
Regulatory Affairs in July of 2005. Prior thercto, Dr. Karlin served as Vice President of Clinical Rescarch
at Cellegy Pharmaceuticals, Inc. from 2002 to 2005. Dr. Karlin’s experience in the biotech and
pharmaccutical industry also includes positions as Vice President of Clinical Development for
Genteric, Inc., a privately held company specializing in gene therapy during 2002, and Senior Medical
Director at Malnc Pharmaceuticals, Inc., an oncology therapeutics development company from 1991 to.
2001. Dr. Karlin has also served as Vice President for Clinical Rescarch and Medical Director at SciClone
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. from 1995 to 1999 and held various positions at Syntex Corporation, including
Director of Medical Research, from 1986 to 1995, Before joining the pharmaceutical industry, Dr. Karlin
was an associate professor at Temple University School of Medicine and an assistant professor at the
University of Texas M.D. Anderson Hospital and Tumor Institute. He received his MD from the
University of Chicago and completed his residency in Internal Medicine at the University of Michigan and
a fellowship in Gastroenterology and Gastrointestinal Oncology at the Univcrsity of Chicago. He holds a
B.S. in Biology from the University of Illinois. :

Anna Lewak Wight, JD, was appointed Vice President, Legal in May 2002 and was appointed Sccretary
in November 2002. Prior thereto, she served as Director of Intellectual Property of the Company from
October 1996 through April 2002 and as Senior [ntellectual Property Counsel from 1994 until October
2006. Ms, Wight previously was a partner in the law firm of Morrison & Foerster, LLP, where she managed
their Scattle intclicctual property practice. Ms. Wight also was a partner in the intcllectual property law
firm of Harness, Dickey and Picrce, PLC in Michigan, where she established and chaired the
Biotechnology and Medical Arts Group. Ms. Wight reccived a JD from Wayne Statc University Law
School and an MS from the Genetics Program at Michigan State University.

Cheni Kwok, PhD, joined the Company as Vice President, Business Development in July 2006. Prior
thercto, she was Dircctor, Business Development at Celera Genomics, a division of Applera Corporation
engaged in the discovery and development of targeted therapeutics for cancer, autoimmune and
inflammatory discase, from 2004 through Junc 2006. From 2000 to 2004, Dr. Kwok scrved in various
business development positions, including as Associate Dircctor, Business Development at Exclixis, Inc., a
publicly held drug discovery company. Dr. Kwok received a bachelor’s degree in biotechnology from
Imperial College of Science, Technology and Medicine, University of London, U.K. and a PhD in human
molecular genetics from the University of Cambridge, UK.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance .

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, requires our directors and
executive officers, and persons who beneficially own more than 10% of our outstanding common stock, to
file with the SEC initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in their beneficial ownership of our
common stock. Directors, executive officers and greater-than-10% shareholders are required by SEC
regulations to furnish us with copies of all Section 16(a) forms they file.

Based solely on our review of the copies of the forms we received, or written representations from
certain reporting persons that no such forms were required for those persons, we believe that during 2006
all filing requircments of Section 16(a) applicable to dircctors, exccutive officers and greater-than-10%
shareholders were complied with by such persons, except that one Form 4 rcportmg onc option grant to
Dr. McMahon was filed late. :




Code of Ethigs and Code of Conduct o

We have adopted a Code of Ethics that applies to our chief executive officer, chief financial officer,
principal accounting officer, controller and other senior accounting officers and a Code of Conduct that
applies to all officers, directors and employees of our company. These codes are posted on'our web site at
www.poniard.com under the heading “Investors—Corporate Governance.” We intend to satisfy the
disclosure requirements regarding any. amendment to or-waiver of the Code of Ethics with respect to the
covered persons by posting such information on our web site. - : o .

+

Director Nominations and Qualifications

The nominating and corporate governance committee of our board of directors will consider
nominees for the board recommended by shareholders with respect to elections to be held at an annual
meeting, although the committee is not obligated to recommend such nominces to the board. In te
accordance with our restated bylaws, to nominate a director for election to the board of directors at an
annual meeting of shareholders, a shareholder must deliver written notice of such nomination to our

corporate secretary not fewer than 60 days nor more than 90 days prior to the date of the annual meeting

(or if tess than 70 days’ notice or prior public disclosure of the date of such annual meeting is given or
made to the sharcholders, not later than the tenth day following the day on which notice of the date of the
annual meeting was mailed or public disclosure was made) The notice of a shareholder’s intention to
nominate a director must include: i : C

e information regarding the shareholder making the nomination, including the shareholder s name
and address and the number of shares of our stock beneficially owned by the shareholder;

e the name and business address of the person being nominated, his or her blographlcal data and
other relevant information, including that which would be required in a proxy statement filed
pursuant to the SEC’s proxy rules if the person were to be nominated for election by the board of
directors; and

e the written consent of each such nominee to serve as a director if elected. - . o

The chairman of the board, other directors and executive officers also may recommeénd director
nominees to the nominating and corporate governance committee. The committee witl evaluate nominees
recommended by shareholders using the same criteria that it uses to evaluate all other nominees. These
criteria include the candidate’s personal and professional ethics, training, experience, commitment,
independence, diversity, industry knowledge and contacts and financial or accounting expertise, as well as
other factors that are listed in the Director Selection Guidelines attached as an exhibit to the nominating
and corporate governance committee charter posted on the “Investors—Corporate Governance” page of
our web site at www.poniard.com. The committee has not in the past retained any third party to assist it in
identifying candidates.

Audit Committee of Board of Directors

The board of directors has a standing audit committee. The written charter of the audit committec is
available on the “Investors—Corporate Governance” page of our web site at www.poniard.com.

The primary functions of the audit committee are to represent and assist the board of directors with
the oversight of:

o the integrity of the company’s financial statements and internal controls;
» the company’s compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
» the independent auditor’s qualifications and indepéndence; and

e the performance of the audit function by the independent auditor.

tox
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The audit committee has ultimate authority to select, evaluate and, where appropriate, replace the
independent auditor, approve all audit engagement fees and terms, and engage outside advisors, including
its own counsel, as it deems necessary to carry out its duties. The audit committee also is responsible for
performing other related responsibilitics set forth in its charter.

The current members of the audit committee are Mr. Littaver, Dr. Stevens and Mr. Martell, with
M. Littauer acting as chair. Alan A. Steigrod served on the audit committee until his retiremerit from the
board on August 16, 2006, on which date Mr. Martell was appointed to the committee. Our board of
directors has determined that each member of our audit committee is “independent™ under applicable
rules promulgated by the SEC and Nasdaq. Each member of the audit committec is ablc to read and
understand fundamentai financial statements, including our balance sheet, income statement and cash flow
statement. OQur board of directors has determined that both Messrs. Littauer and Martell meet the
definition of “audit committes financial expert” under applicable SEC rules. The audit committee
convened in person one time and held an additional seven telephene meetings in 2006.

ftem 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Compensation Discussion and Analysis
Overview |

We are a biopharmaceutical company focused on the discovery, development and commercialization
of cancer therapy products. We do not currently have any revenues from product sales, as our product
candidates remain in the development stage. Our headquarters is located in South San Francisco,
California, and we also maintain an office in Seattle, Washington. Additional information about our
business and development programs is available at http://www.poniard.com.

Objectives and Components

Our compensation program for executive officers is designed to encourage, measure and reward
efforts that we believe will build value in the company over the long-term. Until such time as we have
revenues, we believe that the progress of our product candidates through the development process and
progress toward obtaining United States and foreign marketing approvals are the best ways to create value
for our sharcholders and the best measures of cur success.

The components of our executive compensation program are:
+ base salaries;
+ annual incentives in the form of cash bonuses; and

+ long-term incentives in the form of stock option awards.

Compensation Philosophy and Principles

Our compensation philosophy is to motivate, measure and reward employees for performance that we
believe will result in superior operational results and build long-term value for our shareholders. Our
executive compensation program is designed to:

» focus decision-making and behavior on long and near-term goals that are consistent with our
overall business strategy; '

» reinforce a pay-for-performance culture through a balance of fixed and incentive pay
opportunities that link individual compensation to individual and corporate performance;

» allow us to attract and retain employees with the skills critical to our long-term success; and

o align management’s financial interests with the interests of our shareholders.




The design and ongoing administration of our overall compensation program for executives are .
guided by the following general principles and goals:

» clear communication of desired behaviors and the use of incentive pay to reward thc
achievement of corporate performance goals;

¢ maintenance of total compensation at market competitive levels;
. prowsnon of a range of compensation opportumtles based on performance and ’

¢ provision of opportunities to participate in shareholder value creation.

Total Compensation

Our total compensation program is designed to encourage and reward performance and to recruit and
retain employees. We have included three components in our compensation structure—base salaries, cash
bonuses and stock option grants—to be competitive with other companjes in our industry. We do not focus
on the total value of these three components of compensation when we benchmark our compensation with
other companies. Instead, we believe it is more appropriate to benchmark the three components
individually in light of their different properties and level of risk. For a development-stage company such
as ours, stock options are highly speculative and are not likely to maintain value unless our product
candidates ultimately reach the market and generate sales and profits. Cash incentive bonuses are only
paid when certain performance goals are met and thus also are uncertain. Qur goal is to be competitive in
each of the three components of our total compensation program. The amount of each component is
influenced by the executive’s level of responsibility at the company and industry surveys. In general, we try
to position executive compensation at the median for each component.

The compensation committee of our board of directors performs annual reviews of our executive
compensation program to evaluate its competitiveness and consistency with our overall compensation
philosophy. During 2006, the committee retained AON Radford Consulting, or Radford, to review and
analyze the current compensation arrangement for our chief executive officer and other executives and our
current cquity programs relative to market. In completing its assessment, Radford reviewed our executive
compensation data-against that of 25 U.S. based biotechnology companies having a market capitalization
between $88.2 million and $289.7 million, generating limited revenues from product sales and having
between 13 and 370 employees. This peer group, which was approved by our compensation committee and
management, was comprised of the following companies:

» Antigenics Inc. ) e ImmunoGen, Inc.. s Sonus Pharmaceuticals

* Avigen, Inc. ¢ Immunomedics, Inc. » Spectrum Pharmaceuticals,

s (Cell Therapeutics, Inc. » Kosan Biosciences . Inc.

s Cerus Corporation Incorporated o StemCells, Inc.

s Cytokinetics, Inc. s La Jolla Pharmaceuticals ¢ Sunesis Pharmaceuticals,

¢ Dendreon Corporation Company Inc.

¢ Dynavax Technologies ¢ NeoPharm, Inc. » SuperGen, Inc.
Corporation ¢ Pharmacyclics " » Titan Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

s ‘EntreMed, Inc. + Seattle Genetics, Inc. - .» Vion Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

o Favrille, Inc. s SGX Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

» Hana Bioscicnces, Inc.

Based on the peer group compensation data collected in the Radford “CEO Compensation
Assessment” dated May 15, 2006 and the Radford “2006 Executive Compensation Review” dated July 26,
2006, including supplements to those reports, our compensation committee targets executive annual base




salaries (0 the peer group 50™-75% percentile and each of annual incentive:awards and long-term
compensation to the peer group 50" percentile. We believe that these compensation targets are consistent
with our goal of providing competitive exccutive compgnsation packages while conserving our resources
and creating incentives for and rewarding the attainment of corporate operatlonal and strategic goals. The
compensation committee utilized the data in the Radford studies to evaluate the competitiveness of the
components of 2006 executive compensation in'place prior to the availability of those studies and,
following the availability of those studies in May and July 2006, as a significant factor in determining total
compensation of new executives joining the company and in determmmg long -term incentive awards
granted to executives in the second half of 2006. RS - ' :

Base Salaries. Base salaries are provided to employees as compensation for basic services to the
company and to meet the objective of attracting and retaining the talent that we need to run our business.
Salaries provide a consistent cash-flow to employees, assuming acceptable levels of performance and
ongoing employment SR "

Our goal is to establlsh base saldry levels for our exccutwes and other employees that are consistent
with those of b:otcchnology compames of a similar size and at a similar stage of development We bélieve
that this strategy is important to cnable us to compete f01 and rctdln qualified exceutives in a highly
competitive environment.

We cstablish each executlvc offlcer s annual base- -salary based on:

e an objective evaluauon of salaries of individuals in similaf posilions within compames in the
biotechnology industry that are of a similar size and stage of development, including, in the
second half of 2006, the peer group data in the Radford “CEO Compensation Assessment”
and the Radford “2006 Executive Compensatlon Review” described above; and

e asubjective evaluanon of the executive’s experlence responsibilities within the company, and
performance in achieving specific corporate objectlves

' We initially target base salaries at the median base salary level for execut:ves in similar positions
within the biotechnology industry, targeting the 50"-70" percentile range of executive base salaries in our
peer group. We then adjust each executive’s salary cither up or down from that midpoint based on the
exccutive’s individual’s experience and scope of responsibilities. Each executive is reviewed and evaluated
for potential adjustments to his or.her base salary annually. - -

Annual base salary reviews for all executive officers are conducted in conjunction with our ¢company-
wide employee performance evaluation process. Except for Ms. Loewy and Dr. Glassberg, both of whom
joined the company during 2006, base salaries for the executive officers named in the Summary
Compensation Table were increased by 4% in' 2006, based on the increased cost of living. This is consistent
with the level of annual cost of living increases provided by similar companies in the biotechnology
industry, as reflected in industry surveys reviewed by the compensation committee, including the BioWorld
2006 Executive Compensation Report. Thie base salaries'of Ms. Loewy and Dr. Glassberg, each of whom
joined the company during the second half of 2006, were determined based on datd’in the Radford studies,
with the goal of providing base Salaries sufficiently compeétitive to attract them to our company. The
compensation commitiee also utilized the Radford studies to evaluate previously established 2006
executive base salaries. Based on this evaluation, the compensation committee determined that; for 2007,
an adjustment of 5.5% should be made to the annual base salary of executives based on performance and
cost of living increases. In addition, the compensation committee determined that an additional 4.3%
adjustment should be made to Ms. Loewy’s 2007 annual base salary bascd on her performance and the
increased scope of her responsibilities. None of our executive officers is a party to any agreement with the
company requiring the payment of a minimum amount of annual base salary. '
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Annual Incentive Awards. Qur annual incentive awards are designed to encourage executives to focus
on achieving important near-term company-wide goals in a timely manner. As part of our process of
establishing our operating plan for each coming year, the executive officers identify the corporate goals
important to building our value and advancing our long-term business objcctives. These corporate goals
are then submitted to the beard of dircctors for approval.

Along with our other employees, exccutive officers are eligible for annual incentive awards, paid in
the form of a cash bonus, based on the extent of accomplishment of these predetermined annual corporate
goals. For 2006, we identified six specific corporate goals in the following general areas:

e product development milestones related to the progress of picoplatin, our lead product
candidate, in multiple clinical trials;

¢ preclinical development of an oral formulation of picoplatin; and
e business and strategic activities to support future research and product development.

The compensation committec assigns a relative weight to each corporate goal in formulating annual
incentive awards paid to each executive. The amount of cach cxecutive’s annual incentive award is
determined based on the compensation commiltec’s assessment of actual company perfermance versus
these corporate goals. Based on this assessment, the compensation committee determines and approves
the incentive amounts to be paid to each executive officer.

For 2006, the compensation committee established the following percentages of annual basc salary as
the maximum payout amounts for annual incentive awards to thé executive officers named in the Summary
Compensation Table:

e Dr. McMahon: 50%
o Ms. Loewy: 25%

¢ Dr. Karlin: 25%
Ms. Wight: 20%
Dr. Glassberg: 25%
¢ Ms. Berland: 25%

The foregoing payout amounts are applied to cach executive’s annual base salary in effect at the end
of the year and, for 2006, were determined by the compensation committee based on generally available
industry surveys, including the BioWorld 2006 Compensation Report. The compensation committee used
data presented in the Radford “CEO Compensation Assessment” and the Radford “2006 Executive
Compensation Review” to evaluate the 2006 payout levels and determined that, except in the case of
Ms. Loewy, the current levels are competitive. The board of dircctors increased Ms. Loewy’s maximum
payout amount for annual incentive awards to 30% for 2007, due to the cxpanded scope of her
responsibilitics.

In cases in which the compensation committec determines that all of the corporate goals have been
met, the executives will receive 100% of their maximum payout amounts. If all of the corporate goals have
not been met, a percentage below 10(9% of the maximum payout amount is awarded. In addition, the
compensation committee retains general discretion to take into account additional corporate
accomplishments in assessing achievement of annual corporate goals. For 2007, the compensation
committee approved, in addition to core annual corporate performance goals, supplemental milestones, or
so-called “stretch goals,” which, to the extent achicved, would result in the payment of significant
additional annual incentive awards to our exceutives and employees. These “stretch goals” for 2007 are
intended to create clear incentives for exccutives to work to exceed our near-term corporate goals and to
reward successful progress toward our long-term growth and the creation of shareholder value.




In 2006, we met many of our predetermined 2006 annual corporate goals. Additionally, we were able
to take advantage of opportunities that arose during the year. The most heavily weighted corporate goals
related to the clinical development of picoplatin. Our small cell lung cancer Phase Il trial enrolled ahead of
schedule, and our colorectal and prostate cancer Phase I trials were enrolling on schedule. We also were -
able to renegotiate and finance improved terms for our picoplatin license agreement with Genzyme
Corporation (successor to AnorMED, Inc.). Thus, while certain corporate goals were not attained, the
compensation committee concluded that achievement of such goals was of lesser importance than the
successful renegotiation and financing of our picoplatin license. Consequently, the compensation
committee concluded that, on balance, our 2006 performance was strong; the overall level of achievement
of each corporate goal was 80% and 2006 annual incentive awards therefore would cqual 80% of each
executive officer’s maximum payout amount. Ms. Loewy’s and Dr. Glassberg’s 2006 annual incentive
payments were prorated from the respective commencement dates of their employment with the company
in 2006. Ms. Berland did not receive an annual incentive award for 2006 because her cmployment with the
company terminated on July 21, 2006. '

In addition to incentive awards under our annual incentive program, our compensation-committee
may award discretionary bonuses to reward individual efforts in the successful attainment of milestones
critical to our long-term corporate well-being and potential future success. In 2006, we completed a
$65 million equity financing that we believe substantially improved the prospects of our company. In
connection with the completion of this financing, the compensation committee awarded a discretionary
bonus of $20,000 to each executive employed with the company at the time of the closing of the financing.

Long-Term Incentives. Our long-term incentives consist solely of stock option awards under our
Amended and Restated 2004 Incentive Compensation Plan, or the 2004 Plan, and arc an important
element of our compensation program. We believe that stock options are an effective way to emphasize
long-term company performance and to reward our executives and other employees for vaiue creation on
the same basis as our shareholders.

Pursuant to our 2004 Plan, each executive officer typically receives a sizable grant at the time he or
she joins the company or receives a significant promotion. In addition, our executive officers and other
employees receive annual option awards under the 2004 Plan. In establishing the size of these awards, the
executive’s level of responsibility, as well as competitive factors in our industry, are considered. The equity
awards subcommittee of our board compensation committee establishes the level of new hire, promotion-
related, and annual stock option awards targeted at the median levels set out in generally available industry
surveys and, for option grants in the second half of 2006, set out for our peer grougp in the Radford “CEO
Compensation Assessment” and the Radford “2006 Executive Compensation Review.” We target the
median number of option awards in order to be competitive in attracting and retaining employees, while
limiting the potential dilution {0 our shareholders.

The equity awards subcommittee of our board compensation committee approves all stock option
awards to executive officers. Annual stock option grants are awarded in the first quarter of each year. For
2006, the amounts of these awards targeted the 50™ percentile grant level. These options vest based on our
standard 48-month vesting period for annual option grants detailed below. For executive officers who are
hired during the year, the equity awards subcommittee approves the issuance of stock options in
connection with the board’s appointment of the executive as of the executive’s start date. In determining
the number of options to be granted to new hires, we initially target the 50" percentile level of options
granted to newly hired executives in similar positions at companics of similar size and stage of
development within the biotechnology industry. We then adjust cach executive’s option award either up or
down from that midpoint based on the executive’s experience and scope of responsibilities. The new hire
options granted to Ms. Loewy and Dr. Glassberg, both of whom joined the company during 2006, were
calculated utilizing this process and were in the 50"™-75" percentile based on the Radford “2006 Exccutive
Compensation Review.” The options vest based on our standard 48-month vesting period for new-hire
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options, detailed below. Any promotions of executive officers would be treated similarly, with: the equity
awards subcommittee awarding the stock option to the executive as of the date of the promotion. However,
there were no promotions of executives during 2006.

Stock options awarded to executives have an exercise price equal to the closing sale price of our
common stock on the date of grant, We issue stock options at 100% of the fair market value on the date of
grant to assure that executives will receive’a benefit only when the stock price increases. Each stock option
awarded to newly hired executive officers vests over a 48-month period, with no options vesting until the
executive has worked for the company for one full year, at which time 25% of the award vests. The balance
of the option vests monthly over the remaining 36 months of the vesting period. Ahnual and promotion-
related stock awards vest monthly over a 48-month period, if the employee has worked for the company for
a year or more. If the employee has not yet béen with the company for one year, the option vests monthly
over a 48-month period, except vesting in the first year is not credited until the employee has been with the
company for one year. These vesting schedules are consistent with those found in the Radford surveys of
similar companies in the biotechnology industry. We believe that the relatively long duration of the vesting
period helps focus management on the long-term performance of the company. All stock optlons granted
to executive officers have a maximum term of ten years.

In 2006, in addition to the annual option awards described above, we granted to each executive
officer, as well as all other employees of the company, special stock option awards. Dr. McMahon, our
chief executive officer, received his award on June 16, 2006 and September 13, 2006, and the other
executives and employees received their awards on September 13, 2006. These special awards were
intended to increase the executives’ long-term incentives following the significant restructuring of the
company that took place during 2005 and the first half of 2006. The change in capital structure of the
company following our $65 million equity financing in April 2006 resulted in significant dilution of the
option ownership of the executive officers due to a nearly four-fold increase in the total number of shares
outstanding, and placed the executives’ level of option ownership below the peer group 50™ percentile for
equity interest found by Radford in its “CEO Compensation Assessment” and “2006 Executive
Compensation Review.” The equity awards subcommittec approved option awards to executives to bring
their option ownership holdings in line with the peer group 50™-75" percentile level, as set out in the
foregoing Radford studies. As with all of our stock options, ‘these special option awards were priced at
100% of fair market value on the date of grant. Because the number of shares available for issuance under
our 2004 Plan is currently limited, the special option awards granted on September 13, 2006 are contingent
upon shareholder approval of an amendment of our 2004 Plan to, among other things, increase the
common shares authorized for issuance under the 2004 Plan. If such shareholder approval is not received
at our 2007 annual meeting of shareholders, which is scheduled to be held on June 14, 2007, these options
will immediately terminate. Each special option awarded to our executives on September 13, 2006 vests
50% in equal monthly installments over the first four years from the date of grant and 50% on the seven-
year anniversary of the date of grant. Dr, McMahon's special award granted on June 16, 2006 vests 100%
on the seven-year anniversary of the date of grant. The equity awards subcommittee adopted this longer
vesting period to reinforce the long-term nature of these incentives. Any portion of the special option
awards subject to a seven-year vesting period may be accelerated, up to 25% in each year, to the extent of
the company’s actual achievement of the annual performance goals established under our annual incentive
program, at the discretion of the equity awards subcommittee. We believe that allowing the discretionary
vesting of these stock options is consistent with our goal of providing incentives to build value and advance
our long-term business objectives. The special option awards granted in 2006 to the executives named in
the Summary Compensation Table are reflected in the table below entitled “Grants of Plan Based
Awards” and the related compensation costs are disclosed in the Summary Compensation Table.
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All of Dr. Glassberg’s employece stock options terminated when he resigned as our chief medical
officer on March 15, 2007, because he had not reached the one-year anniversary of his initial employment
with us and, thercfore none of his options had vested.

Other Benefits.  All of our salaried employecs, including our executive offlcers are eligible to
participate in our 401(k) defined contribution plan, At our discretion, we may contribute to each
participant a matching contribution equal to 5% of the participant’s compensation that has been
contributed to the plan, up to a maximum matching contribution of $500. As reflected in the Summary
Compensation Table below, in 2006, all of the named executive officers, except Dr. Glassberg, participated
in our 401(k) plan and received matching contributions. We also provide all employees with health and
dental coverage, company-paid term life insurance, disability insurance, paid time off and paid holidays.
These benefits are typical within our industry, are designed to be competitive with overall market practices,
and are in place to attract and retain the executives and other employees needed to operate our business.

We strive to focus our resources on the development of our product candidates. Accordingly, cur”
executive officers do not receive any material perquisites.

Supplementary Compensation P011c1es

We have adopted several additional policies designed to ensure that our overall executive
compensation structure is responsive to shareholder interests and competitive with other companies in our
industry. Specific policies include: )

Limitations on Deductibility of Compensation. Scction 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code, or the
Code, generally limits the tax deductibility of compensation paid by a public company to its chief executive
officer and certain other highly compensated executive officers, including the executive officers named in
the Summary Compensation Table, to $1.0 million in the year the compensation becomes taxable to the
executive. There is an exception to the limit on deductibility for performance-based compensation that
meets certain requirements. We believe that the compensation for our executives, including stock options
awarded under our 2004 Plan, qualify for the exception. In 2006, compensation to our chief executive
officer and each of our other named executive officers did not exceed $1.0 million for purposes of
Section 162(m), and we expect the same to be true for 2007. However, we may in the future approve
annual compensation that exceeds the $1.0 million limitation if we believe that doing so is in the best
interests of the company and our shareholders. '

Severance and Change of Control Agreements. All of our executive officers are parties to standard form
executive severance and change of control agrecments, These.agreements and the potential amounts
payable under those agreements to the executives named in the Summary Compensation Table are
described in the section below entitled “Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change of Control.”

We belicve that these agrecments are customary in the industry and necessary to attract and retain
qualified, experienced executive personnel.

Compensation Committee Report

The compensation committee of the board of directors has reviewed and discussed the Compensation
Discussion and Analysis above with management, and, based on-such review and discussions, the
compensation committee recommended to the board that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be
included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006, and in our proxy
statement for the 2007 annual meeting of shareholders.

Submitted by the compensation committee of the board of directors:

Nicholas J. Simon, Chairman
Robert M. Littauer

Ronald A. Martell

E. Rolland Dickson
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2006 Summary Compensation Table

The following table sets forth all compensation earned by each of the named executive officers for the
2006 fiscal year. The named executive officers are the principal executive officer and.the principal financial
officer, plus one executive officer who resigned during 2006 and the three other most highly compensated
officers who were serving as executive officers at December 31, 2006.

; SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE
et ' L " ' Non-Equity
Pt o Incentive
. Plan All Other
i © . Options*  Compen-  Compen-
L : . Salary Bonus | ' Awards sation * sation Total

Name and Principal Position - Year (1) $2) " _$)3) ($)(4) ($)(5) $)
Gerald McMahon, Chairman, President & ' ’

Chief Executive Officer 2006 400,977 20,000 598,527 160,389 500 1,180,393
Caroline M. Loewy, Chief Financial S

Officer(6) 2006 120,769 0" 114,417 26,154 500 271,840
David A. Karlin, Senior Vice President, : '

Clinical Development & Regulatory ‘ :

Affairs 2006 270404 20,000 72,081 54,080 500 ‘ 417,065
Anna L. Wight, Vice President, Legal & . .o

Secretary 2006 236,925 20,000 97,038 37,908 - 500 - 392371
Alan B. Glassberg, Chief Medical ‘ : :

Officer(7) T 2006 87,821 0 74,095 17,692 0 179,608
Susan D. Berland, former Chief Financial : . )

Officer(8) ~ . 2006 139,534 20,000 46,689 -0 300 $ 206,723

(1) The amounts reported in the Salary column represent the do]lar amount of base salary earned by each named
executive in 2006.

* (2) The amounts reported in the Bonus column represent the amounts of discretionary bonuses ¢ dwarded to the.
named executives in connectlon with the closmg of our $65 million | equny fmancmg in April 2006.

(3) The amounts reporled in'the Option Awardq column represent the dollar amount recognized as stock- based
compensation expense in 2006 for financial rcportmg purposes, related to stock options granted to each named
executive in 2006 and prior years, excluding any reduction for estimated forfeitures, determined in accordance
with Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004),
Share-Based Payment (SFAS 123R). See Note 3, “Stock-Based Compensation,” of the notes to consalidated
financial statements in our Annual Report oy Form 10-K for the: year ended December-31, 2006 for the
assumptions used in determining such amounts.

(4) The amounts reported in the Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compenqatlon column represent the amounts of annual
incentive bonus awards paid out in March 2007 for 2006 performadnce. The annoal mcentwe bonus earned by-
Ms. Loewy is prorated for the six-rdnth period of fiscal 2006 during which she served as an executive officer. The
annual incentive bonus earned by Dr. Glassberg is prorated for the five-month penod of fiscal 2006 durmg whrch
he served as an executive officer.

(5} The amounts reported in the All Other Compensatlon column represent company ¢ contnbutrons toour
401(k) plan. C . . . .o '

(6} Ms. Loewy joined the company as executive vice presrdent strategrc planning én June 23, 2006 and was
appointed chief financial officer on July 21, 2006. L

{7) Dr. Glassberg joined the company as chief medlcal officer on JuIy 24, 2006 Dr. G]dssberg resngned from this
position on March 15,2007. ’

(8) Ms. Berland resigned as chief fmancral officer of the company on July 21, 2006 The, grant date farr value, as’
determined in accordance with SFAS 123R, of the portion of Ms. Berland’s stock option grants that were
forfeited upon her resignation was $413,138.
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Grants of Plan Based Awards

The following table provides information -regarding equity and nhon-equity awards granted to each of

the named executives in 2006.

‘

All Other

Options
N . Awards:
Number  Exercise Grant
Estimated Future Payouts Estimated Future Payouts of or Base Date
Under Non-Equity Incentive Under Equity Incentive Securities  Price of Fair
Plan Awards(1) Plan Awards{(2),(3)} Under- Option Value of
Thresh- . Maxi-  Thresh- Maxi- lying Awards  Options
Grant old Target mum. old Target mum Options (%/Sh) Awards
Name . Date $) ) ® . _# (#) (#} (#) (OF £]6)]
Gerald McMahon 4/29/2006{6) 83,333 7.50 . 518,650
6/16/2006(6) 83,333 6.48 448,450
6/16/2006(7) 166,667 6.48 931,200
9/13/2006(8) 0 284,400 284,400 3.66 —
) 5/17/2006 0 200489 200,489 '
Caroline M. Loewy(10) 6/23/2006(9) 100,000 6.00 499,920
9/13/2006(8) 0 128,533 128,533 3.66 —
6/23/2006 0 32,692 32,692 : :
David A. Karlin 4/29/2006(6) 41,666 7.50 259,325
- 9/1312006(8) 0 145,200 145,200 3.66 —
5/17/2006 0 67,601 67,601
Anna L. Wight 4/29/2006(6) 41,666 7.50 . 259,325
9/13/2006(8) . . 0 . 93,108 93,108 3.66 e
5/17/2006 0 47385 47,385 ' '
Alan B. Glassberg(11) 7/2412006(9) . 100,000 4.62 384,420
9/13/2006(8) 0 (40,000 40,000 3.66 —
772412006 ° O 21,955 21,955 .
Susan D. Berland{12) 4/29/2006(6) ' 41,666 7.50
(1) The amounts shown in the Estimated Future Payouts Under Non-Equity Incentive Plan Awards column reflect the

2

(3)

4)
)

(6)
7

payout levels for annual incentive bonus awards described in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis above. The
target amount shown is a percentage of 2006 annual base salary as follows: Dr. McMahon: 50%; Ms. Loewy: 25%;

Dr. Karlin: 25%; Ms Wight: 20%; Dr. Glassberg: 25% and Ms. Berland: 25%. The minimum pay out level is 0% of the
target amount shown. The maximum payout level is 100% of the target amount. Our annual incentive awards program is
described in more detail in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis.

The amounts shown in the Estimated Future Payouts Under Equity Incentive Plan Awards column are the pay out
levels for stock options granted under our 2004 Plan described in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis above. The
minimum pay out level is 0% of the target amount shown. The maximum pay out level is 100% of the target amount.

The grant of these options as a long-term incentive award is contingent upon shareholder approval of an amendment to
increase the common shares authorized for issuance under our 2004 Plan, which proposal will be described in detail in

_our proxy statement for the 2007 annual meeting of sharchotders. If such shareholder approval is not received, the

options will terminate immediately following the 2007 annual meeting of shareholders.

The exercise price of the options is equal to the closing sale jprice of our common stock on the grant date as reported on
The Nasdaq Capital Market.

The amount reported represents the full grant date fair value of the options granted to each named executive in 2006,
determined in accordance with SFAS 123R. See Note 3, “Stock-Based Compensation,” of the notes to consolidated
financial statements of the company set forth in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year ended December 31,
2006 for the assumptions used in determining such fair value.

The option shown has a ten-year term and vests in equal monthly installments over the four years following the date of
grant.

The option shown has a ten-year term and vests on the seven-year anniversary of the date of grant, subject to
accelerated vesting, of up to 25% in each year, to the extent of the company’s actual achievement of the performance
goals established untler the annual incentive bonus program, in the discretion of the equity awards subcommittee of our
board of directors. )
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(8) The option shown was part of a special award granted to all employees to offset dilution resulting during 2005 and the
first half of 2006 and is contingent upon shareholder approval of an amendment to increase the common shares
authorized for issuance under our 2004 Plan, which proposal will be described in detail in our proxy statement for the
2007 annual meeting of sharcholders. If such shareholder approval is not received, the options will terminate
immediately following our 2007 annuat meeting. Each option has a ten-year term and vests 5% in equal monthly
installments over the first four years from the date of grant and 50% on the seven-year anniversary of the date of grant.
Vesting of the first 50% of the option granted to each of Ms. Loewy and Dr. Glassberg accrues but is not credited until
the month of his or her one-year anniversary as an executive officer of the company. Vesting of the second 509 of the
option granted to cach exccutive is subject to accelerated vesting, of up to 25% in cach year, to the extent of the
company’s actual achievement of the annual performance goals established under the annual incentive bonus program,
in the discretion of the equity awards subcommittee of our board of directors.

(9} The option shown was granted as a long-term incentive award when the executive joined the company in 2006, has a
term of ten years and vests 25% one year afier the date of grant and thereafter in equal monthly installments over the
next three years. ’

(10) Ms. Loewy became an exceutive officer of the company on June 23, 2006.

(11) Dr. Glassberg became chief medical officer of the company on July 24, 2006. Dr. Glassberg resigned from this position
on March 15, 2007, and his unvested stock options terminated on that date.

(12) Ms, Berland resigned as chief financial officer of the Company on July 21, 2006, and her stock options have terminated.
The grant date fair value, as determined in accordance with SFAS 123R, of the portion of Ms. Berland’s stock option
grants that were forfeited upon her resignation was $413,138. _

Employment Letter with Dr. McMahon. We cntered into an employment letter with Dr. McMahon
on April 26, 2004. Under that employment letter, we agreed that Dr. McMahon will serve as our chief
exceutive officer, commencing on May 11, 2004, The employment letter scts Dr. McMahon's annualized
basc salary at $375,000 per year, subject to increase or decrease in the board's discretion, and provides for
cash bonuses of up to 50% of Dr. McMahon’s annual base salary, at the discretion of the board. Pursuant
to the employment letter, Dr. McMahon received a ten-year stock option to purchase 91,666 shares of our
common stock at an exercise price of $15.00 per share, which option vests 25% at the end of one year from
date of grant and thereafter in equal monthly installments over the next three years and expires ten years
from the date of grant. The employment letter provides for accrued vacation of four weeks per year and
fringe benefits comparable to those payable to our other senior executives. The employment letter further
contains nonsolicitation and noncompetition provisions that are effective during the term of
Dr. McMahon’s emploeyment and for one year thereafter. The term of the employment letter is four years
(until May 11, 2008), subject to earlier termination by either party upon 30 days’ prior written notice. The
severance and change of control agreements described under the heading “Potential Payments Upon
Termination or Change of Control” below provide for certain termination benefits in the event that
Dr. McMahon’s employment is terminated by us without cause or by him with good reason before or after
a change of control of the company.

Salary and Cash Incentive Awards in Propaortion to Total Compensation. As discussed in the
Compensation Discussion and Analysis, we believe that a substantial portion of each named executive’s
compensation should be in the form of equity awards. The following table scts forth the percentage of each
named executive’s total compensation we paid in the form of base salary and cash incentive awards for
fiscal 2000, Co |

Percentage of Total

Name Compensation
Gerald McMahon . ... . o s 49%
Caroline M. Loewy ............................ e 58%
David AL Kartin . ... 83%
Anna L. Wight. ... ... oo o 75%
AlanB.Glassberg . ..... ... e 59%

Susan D.Berland. . ... .. .. o ceen 77%




Outstanding Equity Awards at Year-End 2006

The following table provides information relating to holdings of unexercised stock options by the
named executives as of December 31, 2006. The options granted in 2006 also are disclosed in the Grants of
Plan-Based Awards Table and the related compensation. costs are disclosed in the Summary Compensation
Table.

Options Awards

Equity
' . " Incentive
Number of Number of Plan Awards:
Securities Securities Numbher of
) Underlying Underlying Securities
Unexercised Unexercised Underlying
Options(#) Options(#) Unexercised Option
- Unearned Exercise Option
Exercisable Unexercisable Options{#) Price Expiration
Name ) : (1) (2),(4) (8) Date(3)
Gerald McMahon 59,205 32461 . 15.00 5/18/2014
. 15,972 . 17,360 12.90 1/24/2015
13,889 69,444(4) . 7.50 4292016
10,417 72,916 | ] 6.48 6/16/2016
166,667(5} 6.48 6/16/2016
’ 284,400 - - 3.06 9/13/2016
Carolinc M. Loewy ' 8333 - ¢ 0 ! 13.44 8/27/2014
0- 100,000(6) . 6.00 6/23/2016
. 128,533 3.66 - 9/13/2016
David A, Karlin » - T 14,757 26,909 : 372 71112015
‘ : 6,945 347921 . 750 . 4292016
- 145,200 3.66 9/13/2006
Anna L. Wight ) 712 0 7.50  1215/2008
. - R : 2,500 0 84.38 572412010
" 2,500 0 35.64 52212011
9,999 0 16.80 50172012
18,332 4] ’ ' 282 1/30/2013
' 5,972 : 694 16.14 51812013
. . 4,306 2,360 “15.00 511872014
2,917 3,748 7.44 3/9/2015
. 6,945 34,721 750 42912016
: 93,108 3.66 9/13/2016
Alan B. Glassberg 3,333(8) 0 C . 8% 10/20/2014
T.917(8) 0 4.02 6/15/2005
. . ) 100,000¢6).(7) 4.62 7/24/2016
i ‘ ) 40,000(7) 3.66 9/13/2016
Susan D. Berland(9) - L 0 0 . — 0 —

+

v ' N 1 . .
(1) Unless otherwise noted, the options listed in this column vest in equal monthly installments over four years from
the date of grant. ]

(2) ‘The grant of these options as an incentive equity award on September 13, 2006 is contingent upon shareholder
approval of an amendment to increase the common shares authorized for issuance under our 2004 Plan, which
proposal will be described in detail in our proxy statement for the 2007 annual meeting of sharcholders. If such
shareholder approval is not received, the options will terminate immediately following the 2007 annual meeting
of shareholders.

{3) All options expire ten years from the date of grant.

(4) These options vest 50% in equal monthly instaliments over the first four years from the date of grant and 50% on
the seven-year anniversary of the date of grant, Vesting of the first 50% of the option granted to each of
Ms. Loewy and Dr. Glassberg accrues but is not credited until the month of his or her one-year anniversary as an
executive of the company. Vesting of the second 50% of the option granted to each executive is subject to
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accelerated vesting, of up to 25% in each year, to the extent of the company’s actual achievement of the annual
performance goals established under the annual incentive bonus program, in the discretion of the equity awards
subcommittee of our board of directors.

(5) The ()ptlon vests on the seven-year anniversary after the date of grant, subject to accelerated vestmg, of up to
25% in cach year, to the extent of the company’s achievement of the performance goals cstablished under the
annual incentive bonus program, in the discretion of the equity awards subcommittee of our board of directors.

{6) The options vest 25% one year after the date of grant and thereafter in equal monthly instaliments over the next
three years,

(7} Dr. Glassberg resigned as chief medical officer on March 15, 2007, and these stock options terminated on that
date. - .

(8) Reflects vested stock options received by Dr. Glassberg during his tenure as a director of the company..

(9) Ms, Berland resigned as chief financial officer on July 21, 2006, and her stock options have terminated.

Option Exercises in 2006

None of the named-executives exercised any stock options during 2006.

Pension Benefits

We do not provide pension arrangements or post-retlrement health coverage for our executive
employees. Our executive officers arc cligible to participate in our 401(k) defined contribution plan. At our
discretion, we may contribute to each participant a matching contribution equal to 5% of the participant’s
compensation that has been contributed to the plan, up to a maximum matching contribution of $500. All
of the named executives, except Dr. Glassberg, participated in our 401(k) plan during fiscal 2006 and
received matching contributions. ' '

Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change of Control

All of the named executives (other than Ms. Berland and Dr. Glassberg, who arc no longer executive
officers of the company) are parties to standard form executive severance and change of control
agreements. The information below describes and quantifies certain compensation that would become
payable under these agreements if the named executive’s employment had been terminated on
December 31, 2006, based on the named executive’s compensation and service levels as of such date, and if
applicable, based on the company’s closing stock price on December 29, 2006 (the last trading day of fiscal
2006). Payments and benefits payable under the exccutive severance and change of control agreements are
in addition to benefits paid generally to salaried employees of the company, including distributions under
the company’s 401(k) plan and accrued salary and vacation pay. The named executives are not entitled to
any potential payments or benefits not otherwise available generally to salaried employees of the company
in the event of termination of employment by the company for cause or by the executive without good
reason or due to retircment.

Executive Severance Agreements

Termination by the Company without Cause or by the Executive for Good Reason Absent a Change of
Control. The cxccutive severance agrcementé of Ms, Loewy, Dr. Karlin and Ms. Wight each provides
that, if the executive is terminated without cause, or if the executive resigns for good reason, he or she is
entitled to receive severance pay equal to 75% of current annual basc salary, up to nine months’ medical
and dental insurance benefits and, if applicable, reimbursement of excise taxes. Cash severance payments
are in the form of salary continuation, payable at normal payroll intervals during the nine months following
the datc of termination. Each of these severance agreements runs for an initial term of one year and
renews automatically for successive one-year periods unless either party gives nine months’ prior notice of
non-renewal. Dr. McMahon’s executive severance agreement provides for a severance payment equal to
100% of current annual base salary, payable in the form of salary continuation for one year following the
date of termination, up to one year’s medical and dental insurance benefits and, if applicable,
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reimbursement of excise taxes. Dr. McMahon’s severance agreement runs for an initial term of four years
and renews automatically for successive two-year periods unless either party gives 30 days’ prior notice of
non-renewal. In all cases, as a condition to receiving any severance payment, each executive must execute a
general release of claims against the company in a form satisfactory to the company in its sole discretion.
To the extént that severance payments and benefits under the change of control agreements described
below are payabie to the named executive, no payments will be made to such executive under his or her
executive severance agreement.

The executive severance agreements define “cause™ as: a clear refusal to carry out any of the
executive’s material lawful duties; a persistent failure to carry out any of the executive’s lawful duties after
reasonable notice and an opportunity to correct the faiture; violation by the executive of a state or federal
criminal law involving a crime against the company or any other crime involving moral turpitude; the
executive’s current abuse of alcohol or controlled substances; deception, fraud, misrepresentation or
dishonesty by the executive; or any incident materially compromising the executive’s reputation or ability
to represent the company with the public. “Good reason” includes a reduction of the executive’s annual
base salary below the level in effect on the date of the agreement, regardless of any change in the
executive’s duties; the assignment of the executive to any duties inconsistent with or resulting in a
diminution of the executive’s position, duties or responsibilities (excluding actions of the company not
taken in bad faith and promptly remedied); requiring the executive to be based at any office or location
more than a designated number of miles from the city in which the executive currently is employed; or the
company’s failure to properly assign the executive severance agreement to a successor entity.

The estimated net present values of severance and other benefits payable to each named executive,
based on a hypothetical termination of employment by the company without cause or by the executive with
good reason on December 31, 2006, in circumstances in which there is no change of control (as defined
below) of the company, are set forth in the following table.

Estimated net Estimated net Potential excise
present vatue of present value of tax liability
cash severance continued medical reimbursable by
payments and dental benefits the company
Name (3)(1} ) : {($)(2) Total ($)
Gerald McMahon 390,721 14,382 0 405,103
Caroline M. Loewy 182,042 16,783 0 193,425
David A. Karlin 197,549 9,293 0 206,842
Anna L. Wight 173,090 10,783 0 183,873
Alan B. Glassberg(3) 146,114 10,783 0 156,897

Susan D. Berland(4) —_ — — —

(1) For purposes of determining the estimated net present value of these payments, a discount rate of 5%
was used.

4

(2) Reimbursement of excise tax is required only to the extent that any portion of the payments or
benefits under the executive severance agreement or any benefits plan would be characterized as an
“excess parachute payment” to the executive under Section 280G of the Code giving rise to an excise
tax payable by the executive under Section 4999 of the Code. ’

(3) Dr. Glassberg resigned as chief medical officer on March 15, 2007, and his executive severance
agreement terminated on that date. Dr. Glassberg did not receive any termination payments under his
executive severance agreement in connection with the termination of his employment.

(4) Ms. Berland resigned as chief financial officer on July 21, 2006, and her executive severance
agreement terminated on that date. Ms. Berland did not receive any termination payments under her.
executive severance agreement in connection with the termination of her employment.
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Termination due to Death or Total Disability Absent a Change of Control.  The executive severance
agreement and the executive’s employment terminate antomatically upon the death or total disability of
the exccutive. “Total disability” is defined as the named executive’s inability to perform his or her essential
duties for a period or periods aggregating 12 wecks in any 365 day period as a result of physical or mental
illness, loss of legal capacity or any cause beyond the executive’s control, uniess the executive is granted a
leave of absence by our board of directors. If the executive’s employment is terminated by reason of death
or total disability during the term of the severance agreement, the executive or his or her legal
representative is entitled to receive continued medical and dental insurance bencfits for up 1o nine months
in the cases of Ms. Loewy, Dr. Karlin and Ms. Wight and for up to one€ year in the case of Dr. McMahon.
The estimated net present values of these benefits are reflected in the preceding table.

Change of Control Agreements .

Termination by the Company without Cause or by the Executive for Good Reason Following a Change of
Control.  The change of control agreements provide each of the named executives with termination -
compensation if, within two years following a change of control of the company, the executive’s
employment is terminated without cause or the executive terminates his or her cmployment for good
reason. In such case, the named executive is entitled to reccive an amount equal to 50% of the annual
bonus that would have been paid but for the termination of employment or, if greater, the percentage of
his or her annual bonus accrued through the date of termination; one ycar’s medical and dental insurance
benefits; an amount as severance pay equal to 50% of his or her annual base salary (100% in the case of
Dr. McMahon) for the fiscal year in which the date of termination occurs; and immediate vesting of all of
the previously granted stock options held by the executive. All cash amounts are payable in a lump sum
within ten working days of the date of termination. Under the terms of our 2004 Plan, all vested stock
options expire three months after the date of terminationof service. The agreements also provide for
reimbursement of any excise taxes payable by the executive as a consequence of the payments or benefits
reccived under the change of control agreement or any benefit plan of the company.

A “change of control” under the agreements is deemed to occur upon shareholder approval of certain
mergers, consolidations or reorganizations of the company, the liquidation or dissolution of the company,
or the sate of substantially all of the assets of the company; acquisition of beneficial ownership of 20% or
more of the outstanding common stock or voting power of the company by a person or group of related
persons, if such acquisition was not approved in advance by a majority of the incumbent directors;
acquisition of beneficial ownership of 33% or more of the outstanding common stock or voting power of
the company by a person or group of related persons, if such acquisition is approved in advance by a
majority of the incumbent directors; or the failure of incumbent board members (or persons nominated or
appointed by incumbent board members) to hold a majority of the seats on the company’s board of .
directors. The definitions of “cause” and “good reason” under the change of control agreements are
substantially the same as those in the executive severance agreements described above. The change of
control agreements of Ms. Loewy, Dr. Karlin and Ms. Wight cach run for an initial one-year term and
rencw automatically for successive one-year periods unless either party gives 90 days’ prior written notice
of non-renewal. Dr. McMahon’s change of control agreement runs for an initial term of four years and
renews automatically for successive two-year periods unless either party gives 90 days’ prior written notice
of non-renewal. If a change of control occurs, each agreement automatically renews and runs for a period
of two additional years.

The estimated net present values of severance and other benefits payable to each named executive,
based on a hypothetical termination of employment by the company without cause or by the executive with
good reason on December 31, 2006, following a change of control of the company, are set forth in the table
below.
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Estimated

Estimated net Estirr'lufed net incremental Potential excise
present value of present value of value of accelerated + tax liability
cash severance continued medical vesting of stock . reimbursable by
pavments and dental benefits options the company
Name S (511 ($)(2) ‘ ($H3) Total (8}
Gerald McMahon 601,466 14,760 0(4) 0 616,226
Caroline M. Loewy 162,500 - 14,760 0(4) 0 177,260
David A. Karlin 169,003 12,720 34,444 0 216,167
Anna L. Wight 142,155 . 14,760 0(4) 0 156,915
Alan B. Glassberg(5) 125,000 14,760 38,000 0 177,760

Susan D. Berland(6) — — —

{1) For purposes of determining the estimated net present value of these payments, a discount rate of 5%
was used. '

(2) Reflects the estimated incremental value of accelerated vesting of all stock options held by the named
exccutive on December 31, 2006, based on the excess of the closing price of our common stock at
December 29, 2006 (the last trading day preceding December 31, 2006) over the exercise prices of
such options.

{3) Reimbursement of éxcisc tax is required only to the extent that any portion of the payments or
benefits under the change of control agreement or any benefits plan would be characterized as an
“excess parachute payment” to the executive under Section 280G of the Code, giving rise to an excise
tax payable by thc cxccutive under Section 4999 of the Code. '

(4) There is no value shown for accelerated vesting of stock options because the exercise prices of all
unvested stock options held by the executive at December 31, 2006 were above $5.00 per share, the
closing sale price of our common stock on December 29, 2006.

(5) Dr. Glassberg resigned as chicf medical officer on March 15, 2007 and his chanéc of control
agreement terminated on that date.

(6) Ms. Berland resigned as chief financial officer on July 21, 2006 and her change of control agrecement
terminated on that date.

Termination due to Death or Total Disability Following a Change of Control. The change of control
agreement and the executive’s employment during the two years following a change of control terminate
automatically upon the death or total disability of the named executive. “Total disability” is defined in the
agreements as the named executive’s inability to perform his or her essential duties for a period or periods
aggregating 12 weeks in any 305 day period as a result of physical or mental iliness, loss of legal capacity or
any cause beyond the exccutive’s control, unless the executive is granted a leave of absence by our board. If
the cxceutive’s employment is terminated by reason of death or total disability during the two ycars
following a change of control of the company, the executive or his or her legal representatives are entitled
o continued medical and dental insurance benefits for up to one year. The estimated net present values of
these benefits are reflected in the preceding table.

Director Compensation

For 2006, non-employee directors received an annual fee of $20,000 for service on the board of
directors, together with a fee of $1,500 for each in-person board meeting attended. Payment for attendance
at telephonic board meetings was $500 for up to one hour, $1,000 for onc to two hours and $1,500 for more
than two hours. Non-cmployee directors also received a fee of $500 for attendance at cach mecting of a
committee on which they served. The audit committce chairman received an annual retainer in 2006 of
$10,000, and each audit committee member received a 2006 annual retainer of $6,000. The chairmen of the
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compensation committee and the nominating and corporate governance committee received annual
retainers in 2006 of $6,500. The members of each of the compensation committee and the nominating and
corporate governance committee received a 2006 annual retainer of $4,000. We also reimburse each of our
non-cmployee directors for reasonable travel expenses incurred in connection with attending board and
board committee meetings. In'2006, we paid special cash awards of $50;000 each to Drs. Craves and’ -
Goldfischer in recognition of their past services in assisting and rendering financial advice in connection
with financial and strategic opportunities and our April 2006 equity financing. :

Non-employee directors also receive stock option grant$ under our Stock Option Grant Program for -
Nonemployee Directors, or the NED Program, which is administered under our 2004 Plan. Each new non-
employce diréctor, upon election or appointment to the board of directors, reccivés an initial option to
purchase 8,333 shares of cornmon stock at an exercise price cqual to the fair market value per share of
common stock on the grant date. In addition, cach non-employce director automatically receives an annual
option grant to purchase 3,333 shares of common stock following each annual meeting of shareholders at
an exercise price equal to the fair market value per share’of common stock on the grant date, provided that
a non-employee director who has received the initial option grant for 8,333 shares of common stock within
five months prior to any such annual meeting of shareholders, does not receive the annual option grant for
such annual meeting. In addition to annual option grants'under the NED Program, the equity awards
subcommittee in 2006 approved special awards of stock options to each non-employee director '(except
Dr. Glassberg and Messrs. Simon and Martell) related to the closing of our 2006 equity financing. All .
options granted to non-employee directors under. the NED Program have a term of ten years and vest 50%
one year after the date of grant and 50% two years after the date of grant. '

The following table presents information relating to total compensation of directors for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2006, - '

t! .- . '
R .

Fees Earned Option
or Paid in Awards All Other
Cash - ® Compensation Total

Name(1) ‘ ($)(2) (3, (3) ($)(6) (8 -
Fred B.Craves ......... e . 35,000 91,011(7) -50,000 176,011
E. Rolland Dickson . ..... S e 47,250 92,241(7) o 139,491
Alan B. Glassberg(8).................. 9,000 . 23,057 ‘ . 32,057
Carl S. Goldfischer ................. .. 33,000 91,11(7) 50,000 174,011
Robert M. Littaver ................... 51,500 98,342(7) ' T 149,842
Ronald A. Martell(9) ............ e 31,500  11,802(10) . . 43,302
Nicholas J. Simon II(11) .............. 33,250 19,997(12) 53,247
David R.Stevens . .................... 47,000 98,342(7) 145,342
Alan A, Steigrod(13)........oooiiiit 30,500 39,613(7) 70,113

(1) Gerald McMahon, our chief executive officer, president and chairman of the board, is not inélud'ed in
this table because he is an employee of the company and does not receive separate compensation for
his services as a director. The compensation received by Dr. McMahon as an executive officer of the
company is shown in the Summary Compensation Table above. t . '

(2) Includes all annual retainer fees, committee and chairmanship fees and meeting fees. All anm'lal‘
retainer fees are paid to board members, committee members and committee chairs semi-annually in
advance of services, rather than in arrears. Accordingly, retainer fees for the first half of 2006 were
paid in December 2003, and retainer fees for the second half of the 2006 were paid in June 2006.

(3) The amounts reported in the Option Awards column represent the dollar amount recognized as stock-
based compensation expense in 2006 for financial reporting purposes, related to stock options granted
to each director in 2006 and prior years, excluding any reduction for estimated forfeitures, determined
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Q)

()

(6)

(7

(8)

®)

in accordance with SFAS 123R. See Note 3, “Stock-Based Compensation,” of the notes to -
consolidated financial statements of the company set forth in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2006 for the assumptions used in determining such amounts.

All options reflected in this column have a ten-year term, vest 50% one year after the date of grant
and 50% two years after the date of grant, and have an exercise price equal to the closing sales price
of our common stock on the date that the option was granted.

At December 31, 2006, cach director named in the table above held options for the following number
of common shares: Dr, Craves: 84,993; Dr. Dickson;-71,659; Dr. Glassberg: 111,250 {includes options
for 100,000 shares received in his capacity as chief medical officer); Dr. Goldfischer: 92,494,

Mr. Littauer: 50,831; Mr. Martell: 8,333; Mr. Simon: 8,333; Dr. Stevens: 50,831; and Mr, Steigrod:
70,826. The full grant date fair value of the options granted to each director in 2006, determined in
accordance with SFAS 123R, was as follows: Dr. Craves: $187,869; Dr. Dickson: $187,869; .

Dr. Glassberg: $0; Dr. Goldfisher: $187,869; Mr. Littauer: $187,869; Mr. Martell: $45,890; Mr. Simon;
$58,705; Dr. Stevens: $187,869; and M. Steigrod: $187,869. See Note 3, “Stock-Based
Compensation,” of the notes to consolidated financial statements of the company set forth in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 for the assumptions used in
determining such fair value. .

Reflects special cash awards paid in recognition of past services in assisting and rendering financial
advice to the company in connection with financial and strategic opportunities and our 2006 equity
financing.

Reflects an option award to purchase 20,833 common shares at § 7.50 per share granted on April 29,
2006 and an option award to purchase 7,500 common shares at $6.48 per share granted on June 16, -
2006. -

Dr. Glassberg’s term as a director expired on June 16, 2006. Dr. Glassberg joined the company as
chief medical officer on July 24; 2006. This table reflects only the compensation that Dr. Glassberg
earned in 2006 as a director. The compensation earned by Dr. Glassberg in 2006 as an executive
officer of the company is shown in the Summary Compensation Table above. Dr. Glassberg resigned
as chief medical officer on March 15, 2007.

Mr. Martell joined the board on June 26, 2006.

(10) Reflects NED Program option award to purchase 8,333 common shares at $6.00 per share granted on

June 26, 2006.

(11) Mr. Simon joined the board on April 26, 2006.

(12) Reflects NED Program option award to purchase 8,333 common shares at $7.68 per share granted on

April 26, 2006. :

(13) Mr. Steigrod retired from the board on August 14, 2006. In connection with such retirement, the

board approved the acceleration of vesting of all of Mr. Steigrod’s outstanding stock options. The
incremental decrease in full grant date fair value that resulted from the acceleration of vesting of
Mr. Steigrod’s stock options, determined in accordance SFAS 123R, was $100,731.
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Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

All members of the compensation committee of our board of directors are independent directors, and
none of them are present or past employees of the company, except Mr. Littauer, who served the company
in various management positions from 1987 to 1996. None of our executive officers serves as a member of
the compensation committee or board of directors of any entity that has an executive officer serving as a
member of our compensation committee or board of directors.

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The following table sets forth certain information regarding beneficial ownership, as of April 11, 2007,
of the company’s common stock by (a) each person known by the board of directors to beneficially own
more than 5% of the outstanding common stock, (b) each director and nominee for director, (c) our chief
executive officer and each executive officer named in the Summary Compensation Table, and (d) all
executive officers and directors as a group. Except as otherwise indicated, we believe that the beneficial
owners of the shares listed below have sole investment and voting power with respect to the shares.

Common Percent of
Shares Common
Beneficially Shares
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner Owned(1) Qutstanding(2)

MPM BioVentures I1I, L.P., MPM BioVentures 1[1-QP,
L.P., MPM BioVentures III GmbH & Co.
Beteiligungs KG, MPM BioVentures 111 Parallel
Fund, L.P. and MPM Asset Management Investors ‘
2005 BVIIILLC(3). ..o oo i es 7,748,092 31.5%
The John Hancock Tower
200 Carendon Street, 54™ Floor
Boston, MA 02116

Bay City Capital Fund IV, L.P. and Bay City Capital
Fund IV Co-Investment Fund, L.P., Bay City Capital
Management IV LLC and Bay City Capital L.LLC(4). . 4,646,357 19.5%
750 Battery Street, Suite 400 . '
San Francisco, CA 94111

Deerfield Capital, L.P., Deerfield Special Situations
Fund, L.P., Deerfield Management Company, L.P.,
Deerfield Special Situations Fund International
Limited and James E. Flynn(5)... ................. 2,323,177 9.95%
780 Third Avenue, 37" Floor :
New York, NY 10017 _

Abingworth Management Limited(6) ................ 1,548,784 6.7%
Princess House

38 Jermyn Street
London, England SW1Y 6DN

Michael A. Roth and Brian J. Stark (as joint filers
pursuant to Rule 13d-1(K)7)............ PR 1,393,907 6.0%
3600 South Lake Drive
St. Francis, WI 53235
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Common - Percent of
Shares Commeon
Beneficially Shares
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner Owned(1) Outstanding(2)
~ OrbiMed Advisors LLC, OrbiMed Capltal LLCand 7 - - o
Samuel D. Tsaly(8)............00 .o oiii i © 1,343,000 5.9%
767 Third Avenue, 30th Floor T ' '
New York, NY 10017 ' ' o
Gerald McMahon(9). ........... ... . il 130,696 *
Fred B. Craves(10) ........coovveniieinnnneanneee. 4736123 '19.8%
E. Rolland Dickson(11)........ SO L 46,245 *
(Carl S. Goldfischer(12). . . .. .. RS e 4,716,353 19.7%
~"Robert M. Littauer(13) ..o 25,000 :
Ronald A Martell ................... SO | .
Nicholas J. Simon, LII(14) ....... ... oot 7,748,092 31.5%
David R. Stevens(15) ..... ... .. ot 30,750 *
Caroline M. Loewy(16). . ........ PR . 8333 ¢
David A. Karlin{17) ............. ..., SO 31,251 .
Anna L Wight(18) ......oveiii e 64,025 . .
Alan B. Glassberg{19) . ... ... oo, 11,250 oo
SusanD. Berland(20) .............. ...l 0 *
Directors and executive officers as a group . '
(14 persons)(21) .................. e 12,901,761 49.4%
*  Lessthan 1% ey

(1) Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the: SEC and generally includes
* voting or investment power with respect to securitics. Shares of common stock owned as of April 11,
2007 and shares of common stock which are issuable within 60 days of April 11, 2007, including
pursuant to options or warrants to purchase common stock, are deemed beneficially owned for
computing the percentage of the person holding such securities, but are not considered outstanding
for purposes of computing the percentage of any other person.,

(2) Based on 22,808,233 shares of common stock outstanding on April 11, 2007.

(3) Includes 1,785,713 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of warrants and 4,167 shares of
common stock subject to options issuable within 60 days. MPM BioVentures II! GP, L.P. and MPM
BioVentures I[1 LLC (MPM IIl LLC) are the direct and indirect general partners of MPM
BioVentures I11-QP, L.P,, MPM BioVentures 111, L.P,, BioVentures III Parallél Fund, L.P. and MPM
BioVentures HI GmbH & Co. Beteiligungs KG (the MPM 111 Funds).-Luke Evnin, Ansbert Gadicke,
Nicholas Galakatos, Dennis Henner, Nicholas J. Simon ITI, Michael Steinzmetz and Kurt Wheeler are
members of MPM I LLC and MPM Asset Management Investors 2005 BVIII LLC (AM 2005) and
exercise voting and investment control over the securities owned by the MPM 111 Funds and AM 2005.
Each such individual disclaims beneficial ownership of the securities held by the MPM 111 Funds and
AM 2005. Mr. Simon is a director of the company and the record holder of the option shares
beneficially owned by the MPM Funds and AM 2005.
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(4) Includes 1,071,428 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of warrants, Bay City Managemént
is general partner to Bay City Capital Fund IV, L.P. and Bay City Capital Fund TV Co-Investment
Fund, L.P. (the BCC Funds) and has voting and investment control over the securities held by the
BCC Funds. Such control is exercised by BCC as manager of Bay City Management. Fred B. Craves
and Carl S. Goldfischer, directors of the company, are managers of Bay City Management and
members and managing directors of BCC. Dr. Craves and Dr. Goldfischer each disclaims beneficial
ownership of the securities held by the BCC Funds. '

(5} Includes 535,714 shares of common stock issuable upon exercisc of warrants. Decrfield Capital, L.P. is
the general partner of Deerfield Special Situations Funds, L.P. Deerficld Management, L.P. is the
investment manager of the Deerfield Spema] Situations Fund International Limited. James E. Flynn is
the managing member of the general partner of Deerfield Capital, L.P. and Deerfield Management,
L.P., respectively, and exercises voting and investment control over the securities owned by Deerfield
Special Situations Funds, L.P. and Deerfield Special Situations Fund Limited, International (together,
the Deerfield Funds). Mr. Flynn disclaims beneficial ownership of the securities held by the Deerfield
Funds.

(6) Includes 357,143 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of warrants. Abingworth
Management Ltd. is the investment manager of Abingworth Bioequities Master Fund Limited,
Abingworth Bioventures IV LP, and Abingworth Bioventures 1V Executives LP (the Abingworth
Funds) and exercises voting and investment control over the securities owned by the Abingworth
Funds. Dr. Joe Anderson, Mr. Michael Bigham, Dr. Stephen Bunting, Mr. David Leathers and
Dr. Jonathan McQuitty comprise the investment committee of Abingworth Management Ltd. Each
such individual disclaims beneficial ownership of the securities held by Abingworth Management Ltd.
and the Abingworth Funds.

(7) Includes 321,429 shares of common stock issuable upon exercisce of warrants. All shares beneficially
owned are held directly by Stark Master Fund, Ltd. Michael A. Roth and Brian J. Stark exercise
voting and investment control over the securities owned by Stark Master Fund Ltd. Messrs. Roth and
Stark each disclaims beneficial ownership of the securities held by Stark Master Fund, Ltd.

(8) OrbiMed Advisors LLC and OrbiMed Capital LLC hold these shares as investment advisors on behalf
of Caduccus Capital Master Fund Limited, Caduceus Capital II, L.P., UBS Eucalyptus Fund LLC,
PW Eucalyptus Fund Ltd. and HFR Sch Aggressive Master Trust, each of which has the right to
receive or power to direct the receipt of dividends from, or proceeds from the sale of, the securities
held on its behalf. Samuel D. Isaly is President of OrbiMed Advisors LLC and Managing Director of
ObiMed Capital LLC. See Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on April 3, 2007.

(9) Includes 129,863 shares of common stock subject to options cxercisable within 60 days.

(10) Includes 3,574,928 shares of common stock beneficially owned by the BCC Funds (see note (4}
above), 1,071,428 shares of common stock subject to warrants owned by BCC Funds and 49,162 shares
of common stock subject to options exercisable within 60 days held by Dr. Craves. Dr. Craves
disclaims beneficial ownership of the securities held by the BCC Funds.

(11) Includes 45,412 sharcs of common stock subject to options excrcisable within 60 days.

{12) Consists of 3,574,928 shares of common stock beneficiaily owned by the BCC Funds (sce note (4)
above), 1,071,428 shares of common stock subject to warrants owned by BCC Funds and 66,663 shares
of common stock subject to options exercisable within 60 days held by Dr. Goldfischer.

Dr. Goldfischer disclaims beneficial ownership of the securities held by the BCC Funds.

(13) Includes 25,000 shares of common stock subject to options exercisable within 60 days.
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(14) Consists of 7,748,092 shares of common stock beneficially owned by the MPM Funds and AM 2005
(see note (3) above). Mr. Simon disclaims beneficial ownership of the securities held by the MPM
Funds and AM 2005.

(15) Includes 25,000 shares of common stock subject to options exercisable within 60 days.

(16) Includes 8,333 shares of common stock subject to options exercisable within 60 days. Ms. Loewy
became an executive officer on June 23, 2006. .

(17) Includes 31,251 shares of common stock subject to options exercisable within 60 days.
(18) Includes 60,744 shares of common stock subject to options exercisable within 60 days.

(19} Includes 11,250 shares of common stock subject to options exel:cisable within 60 &ays. Dr. Glassberg
resigned as chief medical officer effective March 15, 2007, ,

(20) Ms. Berland resigned as chief financial officer effectlve July 21, 2006.

(21) Includes 2,857,143 shares of common stock lssuable upon exercise of warrants and 456,706 shares of
common stock subject to options exercisable within 60 days.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table presents information as of December 31, 2006 with respect to our compensation
plans, including individual compensation arrangements, under which equity securities of the company are
authorized for issuance to employees and non-employees of the company (such as directors, consultants,
advisors, vendors, customers, suppliers ar lenders):

(<)
Number of Securities
Remaining Available for

(a) . (b)y - Future Issnance Under
Number of Securities to Weighted-Average Equity Compensation
be Issued Upon Exercise Exercise Price of Plans (excluding
of Outstanding Options, Qutstanding Options, securities reflected in
Plan Category . Warrants and Rights(#)  Warrants and Rights($) column (a)){#)
Equity Compensation Plans
Approved by Shareholders(1) 1,659,613 10.50 293,197
Equity Compensation Plans Not .
Approved by Shareholders(2) 5,946,876 6.09 0
Total 7,606,489 7.05 293,197

(1) Includes the 1991 Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors (1991 Plan), the 1991 Restricted
Stock Plan (Restricted Plan), the 1994 Stock Option Plan (1994 Plan), and the 2004 Plan. The 1991
Plan was terminated on March 31 2005 and the 1994 Plan was terminated on February 17, 2004,
Accordingly, no further equity derivative securities can be issued under the 1991 and 1994 Plans. For a
description of the foregoing plans, see Note 12 to the notes to consolidated financial statements
contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006.

(2) Reflects a warrant issued for placement agent services in connection with our April 2006 equny
financing, warrants issued to financial institutions participating in a term loan, and a warrant issued to
a consultant for investor relations services.

ftem 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

In accordance with its audit charter, the audit committee of our board of directors reviews all
relationships and transactions in which the company and our directors and executive officers or their
immediate family members are participants to determine whether such persons have a direct or indirect
material interest. As required under the SEC rules, transactions that are determined to be directly or
indirectly materiai to the company or a related person are disclosed in the company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K and proxy statement. In addition, the audit committee reviews and approves or ratifies any
related person transaction that is required to be disclosed. Any member of the audit committee who is a
related person with respect to a transaction under review cannot participate in the deliberations or vote
respecting approval or ratification of the transaction.

BCC, an affiliate of Bay City Management, is a financial advisor to and indirectly controls the Bay
City Funds, which were among the lead investors in our $65 million equity financing that closed on
April 26, 2006. Two of our directors, Dr. Fred Craves and Dr. Carl Goldfischer, are managing directors of
BCC and possess capital and carried interests in the Bay City Funds. Nicholas J. Simon, who was named a
company director following the financing, is affiliated with the MPM Funds and AM 2005, which also were
lead investors in our April 2006 financing, and possesses capital and carried interests in the MPM Funds
and AM 2005. The audit committee reviewed and approved or ratified the 2006 equlty financing and
related transactions.
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Board Independence

The board of directors has determined that, with the exceptions of Drs. McMahon, Craves and
Goldfischer, all of our current directors and director nominees are “independent directors” as defined in
Rule 4200 of the Nasdaq Marketplace Rules.

Ttem 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The aggregate fees billed for professional services rendered by KPMG LLP for fiscal years 2006 and
2005 were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

- 2006 2005
Audit Fees(1) $300,000 $236,000
Audit-Related Fees(2) 38,000 20,000
Tax Fees(3) 0 10,200
All Other Fees 0 0

(1) Audit Fees consisted of fees for audit of our financial statements for fiscal years 2006 and 2005,
respectively, and reviews of our quarterly financial statcments. Additional audit fees in 2006 related to
the audit of management’s report on internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,

(2) Audit-Related Fees consisted principally of fees related to providing auditors’ consents foi' Form §-3
and 8-8 registration statements filed with the SEC.

(3) Tax Fees consisted of tax compliance, tax planning and tax advice.

The audit committee has considered and believes the provision of non-audit services is compatible
with maintaining the independence of KPMG LLP. All of the hours expended on KPMG LLP’s
engagement to audit our financial statements for fiscal years 2006 and 2005 were attributed to work
performed by persons who are full-time, permanent employees of KPMG LLP.

Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policy

The audit committee of our board of directors has adopted a policy for the pre-approval of all audit
and non-audit scrvices provided by our independent accountants. The policy is designed to ensure that the
provision of these services does not impair the accountants’ independence. Under this policy, any services
provided by the independent accountants, including audit, audit-related, tax and other services, must be
specifically pre-approved by the audit committee. The audit committee may delegate pre-approval
authority to one or more of its members. The audit committee docs not delegate responsibilities to pre-
approve services performed by the independent accountants to management. All audit and non-audit
services provided by our independent accountants in 2006 were pre-approved by the audit committee.

PART IV
Item I5. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) (3) Exhibits—Sec Exhibit Index filed herewith,
(b) Exhibits—See Exhibit Index filed herewith.

30




SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this rcport to be 51gned on its behalf by the undersngned thereunto duly
authorized.

Date: April 12, 2007

PONIARD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

(Registrant)

s/ CAROLINE M. LOEWY ,

Caroline M. Loewy
Chief Financial Offi_cer

]

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed
below by the following persons on bchalf of the Reglstrant and in the capacitics and as of the dates

indicated:

/s/ GERALD MCMAHON

’

Chairman, President and

Gerald McMahon

/s/ FRED B. CRAVES

Chief Executive Officer

Director

Fred B. Craves

/s/ E. ROLLAND DICKSON

Directqr

E. Rolland Dickson

/s CARL S. GOLDFISCHER

Director ' oo

Car! S. Goldfischer

/s/ ROBERT M. LITTAUER

oo

" Director

Robert M, Littauer

/s/ DAVID R. STEVENS

Director’

David R. Stevens

/s/ NICHOLAS J .SiMoN 111

Director

Nicholas J. Simon 111

/s/ RONALD'A. MARTELL

Director

Ronald A. Martell

fsf MICHAEL K. JACKSON

.

!

Principal Accounting

Michael K. Jackson

Officer .
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit ' Description
31 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation, as amended February 7,2007...... (N)
3.2 Restated Bylaws, as amended March 28,2006............ ... iiiiiine (V)
101 Restated 1994 Stock Option PIAn (£) . ..o v eveereerenrannaneansn R (F)
10.2 1991 Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors, as amended () .............. (E)
10.3 T 2 Y PO G
10.4 Indemnification Agreement (£) .............. S (H)
105 Stock Option Grant Program for Nonemployee Directors under the NeoRx 2004
Incentive Compensation Plan, asamended (£) ......... ..o (B)
10.6 Stock Option Agreement, dated December 19, 2000, between NeoRx Corporation and
Carl S. Goldfischer () .......ooviin i (D
10.7 Stock Option Agreement, dated January 17, 2001, between NeoRx Corf)oration and
Carl S. Goldfischer (F) . ... ..o e 1))

10.8 License Agreement dated as of April 2, 2004, between the Company and
AnorMED, Inc. Certain portions of the agreement have been omitted pursuant to a
request for confidential treatment ... ... i (Q)

10.9 Amendment No. 1 to License Agreement effective as of September 18, 2006, between
the Company and AnorMED, Inc. Certain portions of the agreement have been

omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment. ............. ..ol (Y)
10.10 Stock Option Grant Program for Nonemployee Directors under the NeoRx

Corporation 1994 Restated Stock Option Plan (3) ...t (M)
10.11 Facilities Lease dated February 15, 2002, between NeoRx Corporation and Selig Real

Estate Holdings SiX . ... .o ou it e (A)
10.12  Amended and Restated 2004 Incentive Compensation Plan as amended and restated

June 16,2006 (1) - . oo ie i s (G)

10.13 2Ty o171 PO GO S
10.14 Key Executive Severance Agreement dated as of February 28, 2003, between the

Company and Anna Wight () ... Q)
10.15 Amendment No. 1 dated as of March 30, 2005 to Key Executive Severance Agreement

dated as of February 28, 2003, between the Company and Anna Wight (1:) ........... (L)
10.16 Change of Control Agreement dated as of February 28, 2003, between the Company

and Anna Wight (F). ... oot e (9
10.17 Key Executive Severance Agreement dated as of June 23, 2005, between the Company

and David A. Karlin (£) ... .o (P)
10.18 Change of Control Agreement dated as of June 23, 2005, between the Company and

David A, Karlin (3) ... oo e e (P)
10.19 Employment Letter dated as of April 26, 2004, between the Company and Gerald

MCMahon (F) . oo e e (L)
10.20 Key Executive Severance Agreement dated as of May 11, 2004, between the Company

and Gerald McMahon (£) ... ..o (R)
10.21 Change of Control Agreement dated as of May 11, 2004, between the Company and

Gerald MCMahon (3) .....oo oo s " (R)

10.22 2oy =] o 7= o EVA AR




Exhibit Description
10.23 Reserved.. . o e e e
10.24 Key Employee Severance Agreement dated as of July 11, 2006, between the Company
and Michael K. Jackson (3) ..o i (X)
10.25 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement under 2004 Incentive Compensation
Plan () .. e (O)
10.26 ~ Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under 2004 Incentive Compensation
Plan (F) . o e e e FETETTTP P (8]
10.27 Key Executive Severance Agreement dated as of June 23, 2006, between the Company
and Caroline M. Loewy (£) ............ ... ... .... e S
10.28 Change.of Control Agreement dated as of June 23, 2006, between the Company and
Caroline M. Loewy (3) ... o oo S S)
10.29 Executive Severance Agreement dated as of June 23, 2006, between the Company and
Cheni KWokK (F) ..o e i e e e (S)
10.30 Change of Control Agreement dated as of July 1, 2006, between the Company and
Cheni Kwok (F) . ..o e e e e e (S)
10.31 Research Funding and Option Agreement dated August 4, 2005, between the
Company and The Scripps Research Institute. Certain portions of the agreement have
been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment...................... (U
1032 Form of Directors’ Indemnification Agreements (£) .............cviiiiniinvnn... (K)
10.33 Lease Agreement dated as of July 10, 2006, between the Company and ARE San
Francisco No. 17 LLC. ... . e e i e (W)
10.34 Loan-and Security Agreement dated as of October 25, 2006, among the Company,
Silicon Valley Bank and Merrill Lynch Capital .......... ... ... it )]
10.35 Secured Promissory Notes to Silicon Valley Bank and Merrill Lynch Capital ......... {J)
23.1 Consent of KPMG LLP ... . i e e **)
31.1 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of President and Chief Executive Officer .. ... (@)
31.2 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer................... (Z)
324 Section 1350 Certification of President and Chief Executive Officer................. **)
322 Section 1350 Certification of Chief Financial Officer.............................. **
(**) Previously filed with the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 16, 2007.
1) Management contract or compensatory plan.
(A) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001, and
incorporated herein by reference.
(B) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 16, 2005, and
incorporated herein by reference.
(8] Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form §-3/A (Registration
No. 333-111344) filed on February 23, 2004, and incorporated herein by reference.
(D) Reserved.
(E) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit A to the Company’s definitive proxy statement on Schedule
14A filed April 10, 1996.
(F) Filed as an cxhibit to thc Company’s Form 10-K for the fiscal ycar ended December 31, 1995, and

incorporated herein by reference.




(G)

(H)

Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Current i{eport on Form 8-K filed on June 21, 2006 and
incorporated herein by reference. o

Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarterly period endéd March 31, 1996,
and incorporated herein by reference. '

Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31 2000, and
incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 31 2006 and
incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Reports on Form 8-K filed on Apnl 28, 2006 and
June 27, 2006, and mcorporated herein by reference. :

Filed as an exhibit to the Company s Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2005,
and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to'the Company s Form 10-Q for the quarterly pcnod ended June 30, 2002, and
incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed « on September 26, 2006,
and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to the-Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, -
2004, and incorporated heréin by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to'the Company’s Current Reporl on Form §-K fl]ed on June 29, 2005, and
incorporated herein by reference. !

Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2004,
and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarterly period endcd June 30, 2004, and
incorporated herein by reference. -

Filed as an exhibit to-the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 23, 2006, and
incorporated herein by reference.

Reserved. N .

Filed as an exhlbrt to the Company s Form 10- Q for the quarterly period ended September 30,
2005, and lncorporated hcrcm by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to the Company's Form 10-Q for the quarterly pCI‘]Od ended March 31, 2006
and incorporated herein by reference. -

Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Current Report Form 8-K filed on July 13, 2006 and
incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30 2006 and

* incorparated herein by reference.

Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30,
2006 and incorporated herein by reference. .

Filed herewith.




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Gerald McMahon, President and Chief Executive Officer of Poniard Pharmaceuticals, Inc., certify that:

¢, I'have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K/A of Poniard Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact
or omit to state a malterial fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included
in this report, fairly prescnt in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and
maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls
and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entitics, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control
over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢} cvaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure centrols and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting that occurrcd during the registrant’s most recent fiscat quarter {the registrant’s fourth
fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent
cvaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) allsignificant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of
internal control over financial reporting which arc rcasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b} any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who
have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: April 12, 2007 By: /s/ GERALD MCMAHON

President and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Caroline M. Loewy, Chief Financial Officer of Poniard Pharmaceuticals, Inc., certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K/A of Poniard Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact
or omit to state a matertal fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included
. in-this report, fairly present in all-material respects the financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and
maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

a} designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls
and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others

. within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control
over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and
-presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth
fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
‘to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
comimittee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of
internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who
have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: April 12, 2007 By: /s CAROLINE M. LOEWY
Chief Financial Officer




CORPORATE INFORMATION

(As of May 1, 2007)

DIRECTORS

Jerry McMahon, Ph.D.
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer,
Poniard Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Frederick B. Craves, Ph.D.
Managing Director,
Bay City Capital LLC

E. Rolland Dickson, M.D., M.A.C.P.

Emoeritus Mary Lowell Leary
Professor of Medicine,

Mayo Medical Schooli/Mayo Clinic

Emeritus Medical Director of

Development & Emeritus Member

Board of Trustees,
Mayo Foundation

Carl S. Goldfischer, M.D.
Managing Director,
Bay City Capital LLC

Robert M. Littauer

Vice President, Chief Financial
Officer and Treasurer,

Light Sciences Oncolegy. inc.

Ronald A. Martell

Former Sr. Vice President,
Commercial Operations,
ImCigne Systems Incorporated

Nicholas J. Simon It
General Partner,

MPM BioVentures i,
Managing Director,
Clarus Ventures

David R. Stevens, Ph.D.
Executive Chairman,
Surginetics, Inc.

OFFICERS

Jerry McMahon, Ph.D.
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer

Caroline M. Loewy
Chief Financial Officer

David A, Karlin, M.D.
Senior Vice President,
Clinical Development and
Regulatory Affairs

Cheni Kwok, Ph.D.
Vice President,
Business Development

Anna Lewak Wight, J.D.
Vice Prasident, Legal

CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS

Paniard Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
7000 Shoreline Court

Suite 270

South San Francisco, CA 94080
Tel: 650-583-3774

Seattle Office

300 Elliott Avenue West
Suite 500

Seattle, WA 8981189
Tetk: 206-281-7001

WEB SITE
www.poniard.com

SHAREHOLDER INQUIRIES

Registered shareholders who have

questions regarding their stock should contact
Poniard's transfer agent and registrar:

Mellon Investor Services LLC
480 Washingion Blvd.
Jersey City, NJ 07310

Tel: 866-357-2543
www.melloninvestor.com/isd

INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
KPMG LLP
Seattle, WA

CORPORATE COUNSEL
Perkins Coie LLP
Seattle, WA

INVESTOR RELATIONS
Poniard Pharmaceuticals

Attn: Investor Relations

7000 Shoreline Court

Suite 270

South San Francisco, CA 94080
Tel: 650-583-3774 ext. 6
ir@poniard.com

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING

Poniard common stock trades on the Nasdag
Capital Market under the symbol PARD.
Poniard does not pay cash dividends on its
common stock and does not anticipate
doing so in the foreseeable future.
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